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DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the NAREHP - BRIENEBSEFFRE BRI T H
following expressions shall have the following meanings: ZEHUATHE

“2018 RSU Scheme”
[ 20184 PR il iz 17 B8 iz 5 &

“2020 RSAS”
[2020%F 52 R I i 7 82 B &t &1 |

“2022 AGM”
[2022F ERBF K&

“5G”

[5G]

“advertiser”

[EExE]

NE
[Al]

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”
[#BBI sk [ABE =240 A

“Audit Committee”
[BEZZEg ]

“Blue Focus”

[Ee)iz]

2 DOUMOB EEBERKE AR T

Ec

the restricted share unit scheme adopted by our Company on 14 August 2018
R AR20184E8 14 B ER 40 89 Z PR il X 15 & iz 5+

the restricted share award scheme adopted by our Company on 7 May 2020
AN E 202055 A7 B ER 4 69 S IR 6 A 1) 22 B 5t 2

the AGM to be held on 26 May 2022
10202265 A26 H HITHIRRBAF K E

the fifth generation technology standard for broadband cellular networks,
which cellular phone companies began deploying worldwide in 2019, and is
the planned successor to the 4G networks which provide connectivity to most
current cellphones
BHBELANR019FHBESHRBENLZENE LR TIRG BHKRIIRE
SPEIBRREE AT RZ BT AN4GHEE

any persons, companies, organizations which advertise their brands, products
and/services through placing advertisements

FRARMBELESERE  ERR/IRBOEMAL AR REE

artificial intelligence
ALErE

the memorandum and articles of association as amended from time to time
A ER KM R AR (ETREET)

the audit committee of the Board

EFRgEREEY

BlueFocus Intelligent Communications Group Co., Ltd. (it R EE B Y iZ &g
BRI BERAT), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on
4 November 2002 and the shares of which were listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange on 26 February 2010 and one of our substantial shareholders
EREEABEHREMZRNHEBRAF - —HR2002F11 4B RIEH BEUEEEM
BB AR D MN2010F2R26 B FERINEHFLZ S EH - WAKMHEE
RRz—



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL”
[EENREE]

“Board”

=34

“Board Committees”

[E5%8g

“BVI”
[RBRELES]

“CEO”
[T S

“Chairman”

=3
“Chengdu Hongdao”

[Chengdu Hongdao
“China” or “PRC”
[H L

“Company” or “our Company”

[ARR7A ]

“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”
(PRI EBEE]

“Contractual Arrangements”

BHRYE]

BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (E& ¢ IZHEEEEEAR AT, a

company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on 13 March 2009 and

wholly owned by Blue Focus
EE@%EEB%‘E%%EEI%BE“*
VTHESKEZERBNA

» —R 20093 A 138 IRIE E A A B ML

the board of Directors of the Company

ARREEE

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination

Committee

EREZEG FHWEZEGRRERERS

the British Virgin Islands
REBRAES

the chief executive officer of the Company

RRBITIREE

the chairman of the Board

BE=RER

Chengdu Hongdao Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on 18 April

2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Yang Zhenghong
Chengdu Hongdao Limited * —Ri/A2018F4 A 18R E R B R K B B M A 23

M EREER2ERAHNRAT

the People’s Republic of China, unless otherwise stated, excludes the Hong

Kong Special Administrative Region, the Macau Special Administrative Region

and Taiwan of China herein

hEARKNE  BRAEHHAN

THE K& &

AXABIEREEBRRITHE - BPIR R

Doumob (2 BRI AR A F]), a company incorporated under the laws of the

Cayman Islands with limited liability on 26 March 2018

ZHEMEARAA
Al

» —ER2018F3 26 A IRBEFEFHE EMIEMAK I ER A

The entities our Company control through the Contractual Arrangements,

namely Doumob Technology and its subsidiary, Yamei Yunhe

AREEBENRHERNER

EBEMREENBAREXEM

certain contractual arrangements entered into on 22 August 2018 by us

AR MPIN2018FE8 22 s U E T AL L HE
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Corporate Governance Code”

[EEASTA

“COVID-19”

[COVID-19]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Doumob Technology”

[E8EMx]

“ESOP Holdings”

[ESOP Holdings ]

“Evan Global”

[Evan Global |

“Global Offering”

[2FREE ]

“GfOUp”, “we” or “us”

[ E s #AF)

4 DOUMOB EZEERFEHRA T

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules

LR RIS SR 14 B DR E A T A

coronavirus disease 2019, a coronavirus known to cause contagious
respiratory illness
20198 SR - ol RERMETRELR BN —BHLBTRRES

the director(s) of the Company

ARRE=F

Doumob (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (Z 8 (b ) BB M BER A )
(formerly known as Zhangshang Yunjing), a company incorporated under
the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 25 July 2013 and by virtue of the
Contractual Arrangements, accounted for as our subsidiary

TR MBREOHBERAR  fIBELER - —HKR201357 25 RE+HH
EEAMK LN ERA A RES DL HIIEH B AR

YANGBIN GROUP LIMITED, a company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI with limited liability on 9 May 2018, wholly-owned by Evan Global
YANGBIN GROUP LIMITED + —@ 7201845 A9 H R Ii% & 8 f 2 & & /A I 51
BB R AT - fiEvan Global2 & A

Evan Global Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI on 13 March 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Yang

Evan Global Holdings Limited + —f 72018453 A 13 H 1R #& 3£ & i 2 & & A 1
AMKZYRGEEREEREGHRF

the public offering of 98,900,000 Shares for subscription by the public in
Hong Kong and the international offering (as defined respectively in the
Prospectus) of 98,900,000 Shares for subscription by the institutional,
professional, corporate and other investors

N2 E R FA 598,900,000 B M A E AR RBENBEREHE CEZ DR R AKX
£72) 98,900,000 B fn A i #fE - HX - AR RHEMBREERE

the Company and all of its subsidiaries and companies whose financial results
have been consolidated and accounted as the subsidiaries of our Company
by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before our Company became the holding company of
our current subsidiaries, the business operated by such subsidiaries or their
predecessors (as the case may be)
RAARREMEMBRABARMBREEEBSNLHEAHARANRIMERAR
AIMBARIRAR  RMXEME SRARAKASREEREME QR ER
RAFPENS - ZEMBRFNE S CRFIERTE) L LN ER



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“HK$” and “HK cents”
[T ] R[N i1

“Hongdao Investment”

[LBRE | b
“Hong Kong”

[&E] ]
“H5”

[H5] Ec
“HKFRS”

[T BHREER] b

“Independent Third Party(ies)

[(BrE=77] ]
“p
[Pl ]
KA
[KA] b

“Latest Practicable Date”

(&R ERATAH] i

Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEREE G B T RAB

Chengdu Hongdao No. 5 Chuangye Investment Center (Limited Partnership)
(R EPBLB RSB R EHR L (BRAER)), a limited partnership established
under the laws of the PRC on 24 November 2017 and a shareholder of
Doumob Technology

PRERSLERRAIERER O (BRER)  —MR2017F11A24ARBHEER
RYMBEREBEE  RITBRBEHOKE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
P EEESRTRE

a markup language used for structuring and presenting content on the
internet, with detailed processing models to encourage more interoperable
implementations, which can be used to develop interactive advertisinga
markup language used for structuring and presenting content on the World
Wide Web, which is the fifth and current major version of the HTML standard

AREEMAEERELRZRAANERELES  AAFANEEER  XBHTE
ZHRARE R ARHEARNEESEEBEENERANTNEDESRLAE -
RHTMUR2E ) 5 T & & 51 69 = Z AR

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
ERMBHREER

any person or entity who is not considered a connected person of our
Company or an associate of any such person within the meaning under the
Listing Rules

WHARABAEALTREMZEALOBEA(EER EHHRR) BERALK

= Bl

[

fa

Intellectual property

R ERE

Key account

mRE s

20 April 2022, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
annual report for ascertaining certain information in this annual report
2022F4 R20R - IR RN A AEEAFHRAMESAE TERNNKEERATITH
5
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Listing Date”
[ A
“Listing Rules”
[ErmsRa

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Model Code”
[f@sra))

“Nomination Committee”

[REZEg

“Prospectus”

[Hx =i

“R&D”
[ Bt 2 |

“Remuneration Committee”

[FMEZEE

“Reporting Period”
[Ee=g:

“RMB”
[AR®]

“RSU(s)”
[ 52 BR Hl IR 17 B8 iz |

“SaaS”

[SaaS |

6 DOUMOB EZBERFEERAT

the date on which the Shares initially commenced their dealings on the Stock
Exchange, i.e. 14 March 2019
BORBEZFTE R EE 2 B - B1201943 4 14H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as
amended from time to time)

B 22 P eE 7 £ AR A (AR ERHERT)

listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
MR OB ZZ P E R BT

the Model Code of Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
TR RS0 R EH BT AESETESRSHIFRETH

the nomination committee of the Board

ExgiRt%Ae

the prospectus issued by the Company dated 28 February 2019
AREIFI% A EA2019F2 A28 A M BRER

research and development
ot & F B

the remuneration committee of the Board
EFxgFNELEY

the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31R IFEE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

FEEEEBARK

restricted share units granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme
R A5 52 R ) % 1) Bz 5 81 4% 89 52 R 6 AR 1) BB (i

software as a service, a software licensing and delivery model in which
software is licensed on a subscription basis and is centrally hosted
FHERSG  —BREFAIARMNRR - EZRAPRTBET AT EREY
a2 EhATE



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“senior management”
SRERE]

“Share(s)”
[ ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bk 22 AT

“Summer Holdings”

[ Summer Holdings |

“URL(s)"
[URL]

“Uss”
[T

“Yamei Yunhe”

EEESE N

“Zhangshang Yunjing”

ik
h_
e
Bl

[%]

the senior management of the Company
ARRBRERE

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.001 each in the issued share capital of the
Company
RRRBETRAFT GREEO0.001%8 T ) & il AX

holder(s) of Shares
PSS TSN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBAERXIMERLDR

Summer Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the BVI
on 13 April 2018 and wholly owned by Ms. Chen Xiaona

Summer Holdings Limited » —R#2018454 4130 BB H B & L BB L 0T
BRI L 2 EH AR A

uniform resource locator, commonly known as a web address
B—ERELR  —RBIERIE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XEEEERET

Beijing Yamei Yunhe Technology Company Limited (Jt RTEEEFMRIFZER A
Al), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on 9 July 2014 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Doumob Technology

IR EEZMEEER AR —HR2014F7 AR REPBAEFMALHA
A REENMENEENREBLR

Beijing Zhangshang Yunjing Technology Company Limited (1t RE FESF}
FAER AT, acompany incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 25 July 2013 and the predecessor of Doumob Technology
ITRELFZESREERAAF - —MR2013F 7258 REFBRAEFMALINE
AR AEBRREMAT S

percent
Aotk
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

QA E R

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Bin (Chairman & CEO)
Mr. Meng Dawei

Ms. Fan Zijing

Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Ailun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong
Mr. Zhang Xuehuo

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Chairperson)
Mr. Zhang Xuehuo

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhang Xuehuo (Chairperson)
Mr. Yang Bin

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Yang Bin (Chairperson)
Mr. Zhang Xuehuo

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

8 DOUMOB E BRI AR T

Exg
BITES

IR ST (L ERITE

BARBEE
Bygat

FHITESE
X fmkE

BYFHITES
REBKEE
FEBERE

BEREES
BRiEN A (F/E)
REBIKEE
FERBERE

B R
RIS (ZE)
B s
ERELE

REZES
B EE (LE)
REBIKEE
ITERERE



CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty (ACIS, ACS)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Yang Bin

Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty (ACIS, ACS)

AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
25th Floor, Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law

Tian Yuan Law Firm LLP

Suites 3304-3309, 33/F, Jardine House
One Connaught Place

Central, Hong Kong

DNEME

BOME L LT (ACIS, ACS)

BRREAE
IR A
BRI £ (ACIS, ACS)

7% 4]

BB EEEAMEEMERAA
HMEGTE

BB

THEBRIR

KL 2518

B

R &L
ARLEMEB(EREEEEER)
BEFIR

EE R AL

18 A E3313304-3309%F
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
QA EH

As to PRC law

Jingtian & Gongcheng

34/F, Tower 3, China Central Place
77 Jianguo Road

Beijing

PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.doumob.com

STOCK CODE

1917

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS

No. D8121, 4th Floor

Star Cube Office Center

72 Chaoyang Road, Chaoyang District
Beijing

PRC

10 DOUMOB EEBERHEERA T

B 5 BE
NN RS )
H

Emm

BEERTTIR

FERLIFBFIEIE

AE R

www.doumob.com

A2 4L 5%

1917

MERSEMREE
Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman lIslands

B

i

dtRm®

5 R BBIS 7257

=RviyE /NN

/T /gD8121



CORPORATE INFORMATION
QXA EH

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248, Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE

Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANK

China Construction Bank Dongsi Branch
Room 2296, Building No. 1

No. 17, Cangjingguan Hutong
Dongcheng District

Beijing

PRC

EETEREXMH
s

2

£ 7 KB HR2485%

K& Bt 04012

ROBFELERE

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman lIslands

BERROBFERTRE
BERRESBRERAA

it

AT
2ERNBHR183%
A AR

17181712-17165% &4

FEARRT
R AR SR AT R P X 7
i

L3

I

BAS R 175
11E2296 %
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEMBEME

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out

ARBIREWMBARBEREMRFRENER
HEENABHME (R NENKERE
KR BN T e

12 DOUMOB

below.
RESULTS gy
The Group £
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 2020%F 2019 20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFw | AREFT AREFT AREFT  AREFT
Revenue Wz 91,005 90,254 189,450 352,611 222,927
(Loss)/profit before income BAERES, (FX) A
tax credit/(expense) (E518) /& F (107,556) (76,319) 10,601 42,866 34,414
Income tax credit/(expense) FrEmiEe,/ (Ax) (1,682) 1,541 314 297 (246)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE) EF (109,238) (74,778) 10,915 43,163 34,168
(Loss)/profit and total WTATEEER(EE),/
comprehensive income for B R EENREE
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company VN/NEE ¥ =N (108,941) (73,753) 10,917 43,219 34,761
Non-controlling interests R (297) (1,025) (2) (56) (593)
(109,238) (74,778) 10,915 43,163 34,168
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The Group HERAR
wE
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 2020 20194 20184 201745
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT | AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT
Total assets BEMHE 149,937 266,094 328,100 312,579 159,005
Total liabilities gEGE 31,176 44,536 27,755 72,585 31,353
Equity attributable to: AT AT R4
Owners of the Company ZN/NEE ¥ =N 118,761 221,350 299,112 238,758 124,948
Non-controlling interests IR R - 208 1,233 1,236 2,704
118,761 221,558 300,345 239,994 127,652

TENMEAERAF



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TREHREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board and management of Doumob, | present our
2021 Annual Report to our Shareholders.

In 2021, the impact brought by the COVID-19 pandemic was not
to be overlooked. However, it is comforting to see that under the
righteous leadership of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) and
the Chinese government, domestic society and economy are
progressing in an orderly manner. As the CCP celebrates the 100th
anniversary of its establishment in 2021, the Beijing Animation &
Game Industry Alliance (3t 5 &) '€ #2 & = ¥ # € ) and Shanghai
Animation and Cartoon Association ( & )2 7T ¥ # &) jointly
organized a comic collection activity with the theme of “welcoming
the 100th anniversary of the founding of Party (i # Z# E100F F) "
Fully utilizing our competitiveness in technology R&D, we provided
support for the activity regarding its organization, work collection

and online promotion.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic was under control in the short
term, its impact on offline stream channels and advertiser’'s budget
can not be underestimated. Facing difficulties proactively and
summarizing our experiences, we identified our new mission in 2021
based on our new insight on customers’ needs, which is to make
each connection more effective. Furthermore, through exploring
customer’s needs vertically and expanding contents of service
horizontally, we helped customers to improve efficiency in customer

acquisition and enhanced the monetization ability of our products.

In 2021, we continued to improve the skill level of
performance-based interactive advertising, realized that the
delivery of interactive advertising is no longer limited to a single
advertising scenario, and achieved digital sales and acquisition
in a cross- terminal and diverse advertising scenario through
technology upgrade, enabling traffic stratification and differentiated
pricing among the massive amount of advertising requests. At the
same time, we actively explored more empowering opportunities
in the field of online advertising service, provided customized,
personalized and multichannel online promotion solutions for all
chains, satisfied brand’s demands in new media promotions, and

helped customers to enhance efficiency in market promotions.

BAIRER

RAABREOHEZSLERRE RMBREREZE
2021 F E e -

20214  COVID-19Z BEH R BEDAA /N
B SAMRERRZ  EEFMBITHEEEET
Bl A ft & AEBEE A R EZM R E - 2021
FROEEERZEI00AF KMo AE
SREMMEES  FlRgelREX RS R
FEEETERS RRERNDEZEI100E
FIZTBEEQE TR  BEHNZEDHH
B FRERR FEEEIRE -

COVID-19& 15 # AR BN B T 8aF 44
BEEHGTRAERBENESIRAENEED
AENDE - -BMERORREE  AELR &
REMEELFROZHAE - HFIE2021F
BRTHOED  EE - RNEREAR - LA
BHRAEZEREFFER ERRERFEAR ¥
PEFPEHMNEGERENRE  ERERERE
5 o

20214  BMF[ERA T B WRE H 7K
FTowEREHESEBNESHRNTEBR
RE-—RHELSBE: BARWAR BRTHE
BERmMEZENESSSE THRTLEET MK
BOUESENESERPERARESEBRE
BEEFEE BUEFAR RMEERRELES
EHRBESINELRERS  AEPRMTE
Hl - BN ZRERDERNE LG HR
RAR - MEmESENEREE T ENTR
FHOEEFIRA IS G HME -

2021 ANNUAL REPORT £ 13



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITEHREE

In 2022, we will adhere to the mission of “making each connection 20224 » BB ETIET - NEEFEERIH
more effective”, constantly follow the changes in market environment Fay o BAEITMBIRENEILLREPRLERSY
and upgrades in customer demands, and continue to implement FHAR - TETEITE B MR EERL
product innovation and generation upgrade of technology, so as to NEEETE oUW EFTELENEPL %
help advertisers to reach better quality customers more efficiently. HIREREPWRAE THHEEZEELERE
We will continue to expand the base of high-quality customers while BRE - ETIMteaEE S EBE -

maintaining good service to our current customers, and create

higher value for shareholders, employees and society.

At last, on behalf of the Board, | hereby express the gratitude to the TR BERRESCRAZMNBRENESLH
Shareholders and customers for their firm trust and support, and BEEHEIE RIATUEBEILRARRIER
to every staff for their unremitting efforts on the development of the Bt B HY 4L S o

Company.

Yang Bin B

Chairman TE

31 March 2022 202243 H31H

14 DOUMOB ZEBERIFZARAF



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEAREEERE

Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors and senior

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, of which three are
executive Directors, one is non-executive Director and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets forth

information regarding the Directors.

Name

#&

Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Yang Bin

Mr. Meng Dawei
BARKE

Ms. Fan Zijing
Bt

Non-executive Director
FHTES

Mr. Liu Ailun

BN k&

Age
FHe

43
43

40
40

37
37

30
30

BEE

EXefRHtREEEN  BE=Z2WTE
E —HINTEER=_RFIUFNTESE -
TEREBINEBESNER -

Position

B

Chairman, executive Director and CEO

TR HITEERITRER

executive Director

BiITES

executive Director

BITES

Non-executive Director

FRTES

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHITES
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong
BRI S A&

Mr. Zhang Xuehuo
REBIKEE

Mr. Wang Yingzhe
THRALE

57
57

59
59

51
51

Independent non-executive Director

BYERITES

Independent non-executive Director

BYERNITES

Independent non-executive Director

BYERITES

TXRAEERETEERSREEENBE -

Date of Appointment as
Director
BEZERESAE

26 March 2018
201843 A26H

16 April 2021
202194 816H

16 April 2021
202154 816H

10 January 2020
202041 A 10H

20 February 2019
201942 F20H

29 December 2021
2021412 H29H

20 February 2019
201942 F20H

2021 ANNUAL REPORT £ 15



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Bin ($38), aged 43, is an executive Director, the
Chairman and CEO. He is responsible for the overall management,

strategic planning and decision-making of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, From May 2009 to September 2011,
Mr. Yang served as chief operating officer in Beijing Gaoyang
Shengsiyuan Information Technology Company Limited (it 7 =[5 22
BEEEFMARAT). From September 2011 to December 2014,
Mr. Yang served as director and chief executive officer in Beijing
Quanmeihui Technology Company Limited (3t R 2 E[ERFEHR A
Al).

Mr. Yang, the co-founder of our Group, has more than 10 years’
experience in the mobile advertising industry, he started to serve
our Group since July 2013, where he was responsible for forming
our business model and coordinating the relationships between our
advertising platform and media publishers. He served as the chief
executive officer and the chairman of the board in Zhangshang
Yunjing from December 2014 to October 2016. Since October 2016,
Mr. Yang has been serving as the chairman, a Director and the chief
executive officer in Doumob Technology and has been in charge of
the overall management, strategic planning and decision-making of

Doumob Technology.

Mr. Yang received his bachelor's degree in computer science and
technology from Beijing Armored Force Engineering Institute (4 5 3
FETEEPR) in July 2000.

Mr. Meng Dawei (Z KX %), aged 40, has been appointed as
the executive Director on 16 April 2021. He joined our Group in
November 2018 as the technology director and became our vice
president since December 2020. Prior to the joining of our Group,
Mr. Meng has more than 12 years’ working experience related to
information technology. From September 2017 to November 2018,
he served as the technology director at Beijing Danmu Network
Technology Co., Ltd.* (It REBEHAEEE AR AA]), where he was
responsible for the overall management of information technology
related affairs. From July 2011 to September 2017, he served
as a deputy technology director at Leshi Internet Information &
Technology Corp., Beijing.* (%413 481z B &4t (At ) RO BR A A,
where he was responsible for research and development of online

platform.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

Mr. Meng received his bachelor’'s degree in software engineering
from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications in July
2006.

Ms. Fan Zijing (# F &), aged 37, has been appointed as the
executive Director on 16 April 2021. She joined our Group in April
2018 as the human resources director. Prior to the joining of our
Group, Ms. Fan has more than 10 years’ working experience in
the field of human resources. From August 2012 to April 2018, she
served as a human resources manager at Beijing Litian Unlimited
Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (bt R W KRERB\BEFMBER A
Al), where she was responsible for recruitment and employee
relationship maintenance. From October 2009 to August 2012,
she served as a human resources specialist at Interactive Peak
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (B &g R (L 3=) BR A A)), where
she was responsible for recruitment and other human resources

related affairs.

Ms. Fan received her bachelor’s degree in international nursing from

Hunan University of Chinese Medicine in July 2009.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Liu Ailun (2] X f&), aged 30, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 10 January 2020. From January 2017 to December 2020,
Mr. Liu served as investment director (1% & #2) in Blue Focus, one
of our substantial shareholders having 14.29% shareholding interest
in the Company. From January 2021 to December 2021, Mr. Liu
served as managing director of Blueprint Innovative Investment
Management (Beijing) Co., Lid* (EEAIFHIEEEE LR BRA
Al). Since January 2022, Mr. Liu has been the responsible person
for compliance and risk control matters of Blueprint Private Equity
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd* (EEB LS E L EE (L R) BRAF]).

Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from University
of California, at Berkeley in 2013.

*

for reference only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (FR# %), aged 57, is an independent
non-executive Director since February 2019. He is responsible for

supervising our Board and providing independent judgment.

Mr. Chan has over 30 years of diversified experience in auditing,
business advisory and corporate management. He currently serves
as an independent non-executive Director of A8 New Media Group
Limited (stock code: 800.hk), a joint company secretary of Hi
Sun Technology (China) Limited (stock code: 818.hk), and a joint
company secretary of PAX Global Technology Limited (B & (& Bkl
AR A F]) (stock code: 327.hk), all of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in 1988. He was admitted as a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in 2002 and 2005, respectively.

Mr. Zhang Xuehuo (GRE {k) , aged 59, is an independent non-
executive Director since 29 December 2021. He is responsible for

supervising our Board and providing independent judgment.

Mr. Zhang has engaged in investment industry for nearly 30 years
and has extensive experience in overseas mining resources,
energy, real estate, biomedical, and health industries. Mr. Zhang
has been the chairman of China Mineral Ventures Limited (7 El##
¥ EA B A A)(“China Mineral Ventures”) since 1997. He was
the founder of China Mineral Ventures. Mr. Zhang founded China
Gold Development Group (H.K.) Limited (“China Gold”)(F =&
FIZeEE (F8) B 2T, a subsidiary of Zijin Mining Group Co.,
Ltd., the shares of which were listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2899) in 1999. He was the chairman of China Gold from 2003
to 2006 and has been its director since 2016. Mr. Zhang was the
chairman of Shandong Guoda Gold Company Limited* (“Shandong
Guoda Gold") (Il R E K& € & AR 2 &) from 2003 to 2011.
Mr. Zhang is currently a director of Shandong Guoda Gold. Mr.
Zhang has been an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of Nomination and Remuneration Committee, a member
of each of the Audit Committee and Development Strategy and Risk
Management Committee of Prinx Chengshan Holdings Limited (& #k
ALZ B BR A |]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1809), since September 2018.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in international trade from
Xiamen University (B K& )in 1985.

Mr. Wang Yingzhe (E%#), aged 51, served as an independent
non-executive Director since 2019. He is responsible for supervising
our Board and providing independent judgment. From June 1997
to August 2009, Mr. Wang served as attorney and subsequently a
partner in Jingtian & Gongcheng (At E MK AW ZMEREFT) . In
2009, Mr. Wang founded Fenxun Partners (E i {2 Bl & 7% F7) and
served as the managing partner since then. Mr. Wang was formerly
the independent director of Shenyang Xingqgi Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd (B EBRZERMH AR AF), a company listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 300573) till January 2018; and Xi’an
Huajiang Environmental Technologies Co., Ltd. (FAZETIRREIE
% n A BR AR, a company listed on NEEQ (stock code: 833147) till
October 2019.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor's degree in laws from the law
school of Jilin University (F # K £5%52B7 ) in 1992 and he received
his master’s degree in laws from University of California, Berkeley in
2008.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Bin (% 3#) , see “— Executive Directors” for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWE D

OVERVIEW

We are an innovative operator of performance-based interactive
advertising platform and service provider of integrated marketing
solutions of public and private domains in the PRC. Based on our
new insight into the needs of our customers, during the Reporting
Period, we confirmed our new mission: making every connection
more effective, which clearly specified the strategic direction of
the Group. Guided by the new mission, each business segment is
moving forward in a structured manner to help customers achieve

their goal of reaching better users more efficiently.

With the Group’s SaaS business, we help customers achieve
low-cost marketing customer acquisition and realize customers’
value throughout the full life cycle by providing customers with
customized marketing solutions to reach users based on WeCom;
during the Reporting Period, our revenue from the SaaS business
was RMB3.8 million (2020: RMB30,000). In the future, we will
continue to expand the application scenarios of our SaaS services

and gradually improve our SaaS service system.

The Group’s proprietary interactive advertising platform directly
connects advertisers with media publishers. We provide targeted
and diversified advertising services to advertisers through our
platform based on H5 video interactive advertising technology
to help our clients reach effective users efficiently. During the
Reporting Period, on the one hand, we continued to enhance our
professional technical service capabilities, and persist in building
and optimizing our programmatic advertising platform, helping our
customers to realize digital selling and purchasing in cross-device
and diversified advertising scenarios through the transaction and
management of advertisements, so as to enhance advertisers’ brand
value, customer acquisition ability and product realization effect in
an efficient and low-cost manner. On the other hand, we follow at all
times the changes in the market environment and the upgrading of
customers’ needs, continuously expand large media resources such
as Kuaishou and Baidu, and fully utilize our technical advantages
to achieve traffic stratification and differentiated pricing among
the massive advertising requests, so as to achieve more direct
and efficient access to massive advertisers and a large number
of advertising alliances and enhance the competitiveness of the

platform.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWE D

During the Reporting Period, particularly the second half of the
year, although the change of COVID-19 and market environment
has brought many difficulties to the development of our business,
we still insisted on innovating and developing the interactive
advertising business while actively exploring more opportunities
to empower the field of online advertising and marketing services.
In order to continue to help companies connect with users more
efficiently, we further expanded our service latitude and provided
customers with customized, personalized, multi-channel and full-link
online marketing solutions, so as to meet the needs of brand
owners in respect of new media marketing and e-commerce agent
operation, and better help customers improve marketing efficiency.
Total revenue in 2021 remained stable compared to that in 2020, in
particular, the SaaS business recorded a revenue of RMB3.8 million
for the year, accounting for 4.2% of the total revenue for 2021 (2020:
0.1%); meanwhile, online marketing services is starting to gain

continuous revenue.

With content creation as our core driving force, we provide online
marketing services for brand merchants, including but not limited
to short video operation, advertising placement, livestreaming
e-commerce, and expert operation, offering the whole chain of
operation services including planning, formulation, implementation
and effect tracking. Our multi-channel marketing solutions for brand
merchants cover new media platforms such as WeChat Channels,
Tiktok, Kuaishou and Xiachongshu, as well as e-commerce platforms

such as JD.com and Meituan Youxuan.

Our short video operation service is based on building advertisers’
corporate accounts, IP content and account matrices to achieve
product sales increment, corporate image enhancement and
follower growth. In the livestreaming e-commerce module, by
connecting with Tiktok, Kuaishou and other new media platforms
and with the support of content e-commerce data, we provide
advertisers with operation services such as livestreaming agent
operation, advertising streaming and event marketing, helping
advertisers to efficiently achieve rapid cold-start and long-term
transactions; at the same time, our services also include digital
analysis of fan e-commerce portraits, intelligent screening
of industry experts, and multi-touch marketing and fan asset
management to improve clients’ high-efficiency customer acquisition
capabilities and trigger secondary and multiple marketing, efficiently
improving advertisers’ short-term customer acquisition and product

realization capabilities, and achieving long-term brand building.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWE D

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has intensified the competitive
landscape in the market environment and accelerated the
transformation of the new industry as well as the new consumption
upgrade. In the face of such difficult external environments, we
are focusing on tapping into the deeper online marketing needs
of advertisers and brands and horizontally expanding our service
capabilities by combining our strengths to enable our customers
to obtain a more advanced and better service experience and
marketing effect. We will continue to strengthen our strategic
stability in order to further enhance our overall competitive
advantages and efficiency output, and are committed to the

long-term sustainable development of the Company.

OUTLOOK FOR 2022

Taking into account the impact that uncertain factors such as
the COVID-19 pandemic, the economic environment and market
changes may have on business development, we will continue
to adhere to our mission “making every connection more
effective”, with providing better services to our customers as our
core objective. While broadening source of income and cutting
expenditure, as well as reducing costs and increasing efficiency, we
will continue to upgrade our advertising platform services, explore
the market demand for online marketing solutions and further
improve our diversified marketing solutions. We will also continue
to innovate SaaS products to meet the personalized needs of our

customers on a large scale.

1. Continue to focus on improving the technical strength of

advertising, advertising effect and media realization efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE N wWED

In 2022, we will be committed to building a matrixed
mobile advertising trading platform. As an early entrant in
China’s innovative interactive advertising market, we have
accumulated rich experience in such aspects as market
exploration and technology development. We will generate
more diverse cooperation models and advertising scenarios
by improving our ‘programmatic’ technology. At the same
time, we will iterate product functions to provide advertisers
with more efficient effect conversion through more accurate
user analysis; on the other hand, we will continue to try to
expand into new traffic areas by integrating ‘internal traffic’
and ‘external traffic’ to achieve production and model analysis
in a short period of time, and further develop a closed loop
from user acquisition to conversion generation, in order to
allow for more possibilities of performance-based advertising
services. We believe that with the continuous upgrading of
programmatic technology, we can maintain our advantages in
the diversified traffic market and achieve new breakthroughs

in the field of performance-based advertising.

Committed to exploring a new pattern in the development of

the online marketing market.

We intend to actively explore the development of the new
media marketing market on the basis of ensuring the steady
progress of our existing business: by gradually inducting
partner suppliers and starting from individual cases/partial
needs, we will continue to expand the depth and breadth
of cooperation with KA brand customers; with merchandise
sales as the target, we will develop marketing plans in phases
and gradually strengthen the brand influence over new
brand customers. As businesses complement each other, we
strive to achieve the rapid development of online marketing

services.
Committed to innovating the technology of SaaS services.

In 2022, we will continue to deepen the private domain service
innovation in the field of Wecom ecology, build model cases
in vertical industry, help enterprises with their cost reduction
and efficiency enhancement, and accumulate experience for
the realization of our ambitious goal of integrating public and

private domains in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 COMPARED TO B Z£2021F128318 L FEFEHE 2
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 2020F12A31H Lt FE L&

The following table sets forth the comparative statements of profit or TR EHZ2021F12A31A L FEEAEE
loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the year ended 31 2020512 A31H IEFE L BMIRE K °

December 2020.

2021 2020  Year-on-year
20214 20204 change %
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) [t
(AR¥TFr) | (AREFT) BEH S
Revenue g 91,005 90,254 0.8%
Cost of services PR 75 BX A< (78,672) (81,518) (3.5)%
Gross profit EF 12,333 8,736 41.2%
Other income and other net gains/ Hab g A R EHAb
(losses) Wz, (E18) F58 1,362 1,190 14.5%
- Financial assets at fair value -BAnEFABEN
through profit or loss g EE (7,323) 1,487 (592.5)%
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (12,567) (11,869) 5.9%
Administrative expenses THAX (101,230) (75,810) 33.5%
Finance costs RN (131) (53) 147.2%
Loss before income tax BRETSBATE R (107,556) (76,319) 40.9%
Income tax (expense)/credit FiE#(Ax) e (1,682) 1,541 (209.1)%
Loss for the year FREE (109,238) (74,778) 46.1%
Loss and total comprehensive DTATEEFABER
income for the year attributable 2HKREARE:
to:
Owner of the Company EIN/NEIEZ SN (108,941) (73,753) 47.7%
Non-controlling interests FE 1 AR 4 2 (297) (1,025) (71.0)%
(109,238) (74,778) 46.1%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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REVENUE I 25
The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue for the TR B F A B E2021F £2020F12A431H
year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020: IEFEH KA

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALEE

2021 2020

20214 20204
(% of total (% of total
(RMB’000) revenue) (RMB’000) revenue)
(151K 2 (1 ez
(ARB¥TFr) HEESE) | (AREFIT) HBEEIHE)
Interactive advertising EEES 83,959 92.3% 83,105 92.1%
Non-interactive advertising FEFHES 6,962 7.6% 5,943 6.6%
Online sales service REHERK - - 1,206 1.3%
Others Hit 84 0.1% - -
Total et 91,005 100.0% 90,254 100.0%

For the year ended 31 December 2021, total revenue was
approximately RMB91.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately 0.8% as compared with 2020. This was mainly
attributable to, on the one hand, the fact that business volume of
interactive advertising recovered in the first half of 2021 thanks to
the containment of the COVID-19 pandemic in Mainland. Despite
the fact that the number, pace and budget of advertising investment
by advertiser clients decreased in the second half of the year
due to the changing market environment, the business recorded
stable overall revenue in 2021 compared with 2020. Meanwhile, the
SaaS business was thriving and recorded a significant increase in
revenue compared to the corresponding period last year. At the
same time, online marketing services had delivered successful

cases and started to gain continuous revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWE D

COST OF SERVICES

Our cost of services was approximately RMB78.7 million in 2021,
representing a decrease of approximately 3.5% as compared with
2020. This was mainly attributable to the higher gross profit margin

of SaaS business.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Our gross profit was RMB12.3 million for 2021, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 41.2%. Our gross profit
margin was 13.6% for 2021, as compared with 9.7% for 2020.

This increase was mainly attributable to (1) we have strengthened
the procurement of downstream quality media channel traffic
and increased the investment in programmatic advertising
amid challenging operating conditions, leading to an improved
profitability; (2) the gross profit of our SaaS business is higher with

an increased percentage in revenue.

EXPENSES
Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of the sales
personnel’s salaries and benefits. The selling and distribution
expenses were RMB12.6 million for 2021, representing an increase
of 5.9% as compared with 2020. This was mainly attributable to the
fact that more market development costs have been invested to
develop online marketing business and SaaS business during the

year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWE D

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff salaries
and benefits; (ii) expected credit losses on financial assets; (iii)
amortization and depreciation charges; (iv) legal and professional
fee; (v) agent cost; (vi) short term lease expenses; (vii) R&D
expenditure; and (viii) Auditors’ remuneration. The administrative
expenses were RMB101.2 million for 2021, representing an increase
of 33.5% as compared with 2020. This was mainly attributable to
(1) the fact that we adopted a prudent approach in the difficult
operating environment in light of the ongoing impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic and provided for an expected credit losses
for trade receivables, contract assets and other receivables in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and wrote off
partial unrecoverable financial assets, resulting in the increase of
impairment loss related to financial assets of approximately RMB7.1
million; (2) an increase in employee salaries of approximately
RMB7.3 million during 2021 as a result of the granting of restricted
shares to eligible participants under our restricted share award
scheme (please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 7 May
2020 for details); and (3) the increase in third-party consultancy fees
and manpower costs and the commitment of higher restructuring
cost of old and new team to constantly upgrade the advertising
platform.

Profit or loss on change in fair value of financial assets

In 2021, the fair value loss recorded on our financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss amounted to approximately RMB7.3
million (2020: gain on change in fair value of approximately RMB1.5
million), which was mainly attributable to the change in fair value
resulting from the delayed progress of interactive drama investments
due to the impact of the pandemic.

Income Tax (Expense)/Credit

Our income tax expense/credit consists of current income tax and
deferred income tax. The income tax expense recorded was RMB1.7
million for 2021 (2020: income tax credit of RMB1.5 million), which
was primarily attributable to the derecognition of deferred income
tax assets associated with losses from the previous year due to the
reversal of expected credit loss related to financial asset. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, the nominal income tax rate for our

major domestic operating entities was approximately 25%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWE D

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial information which is
presented in accordance with HKFRS, we set forth below our
adjusted net loss as an additional financial measure which is not
presented in accordance with HKFRS. We believe this is meaningful,
because the management has eliminated the potential impacts of
certain items which were not considered indicative of our operating
performance, and this would be useful for investors to compare our

financial results directly with those of our peer companies.

Adjusted net loss eliminates the effect of certain non-cash
or non-recurring items, namely listing-related expenses and
share-based compensation expenses. The term “adjusted net
loss” is not defined under HKFRS. The use of adjusted net loss
has material limitations as an analytical tool, as adjusted net loss
does not include all items that impact our net loss for the year.
The following table reconciles our adjusted net loss for the periods
indicated to the most directly comparable financial measure

calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS:

FEBMBREEANNGE

REBRMRBEEEUBRELNZIINEE M
BEFETAIT - WA T XS A 80 & 3
BEMBBERAYIIFRET BB REENZT
MEMTHFE - ZPIERE LRAEEER
FRASEEBCKRBERYER 2B RLAKE
RAESNHETRENBEYE  BEEHK
BERBBEMNUBEERERERZERARINES
HEITHE -

RARMBEMNGRE TIHRASKIFLEHEAR
B & - B £ AR RS R S S AR 40 A B ) B
X [RARMER] —ARNEEMBRS
EABETABEER -ERAKABABRERD
TTAFEERRG  RESKAELEIRL
TERMAZERMFABENER - TRA
BRI RAENEHAREBERERETEY
BHREEAFER 2 WKRER AWM 5
ENHEK -

For the year 31 December
BZE12A31ALEE

2021 2020

20214 20204

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AR¥TFr) (AREFT)

Loss for the year FAEE (109,238) (74,778)
Add: /i

Share-based compensation costs LARR 1D B A TE 60 B < B AN 7,333 1,063

Adjusted net loss WA AEE (101,905) (73,715)

In light of the foregoing limitations for other financial measures,
when assessing our operating and financial performance, adjusted
net loss cannot be considered in isolation or as a substitute for our
loss for the year, operating loss or any other operating performance
measure that is calculated in accordance with HKFRS. In addition,
because such measure may not be calculated in the same manner
by all companies, it may not be comparable to other similar titled

measures used by other companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWE D

FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As of 31 December 2021, our total equity was approximately
RMB118.8 million, as compared with approximately RMB221.6
million as of 31 December 2020. The total equity represented
a decrease of approximately 46.4% as compared with 2020.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the loss from operating

activities.

As of 31 December 2021, our net current assets were approximately
RMB72.9 million, as compared with approximately RMB146.2 million
as of 31 December 2020. The net current assets represented a
decrease of approximately 50.1% as compared with 2020. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in cash at banks

and on hand and the decrease in contract assets.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

31 December

Bt 3 AR

HZE2021F12A31H - HMIMEREEOAEA
R#118.88 BT - M & £20205F12 4311 Al
HW R ANREE221.68 & T - 1 & 4 5820205
B HI46.4% - ZRH L EEHREEFTHEE
EIBFTE -

HZE2021F12A318 » HANREBEEFEY
ABARMET29BE T B E20206612A31H
Al AARKEI1462BBIL - mBEEFER
20205 ik 2 #950.1% © Z 2 F ZHRIRWIT R
FHERASRIMENEERDTE -

RBEERUMBEER

31 December

2021 2020 Change %
20214 20204 BEHS I
12831H 12H31H
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR#FT) (AE#HFT)
Cash at banks and on hand WITRFHERS 59,002 122,336 (51.8)%
Total #et 59,002 122,336 (51.8)%

As of 31 December 2021, our cash at banks and on hand totaled
RMB59.0 million, as compared with RMB122.3 million as of 31
December 2020. The change was mainly attributable to payment of

fund related to operating activities.

GEARING RATIO

As of 31 December 2021, our gearing ratio, which is calculated as
total liabilities divided by total assets, was 20.8%, as compared with
16.7% as of 31 December 2020.

HZE2021F12A318 - HMMRITRFEES
EFTAARME9.058 &t - MELZE20205F 124
S1HBAARKBI223AEE L -%ZEHEEH
RERNBALEFEHNE ST -

EEREBRLE

HEGREERINEELETE  BHZ22021F12
A31EMEEAEL X A20.8% & M & £2020
F12A318815816.7% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWE D

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Our capital expenditure includes expenditures on furniture, fixtures
and office equipment, computers and motor vehicles. For the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company has no significant capital
expenditure (2020: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

The Company did not have any significant investment, acquisition
and disposal for the year ended 31 December 2021 and none of
each individual investment held by the Group constituted 5% or

above of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As of 31 December 2021, no property, plant and equipment were

pledged.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES

As of 31 December 2021, we did not have any unrecorded significant

contingent liabilities, guarantees or material litigation against us.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of 31 December 2021, our employee remuneration totaled
approximately RMB33.7 million (including Directors’ emoluments,
staff salary, bonus, share-based compensation, pension scheme
contribution, other social security fund and other employee benefits)
(2020: RMB25.2 million).

The remuneration of our employees is determined based on their
performance, experience, competence and market comparables.
Their remuneration package includes salaries, bonus related to our
performance, allowances and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes for employees in the PRC. The Company also provides
customized training to its staff to enhance their technical and

product knowledge.

30 DOUMOB EERHERALT

EXREX

BMNEAAYBRERE EERHAEHRE
B MTERNRY - B E2021F12A318 1EF
B ARRWEEKREARNFAL (2020F : &) -

EXARE BWBEBRHE

#HE2021F12A31B L FE - AR AW EAA
MEREE WERBE UERAEEREN
EEBURANEENAERR T _—F+
ZA=+T—HBRBEEEMNS%II L -

EEEM

HE2021F 128310  MEEHRETADYE - K
B

FREBERER

HE2021F 128318 » HMIE EEM R
EASAREGE ERIHYURMANEARER

N
/A

BERFHMBE

HZE2021F12A31H - HMIMEEHMHAELD
BAREBIB7TEET (REEEMWE  BIH
& TEAL - R AR S - RIKE B
o Bt gRES REMmEBEF)(2020%F :
AR5 25ETT) °

BPMEEFMZRENRER LKLk
WREMSANALRERMETE - RENH
WEEEEHE HEMRBBENEL 2
BETEEEZERRKEENRKENGE -
AR R IREE 8 TR E IR AR
F VBT B B dn AN o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWE D

The Company has adopted a restricted share unit scheme on 14
August 2018 and a restricted share award scheme on 7 May 2020
to recognise and motivate the contributions by its employees and
give incentives thereto in order to retain them, as well as to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group. Please
refer to the Prospectus, the announcement of the Company dated
7 May 2020 and the 2020 annual report of the Company for further

details.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the Global Offering in 2019 were
approximately HK$27 million, as calculated by deducting all
expenditures paid by us in connection with the Global Offering,
including those capitalized and expensed, from the gross proceeds
raised. During the Reporting Period, there was no change in
the intended use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the
Prospectus. As at 31 December 2021, the Company has utilised
HK$23.7 million of the net proceeds from the Global Offering. For
the amounts not yet utilised, the Company will apply the remaining
net proceeds in the manner set out in the Prospectus. As at the
date of this annual report, pursuant to the Prospectus, the remaining
proceeds shall be fully utilized in 2022. As at 31 December 2021,
the following table sets out the breakdown of the use of proceeds

from the Global Offering:

ANAER2018F8 A 148 4 — H 2[R % X 19
BALEHE] - W 20205 A7 H R — B IR H
Wt ZEETE - ARFEEBIREREELER
EREEEBREBEEBURRSIGEABSHEAE
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AR F B AE2020F587THN A E KA R A
2020%F F # ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

As of 31 December 2021
E£2021%12A31H

Percentage Net Utilised Unutilised
% Proceeds amount amount
Bt FBREFRE BEBALH REBHAELE
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET FET
To strengthen algorithm and data BRAREEZESR
mining capabilities of programmatic BEERI R EIE
advertising system and to invest in ZRENREE
other technologies in big data and HEf REBERALE
artificial intelligence AE B Al 20% 5,400 5,400 -
To expand the base of advertisers and ~ EREE S £ M EE
media publishers Bt EAE 20% 5,400 4,992 408
To invest in traffic acquisition cost for BEKBEMEN
the self-owned media publisher MEERAEA 20% 5,400 3,375 2,025
To pursue strategic cooperation, SREMAE RER
investments and acquisition i 10% 2,700 2,700 -
To enhance the functionality and HEEEREETA
architecture of the proprietary WEe R EE
advertising platform 10% 2,700 2,357 343
To develop new products FEHER 5% 1,350 1,350 -
To expand and train our teams R RIFE K 5% 1,350 818 532
For working capital and general BEESR—ROERE
corporate purposes 10% 2,700 2,700 -
Total & 100% 27,000 23,692 3,308

it - 2REEERMGHRRFEAZHEFEZRTE
RBEHEME R EE NI E A R E A
HER MERES @NRLEHERERE -

Note: The difference between the actual net proceeds from the Global
Offering and the previous estimation mainly represents underwriting
incentive fees, overtime payment to intermediaries and other
miscellaneous fees which were determined after listing.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD A EE

EREMRRERNERAY AEEYETM
FERENERER -

The Group has no significant events requiring disclosure after the

Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH/E

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance by focusing on principles of
integrity, accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility
and fairness. The Company has developed and implemented sound
corporate governance policies and measures, and the Board is
responsible for performing such corporate governance duties. The
Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate governance
of the Company, as well as various internal policies and procedures,
including but not limited to those applicable to employees and
Directors, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory
requirements so as to maintain a high standard of corporate

governance of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions of the Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other than code provision C.2.1,
which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the

same individual.

Mr. Yang is our founder, Chairman and CEO. With extensive
experience in the online advertisement industry, Mr. Yang is
responsible for the overall management, decision-making and
strategy planning of our Group and is instrumental to our Group’s
growth and business expansion since its establishment. Since
Mr. Yang is the key reason for our Group's development and he
will not undermine our Group’s interests in any way under any
circumstances, our Board considers that vesting the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person, Mr. Yang,
would not create any potential harm to the interest of our Group
and it is, on the contrary, beneficial to the management of our
Group. The operation of the senior management and our Board,
which are comprised of experienced individuals, effectively checks
and balances the power and authority of Mr. Yang, as both the
Chairman and CEO. Our Board currently comprises three executive
Directors (including Mr. Yang), one non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors and therefore has a fairly

strong independence element in its composition.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXER®/E

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control
of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising
its affairs. The Board has general powers for the management and
is conducting the Company’s business. The day-to-day operations
and management are delegated by the Board to the management
of the Company, who will implement the strategy and direction as

determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of seven Directors, namely Mr. Yang
Bin (Chairman and CEO), Mr. Meng Dawei and Ms. Fan Zijing
as executive Directors, Mr. Liu Ailun as non-executive Director,
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Mr. Zhang Xuehuo and Mr. Wang Yingzhe as
independent non-executive Directors. None of the Directors has a
relationship (including financial, family or other substantial or related
relationship) with each other. The Board has a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the

Company.

The biographies of the Directors the Company are set out on pages

15 to 19 of this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director of the
Company has entered into a service contract with the Company.
Each of independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years since
the third anniversary of the Listing Date or their respective date of
appointments and is subject to retirement by rotation at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. These service
contracts and letters of appointments are subject to termination
in accordance with their respective terms. The term of the service
contracts and the letters of appointment may be renewed in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, the

Listing Rules and other applicable laws.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH/E

Code provision B.2.2 states that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by

rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Any new Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy
in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting
of the Company following his appointment and shall be subject to
reelection at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions
to pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses,
discretionary bonuses, housing and other allowances and other
benefits in kind) paid to the Directors of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was approximately RMB5.2 million.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company is determined
with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in

note 13 and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect

of legal proceedings against the Directors of the Company.

The procedure has been agreed by the Board to enable Directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense as
required pursuant to the Clause C.5.6 of the Code.
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EXER®/E

During the period since the Listing Date and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, the Board at all times complied with Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the
Board, of whom Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong is the Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be

independent.

Directors have access to the services of the company secretary
to ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The company
secretary of the Company is Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty. In compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2021. Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty is
the vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited and appointed as the company secretary. Ms. So Shuk Yi
Betty has the necessary qualifications and experience as required
under Rule 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules. The main contact
person of Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty in the Company is Ms. Lei Yiran, the

investor relationship senior manger of the Company.

All Directors attended various trainings in the Reporting Period,
including trainings regarding the updating of the Listing Rules,
the responsibilities and continuous obligations of Directors and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. The
Company had arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in order
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their

continuous professional development.

The Company is committed to continuously reviewing and improving
its internal systems, including those in relation to internal supervision

and control, and risk management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH/E

Board Meeting

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings
regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on
a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be
delivered to all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with the
matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting. For
other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board or committee
meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or members of the
committees at least 3 days prior to the convening of the meetings
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the relevant
documents and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the
meeting. The minutes are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and the copies are circulated to all Directors for reference

and record purpose.

The minutes of the Board meetings and committees thoroughly
recorded all matters under consideration and decisions made
including any problems raised by the Directors. Draft minutes
of each Board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Directors have a right to review the

minutes of the Board meetings and the committee meetings.

Exgel

ARRMETHREREETGESHNIEDN  1E
FELBITNRAEERABMIEFTERTEH -
EEEOTEENBAE) \A%;EVTHU:EEQM
HXEZ22EEF TRERNR
FH o RHEHMEZEREZESER E'$Z\\
A-MegEHeRREM ZELKAEESZgN
ZEEXHERERERMAIE 3B RETE
EHLEEEKRE  UBRESERTREEH
FREXHRERSEFELHEFTSHE - WESHE
BEEgXERELESR REGRSHNEFSR
BERREZERAAERERNERRERSENE
R-8FLEBARFTNRANERTE - MaE
BRAELREZEN  UHES2Z ks o

11]5

- S i V.
SEENEETETEN Eu&naﬁ X

BRMERBEZNEERMERNAE  BREE
FRENENRE - REFEERANEBEE
FNERLHRERABRERBTEAREE
RENEETEREE UWHRSEFI -EFA
REHNEFEERNZBEETRMERACE -

2021 ANNUAL REPORT &3 37



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXER®/E

During the year ended 31 December 2021, four Board meetings

were held.

The attendance of the above meetings by each Director is as

follows:

Name of Directors EENR
Mr. YANG Bin Bt 5 &
Mr. HUANG Kewang' HR AL
Mr. MENG Dawei? BAFEEAS
Ms. FAN Zijing® BT E 1z £°
Ms. LUO Yanhong* B4 7t
Mr. LIU Ailun 21wk £
Mr. CHAN Yiu Kwong PR 8 ¢ 55
Mr. ZHANG Xuehuo® SREMK LS
Mr. LIU Binghai® 201745 5t E£°
Mr. WANG Yingzhe FTERBPEE
Notes:

1.

Apart

Mr. HUANG Kewang has resigned as an executive Director on 30
September 2021.

Mr. MENG Dawei has been appointed as an executive Director on 16
April 2021.

Ms. FAN Zijing has been appointed as an executive Director on 16
April 2021.

Ms. LUO Yanhong has resigned as an executive Director on 16 April
2021.

Mr. ZHANG Xuehuo has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 29 December 2021.

Mr. LIU Binghai has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effective from 29 December 2021.

from formal meetings, other matters subject to the approval of

the Board were handled in the form of written resolutions.

38 DOUMOB EBERHERAT

HZE2021F12A31BLFE BB L1717

Ny A A
INE K °

BEEFHFE LA SHENBRAOT -

Attended/No. of Eligible to attend
BHE HEERHERE

4/4
3/3
3/3
3/3
11
4/4
4/4
0/0
4/4
4/4

et -
1. =R AT R2021F9A30B BT MITES -

2. EABREECR2021F416 A EZ X ARITES -

3. BEHLTER2021F4 16 A REERPITES -

4. BUA L+ ER2021F4816HBHIHRITES °

5. REN G EBR2021FE 12298 EE T BB LI
WITES -

6. 201778 % £ B 7202112 5298 BT I8 L IE 1T
EE-

REXNE@ZIN EMELKESSHENSTENU

EmrFERIAERE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH/E

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Each of the Board committees operates under its terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available on the website of the Company and that of the Stock

Exchange.
Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three members,
all are independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yiu
Kwong, Mr. Zhang Xuehuo and Mr. Wang Yingzhe. Mr. Chan Yiu
Kwong has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise, and provide an independent view of the effectiveness
of, the financial reporting process and the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, oversee the audit process
and perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, two meetings of the

Audit Committee were held.

The attendance of the meetings by each member is as follows:

Name of Members MEHERA

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong ok 12 S 5% A

Mr. Liu Binghai' 20175 5 A&

Mr. Zhang Xuehuo? RN AE?

Mr. Wang Yingzhe TEEXE

Notes:

1. Mr. Liu Binghai has resigned as an independent non-executive Director

with effective from 29 December 2021.

2. Mr. Zhang Xuehuo has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 29 December 2021.
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Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
consists of three members, including executive Director Mr. Yang
Bin, independent non-executive Directors Mr. Zhang Xuehuo
and Mr. Wang Yingzhe. Mr. Yang Bin has been appointed as the

chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment and removal of
Directors. In recommending candidates for appointment to the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on
merit against objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits
of diversity on the Board in accordance with the board diversity
policy adopted by the Company. Diversity of the Board will be
considered from a number of perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications,
knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a Director.
The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected

candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, two meetings of the

Nomination Committee were held.

The attendance of the meetings by each member is as follows:

Name of Members MEHERA

Mr. Yang Bin 1508 5 4

Mr. Liu Binghai' B 15 5

Mr. Zhang Xuehuo® SR Bk S £

Mr. Wang Yingzhe FERTEE

Notes:

1. Mr. Liu Binghai has resigned as an independent non-executive Director
with effective from 29 December 2021.

2. Mr. Zhang Xuehuo has been appointed as an independent

non-executive Director with effect from 29 December 2021.
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Nomination Policy

According to the Nomination Policy, in evaluating and selecting
any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee would
consider the criteria, including, among other things, character
and integrity, qualifications (cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy), any potential
contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of
the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination
Committee should then recommend to the Board to appoint
the appropriate candidate for directorship with a ranking of the
candidates (if applicable) by order of preference based on the
needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate.

Board Diversity Policy

In designing the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee
has considered Board diversity from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board currently has one female Director and as such has
achieved gender diversity in respect of the Board. We will
continue to strive to enhance female representation and achieve
an appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to the
Shareholders’ expectation and international and local recommended
best practices. We will also ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and we are committed to
providing career development opportunities for female staff so that
we will have a pipeline of female senior management and potential

successors to our Board in near future.

The Company plans to offer all-rounded trainings to female
employees whom we consider to have the suitable experience,
skills and knowledge of our operation and business, including but
not limited to, business operation, management, accounting and
finance, legal and compliance and R&D.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
has three members, comprising two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Xuehuo and Mr. Wang Yingzhe, and
one executive Director, namely Mr. Yang Bin. Mr. Zhang Xuehuo is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are to establish and review the
policy and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior
management and make recommendations to the Board on employee
benefit arrangement.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, two meetings of the
Remuneration Committee were held.

The attendance of the meeting by each member is as follows:

Name of Members MEHKA

Mr. Liu Binghai' 21178 5 A&

Mr. Zhang Xuehuo® SRk S £

Mr. Yang Bin 15 %8, 5 A

Mr. Wang Yingzhe FREALAE

Notes:

1. Mr. Liu Binghai has resigned as an independent non-executive Director
with effective from 29 December 2021.

2. Mr. Zhang Xuehuo has been appointed as an independent

non-executive Director with effect from 29 December 2021.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer” (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Directors, the Group’s senior management, and employees who,
because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Group or the Company'’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the year under review. In
addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the
Model Code by the senior management of the Group during the

year under review.
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FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination
of inside information (the “Policy”) which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any
person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the
market to determine the price of the listed securities of the Company
with the latest available information. This Policy also provides
guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure proper safeguards
exist to prevent the Company from breaching the statutory
disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company
shall be conducted by publishing the relevant information on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the

requirements of the Listing Rules.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

An analysis of the remuneration that should be paid to the external
auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, for the audit and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:
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Fees Paid/
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gt ENER

RMB’000

Services rendered FriR AR 7 ARETFT
Annual audit service FERERE 1,300
Non-audit services for interim review FHIE R 2 IEE AT AR TS 380
Total 4“5t 1,680
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flow during the Reporting Period. A statement from the auditor about
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
on pages 78 to 80 of this annual report. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors
of the Company have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgments and estimated that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements

on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the

Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Company also has an internal audit function which primarily
carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at
least, an annual basis. The Company implements and strictly
enforces procedures on inside information according to the relevant
procedures stated under the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside

Information.
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The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are
entrusted to individual department which is accountable for its
own conduct and performance and is required to operate its own
department’s business within the scope of the delegated authority
and to implement and strictly adhere to the strategies and policies
set by the Company from time to time. Each department is also
required to keep the Board informed of material developments of
the department’s business and implementation of the policies and
strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group to ensure that a sound system is maintained
and operated by the management in compliance with the agreed
procedures and standards. The review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered
the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions are adequate. The review
was conducted through discussions with the management of the
Company, its external and internal auditors and the assessment
performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that the
existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate
and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).

In addition, the Company has established policies and systems
that promote and support anti-corruption laws and regulations.
We require our employees to follow our employee manual and
code of business conduct and ethics, which contains internal rules
and guidelines regarding best commercial practice, work ethics,
fraud prevention mechanisms, negligence and corruption. We
also carry out regular on-the-job compliance training to our senior
management and employees to maintain a healthy corporate culture
and enhance their compliance perception and responsibility. Our
staff can anonymously report any suspected corrupt incident to the
Company.

The Company has also established a whistleblowing policy and
system for employees and those who deal with the Company (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence and
anonymity, about possible improprieties in any matter related to the
Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company, was adopted by the Board on

28 March 2019, is set out as follows:

Payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and the
Articles of Association of the Company. The Board will review the
dividend policy as appropriate from time to time. The declaration
and payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. The Board shall also take into account the following
factors when considering whether to propose dividends and

determining the dividend amount:
1. the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

2. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company

and each of the members of the Group;

3. the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure

requirements and future expansion plans;
4. the Group’s liquidity position;

5. contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders or by the Company’s
subsidiaries to the Company;

6. taxation considerations;

7. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and

position of the Group; and

8. other factors that the Board deems relevant.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles was conditionally adopted by the Board on 24
February 2019 and became effective on the Listing Date. A copy
of the Articles is available on the website of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, there was no significant change in constitutional

documents of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
General Meetings and Shareholders’ Rights

The Company shall in each year hold a general meeting as its
annual general meeting in addition to any other meetings in that
year and shall specify the meetings as such in the notices calling

them. The extraordinary general meetings are convened irregularly.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting shall be convened either by the Board or on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
any one of the joint company secretaries for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the

Company.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands for putting forward
proposals of new resolutions by Shareholders at general meetings.
Shareholder(s) who wish to move a resolution may request
the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.
For proposing a person for election as a Director, please refer to the
“Procedures for Shareholders to Nominate a Person for Election as

a Director” posted on the Company’s website.
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Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company has set up an effective communication channel with
investors. It carries out investor relationship maintenance work
under the principles of openness and fairness and with a proactive
attitude while conforming to the rules. During the Reporting Period,
the Company disclosed information truly, accurately, completely
and timely according to the laws, regulations and regulatory
requirements to ensure that investors would know the important
matters of the Company in a timely manner, thus protecting the

investors’ interests to the greatest extent.

To promote effective communication, up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’s business operations and developments,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.doumob.com) for

public access.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum and an
important channel for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as chairman of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee or, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees and, where applicable, are available normally at the
annual general meetings and other relevant shareholder meetings
to answer questions. Shareholders are also encouraged to attend
general meetings held by the Company and are invited to express

their views and raise questions thereat.

As part of its regular review, the Board has reviewed these
communication channels for the year ended 31 December 2021 and

is of the view that this is effectively and adequately implemented.

Shareholders should direct their inquiries about their shareholdings
to Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. Investors may
also write to the Company at its principal place of business in Hong

Kong or China for any enquiries.
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The Company sets out the following contact details for Shareholders

to communicate with the Company:

Address: No. D8121, 4th Floor, Star Cube Office Center,
No. 72, Chaoyang Road,
Chaoyang District,
Beijing, PRC
Attention: Office of the Board

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous

enquiries.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 March
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. The Group operates in the
mobile advertising industry. Its proprietary advertising platform and
technologies help media publishers monetize their traffic through
displays of advertisements on the one hand, and help advertisers

maximize the effectiveness of their advertising delivery on the other.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year by
principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 6 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year could be found
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report”
in this annual report. The review and discussion form part of this

directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidation results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out on pages 81 to 192 of this annual

report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 23 May 2022 to Thursday, 26 May 2022, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected,
in order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM to be held on Thursday,
26 May 2022. All transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant
Share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20 May 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements on page 140 of this annual

report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material incompliance with all
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and the
environment. The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures and has also encouraged staff to be environmental
friendly at work by consuming the electricity and paper according
to actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and minimize
unnecessary waste. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance will be disclosed in the environmental,
social and governance report of the Company for the year ended 31

December 2021 to be published in due course.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 27(a) to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 159 to 160 of this

annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out on

page 84 and page 161 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s distributable reserves
were RMB30,161,000.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2021, the Company did not have any bank

borrowings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles,
or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to

offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
utilized HK$23.7 million of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering. For the amounts not yet utilised, the Company will apply
the remaining net proceeds in the manner set out in the Prospectus.
As at the date of this annual report, the remaining proceeds is

expected to be fully utilized in 2022.
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DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of the following seven Directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Bin (Chairman and CEQO)

Mr. Meng Dawei (appointed on 16 April 2021)
Ms. Fan Zijing (appointed on 16 April 2021)
Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Ailun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong

Mr. Zhang Xuehuo

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as at the date of this Directors’ Report are set out
on pages 15 to 19 in the section headed “Profile of Directors and

Senior Management” to this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract with the Company, under which they
agreed to act as executive Directors or non-executive Director for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date or
their respective appointment date, which may be terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either of the

Director or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the third anniversary of the Listing Date or their
respective appointment date, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either of the Director
or the Company. Under the respective appointment letters, each
of the independent non-executive Directors is entitled to a fixed

Director’s fee.
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The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of

retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors has entered a service contract with members
of the Group that cannot be terminated by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2021 or subsisted at the end of the year
and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended 31

December 2021 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement and
contract of significance to the business of the Group which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or any entity connected with such a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2021.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are decided by the Board with reference to the
recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.
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Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to 139 of this

annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived

any emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or
are payable, for the year ended 31 December 2021, by our Group
to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a

Director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters,
no contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or in existence as at the end of the year or at any time

during the year ended 31 December 2021.

ExMeRkrEELEESFMALHENE
HEAN AR FIRE136E 1398 MR A W 5 WK
13

HZE2021F12A31BIEFE - AEEHERE
A Z 5 A = B A T A A — A2 RO
& - 1E BT N8R 7 5 8] sk i BE AR 5k B B Y 48
SRIEABBEE - #E2021F12A31H IEF
E-EEEERELAAH: -

B X EEE SN - B E2021F12 8318 [E4F
B AEEHEATNESIAREMNESY
-F SR B AR H A RO o

EERBFXRBOES

FA BEEEIARSEANETHEA (E
ER TR FERAMEEEREEEKE
BB S P BE R F ) XIS R A (A
(EEARR R/ LEMBRREERI) -

BRELTRAUSERESRE

BRAFRAABEEIN  ARE)WEETRAE
13.20 * 13.21 % 13.22{K 18 T Hy 1T fa] H b #7 55
HEo

EEAHN

BREERBEOREZAERIN REFRIEE
2021512 AR L FEAEMKHE - #IEET T
REHERAAEEREATANERATIETNE
BRITHREBEENEGH -

2021 ANNUAL REPORT £3 55



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEZgRSE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has not

entered into any equity-linked agreement.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to
the Directors, senior management of the Company, the Controlling

Shareholders or their respective connected persons.

2018 RSU SCHEME

In recognition of the contributions of our management team
and employees and to incentivize them to further promote our
development after Listing, on 9 August 2018, our founders,
namely Mr. Yang, Ms. Chen Xiaona and Mr. Zheng Shungqi,
through their respective offshore holding companies, transferred
1,789,458, 298,236 and 149,129 Shares to ESOP Holdings, for
the purpose of establishing the 2018 RSU Scheme. On 14 August
2018, we adopted the 2018 RSU Scheme, pursuant to which
RSUs representing a total of 210,219,991 underlying Shares
(approximately 9.1% of the total issued share capital of our
Company immediately upon the completion of the Capitalization
Issue, Share split and the Global Offering) were reserved for the
vesting of RSUs granted under the 2018 RSU Scheme.

The purpose of the 2018 RSU Scheme is to incentivize Directors,
senior management and employees for their contribution to our
Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of our
Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests

in our Company.
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For the sake of saving administration costs, the Company and the
granted employees unanimously agreed to cancel the granted but
unvested RSU under the 2018 RSU Scheme through negotiation on
13 April 2021. On 15 April 2021, the Company granted the restricted
shares, of which the value is equivalent to the value of the cancelled
RSU, to those employees under the 2020 RSAS.

A summary of the terms of the 2018 RSU Scheme has been set
out in the section headed “D. RSU Scheme” in Appendix V to the

Prospectus.

Details of the RSUs granted under the 2018 RSU Scheme as at 31

December 2021 are set out below:
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Number of underlying Shares under the 2018 RSU Scheme during the Reporting Period
REBEHM2018FEZRARDGEMBETHABROKE

Outstanding as at
1 January 2021
R20215F1A18

Name of Grantees Granted

Vested

Outstanding as at
31 December 2021
20215128318

Lapsed Cancelled

ESIN 2] R KGR =38 =3 ] BAK [=2:9 EEdCEN-
13 employees and consultants

13 & E 8 KB 92,246,007 133,887,855 32,165,645 1,621,428 100,100,782 0
Total

Fohy 92,246,007 133,887,855 32,165,645 1,621,428 100,100,782 0

For the RSUs granted to the named individual grantees of the RSU
set out in the table above, they shall (unless our Company shall
otherwise determine and so notify the RSU Participant in writing and

subject to the below conditions) vest as follows:

(i as to 20% of the RSUs on the expiry date of the six-month
period from the Listing Date;
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(i)  asto 10% of the RSUs on 10 March 2020;
(iii)  as to 30% of the RSUs on 10 March 2021;
(iv) asto 20% of the RSUs on 10 March 2022; and
(v) asto20% of the RSUs on 10 March 2023.

The 2018 RSU Scheme is not subject to the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules as the 2018 RSU Scheme does not involve
the grant of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares.
Since the Listing Date, the Company did not have any share option

schemes.

2020 RSAS

On 7 May 2020 (the “Adoption Date”), our Company resolved to
adopt the 2020 RSAS in order to provide our employees with an
opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company and to
encourage and retain such individuals to work with the Company,
and to provide additional incentive for them to achieve performance
goals. Unless early terminated by the Board, the 2020 RSAS shall
continue in full force and effect from the Adoption Date for a term
of 10 years. According to the 2020 RSAS, the maximum number of
Shares to be awarded is 230,000,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the issued shares of the Company as at the Adoption Date.
The restricted Shares to be granted comprise (i) existing Shares
purchased by the trustee (at the instruction of the Company) on
the market; and (ii) new Shares to be allotted and issued by the
Company, the costs of which will be borne by the Company. All
such restricted Shares will be held by the trustee upon trust for the
benefit of the selected participants before vesting. The restricted
Shares held by the trustee upon trust on behalf of the selected
participant pursuant to the provisions of the 2020 RSAS shall vest in
such selected participant in accordance with the vesting schedule
(if any) and the terms and conditions as set out in the notice of
grant, and the trustee shall cause the restricted Shares to be
transferred to such selected participant or his/ her nominee or agent

on the vesting date.
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During the Reporting Period, the trustee of the 2020 RSAS, pursuant REREEIA - 2020 PR Bl A% 17 S2ED AT B ) %2
to the terms of the rules and trust deed of the 2020 RSAS, acquired FEARE2020F ZREIL M 3Bt 23R B 1=
13,293,401 Shares at an aggregate consideration of approximately B 7 EFTALE KRB A1,551,000% 7T (B 1
HK$1,551,000 (including transaction costs), and the Company has T 5K AN) WAE13,293,401 0% X 1D » B AR A A
not issued any new Shares pursuant to the 2020 RSAS. A AR 15 20204F 52 BR I A% 19 42 B a1 21 2 17T {7
FTRRAD ©

Details of the number of Shares awarded under the 2020 RSAS and R EHIR2020F LR B D ZBIHEIE 2
the Shares vested during the Reporting Period are set out below: BHEDHEMEREBR O ZEBE DT

Number of underlying Shares under the 2020 RSAS during the Reporting Period
RBERR2020F ZRARGRBFHAETHHEEROEE

Outstanding as at Outstanding as at

Name of Grantees 1 January 2021 Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled 31 December 2021
R20215F1A18 R2021512A31H

ARANE BRHERER 2R EEE BAX 2HUH REMKER
16 employees and consultants
16 %416 8 kB 3,054,614 92,812,257 40,128,124 23,740,243 4,020,483 40,872,724
Total
@gt 3,054,614 92,812,257 40,128,124 23,740,243 4,020,483 40,872,724
The 2020 RSAS does not constitute a share option scheme or an T EMIRAIFEA7TE M S » 2020FE Z[R I A% 5 88
arrangement analogous to a share option scheme for the purpose of Ehst 2130 NE R BB AR T &) - IR Ak ER BE PR
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme of the BEAEAUNTHE - ZTE8 AN T HNEIEE
Company. 2l
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As of the date of this directors’ report, the interests or short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which he was taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
were as follows:

EEREETRAERESNES

EEZEHERY ARAEERRERTR
E E@ﬁ&?&ﬁmﬁwfl(&%ﬁ &7 M
R B EXVER) Bty - MHRE AR () R (B E
ﬁ )R B & M B E 5 P EXVEL F7 K850 7B

AHNERRNARBRANERIORE (BHER
T)‘E*’X%“&Hﬁi‘fﬂﬂﬁﬂE’Jﬁfﬁf\xxﬁ%ﬁ FEER
BmEMEDRAR)  H(O)REEF KPR K
{5 S8 352{5 72 iC A\ 7% 16k Fﬁ?aAuEﬂﬁWE’ME 58k
KB HC)RBBEETRIBAMEG AR E RHER
PR goR BT ¢

/U]]U ‘H‘

g > %

\

Approximate
percentage of the

Number of ordinary Company'’s issued
Name of Director Nature of Interest shares interested"” share capital®
HERATERITREN
EsnE EETE FEREENTERHB BHEDSHP
Mr. Yang Bin® Interest in controlled corporation 737,771,914 32.08%
1538 5 £ REAEER
Beneficial owner 206,066,614 8.96%
ERnMABA
Mr. Meng Dawei"” Beneficial owner 1,437,604 0.06%
mAFEEEY ERMABA
Notes: M et

(1) All interest stated are long positions.

(2) The calculation is based on the total number of 2,300,000,000 Shares
in issue as of the Latest Practicable Date.

(3) The Shares are registered under the name of Evan Global, the issued
share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Mr. Yang. Accordingly,
Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Evan
Global for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO. As of 31 December
2021, the RSUs are registered under the name of ESOP Holdings, the
issued share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Evan Global.
Evan Global is wholly-owned by Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by ESOP Holdings for
the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

(4) Mr. Meng Dawei is interested in 1,437,604 underlying Shares granted
to him under the 2020 RSA Scheme.

60 DOUMOB EERHERALT

(1) FREEHARER -

2 EREBREBATHEHE HITRDER
2,300,000,0000% 51 & -

(3) & F MM UEvan Global® & % & & MEvan
Globalt) & # B #ITIR A HIGEEHE - Ht -
MEFRAERIEXVEM T  HBEERERR
Evan Global#5 B 8 P B Bt fh A 2 - 102021
F12A318 + 2R #1987 LAESOP Holdings
K% & E 52 MESOP Holdings#) & & E 17 AR
15 fhEvan Globalfﬁﬁ Evan Globalf 5 5 4
2EHA - At - REFLBAEKOIEXVEmE
Tﬁﬁ"ci%ﬁﬁz%b";\ESOP Holdings# A &) FT A B 17
hEEE R -

(4)  FTAREAENIBIE20204 F B I8 D B A8l
H R A1,437, 604 HRBAAR D P HEB S o
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INTERESTS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

So far as our Directors are aware, as of 31 December 2021, the
following persons have interests or short positions in Shares or
underlying Shares of our Company which will be required to be
disclosed to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, directly
or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of our Company:

Name Nature of Interest
#H BEEE
Evan Global Beneficial owner
ExEAA
ESOP Holdings® Beneficial owner
ERBERA
Mr. Yang Bin® Interest in a controlled corporation
B xE? XEEEES
Trustee
XFEA
BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL Beneficial owner
EBRER ERBEAA
Blue Focus® Interest in a controlled corporation
gonEd REEEER

Beneficial owner

ExfiaA

Chengdu Hongdao

Mr.Yang Zhenghong (15 IF %) Interest in a controlled corporation;
interest of a party to an agreement
regarding interest in the Company

BEREEY R EERR

BENTHAER

Hongdao Investment Interest of a party to an agreement

regardmg interest in the Company

ShEREY RAERBHOGE

Beijing Dongfang Hongdao Assets
Managemem Company Limited
(ERRALEEEERAREANE)Y

Interest of a party to an agreement
regarding interest in the Company

GERRFLEAEEBAREMLAAY ARAIRERBNBRDTO7 EE
Summer Holdings Ben ﬂcwal owner
ém

Ms. Chen Xiaona®

REEHZL"

Interest in a controlled corporation

XELEER

Beneficiary of a trust (other than a
discretionary mterest)

FERERaEA (BEEERN)

CEARRAEREH NG

VHESNTE: §:

FTERRNVER

BB B20214F128318 » T AR
PIN/N Tﬂﬁf’ﬁﬂaﬁﬁﬂxfﬁqﬂ%ﬁ*ﬁmﬁimﬁﬁﬁ i%
G EEXVER 552 K 39y BB By 1§ LA [A) AN A

R T RS

KR IE?KIF‘%&%%W

BERNATEEANBEATEARBNKRREANE L
%2 E’JErﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂHxﬂiﬁ{ﬁm%jzuj:ﬁ’ﬁ“*D

KA

Number of ordinary
shares interested"”

RERENEERKE"
737,771,914

206,066,614

737,771,914

206,066,614

328,629,450

328,629,450

207,618,771

207,618,771

207,618,771

207,618,771

151,797,422

151,797,422

12,056,800
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Approximate
percentage of the
Company’s issued
share capital”
ERRRERT
BANGOE LY
32.08%

8.96%

32.08%

8.96%
14.29%
14.29%

9.03%

9.03%

9.03%

9.03%

6.60%

6.60%

0.52%



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEZgRSE

All interests stated are long positions.

The entire issued share capital of Evan Global is directly owned by
Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in such
number of Shares held by Evan Global. The entire issued share capital
of ESOP Holdings is directly owned by Evan Global which in turn is
directly owned by Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be
interested in such number of Shares held by ESOP Holdings.

The entire issued share capital of BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL is
directly owned by Blue Focus. Accordingly, Blue Focus is deemed
to be interested in such number of Shares held by BLUEFOCUS
INTERNATIONAL.

The entire issued share capital of Chengdu Hongdao is directly owned
by Mr. Yang Zhenghong. Accordingly, Mr. Yang Zhenghong is deemed
to be interested in such number of Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao.
In addition, pursuant to an agreement dated 2 May 2018 between
Mr. Yang Zhenghong and Hongdao Investment, Mr. Yang Zhenghong
made entrustment arrangements with Hongdao Investment regarding
the distribution of the profits generated from the 9.03% of the equity
interest that Chengdu Hongdao holds in our Company. Accordingly,
Hongdao Investment is deemed to be interested in such number of
Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao. Furthermore, Hongdao Investment
is a limited liability partnership organized and existing under the laws
of the PRC. The general partner of Hongdao Investment is Beijing
Dongfang Hongdao Assets Management Company Limited (4t & 5
SNVEEEEREREMERF),
Mr. Yang Zhenghong. Accordingly, each of Beijing Dongfang Hongdao

which is owned directly as to 31.25% by

Assets Management Company Limited and Mr. Yang Zhenghong is
deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by Chengdu
Hongdao.

The entire issued share capital of Summer Holdings is directly owned
by Ms. Chen Xiaona. Accordingly, Ms. Chen Xiaona is deemed to
be interested in such number of Shares held by Summer Holdings.
Ms. Chen Xiaona is interested in RSUs representing 12,056,800
underlying Shares granted to her.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR

DEB

ENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company,

its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any

arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of

the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including debentures

of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customer accounted
for 25.4 of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest

customers accounted for 73.9% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted
for 43.2% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest

suppliers accounted for 66.7% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five

largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of

the Company’s securities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 79 employees, 28 of
which were responsible for product development, 11 were for
sales and marketing, 22 were for operations, 3 for media publisher
development and 15 were for administration. The Group enters into
employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such
as position, term of employment, wage, employee benefits and

liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus, share options and other employee benefits,
and is determined with reference to their experience, qualifications
and general market conditions. The emolument policy for the
employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their
merit, qualification and competence. We provide regular training
to our employees in order to improve their skills and knowledge.
The training courses range from further educational studies to skill
training to professional development courses for management

personnel.

TEREBREF
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the

required contributions under the scheme.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

On 11 December 2001, the State Council promulgated
the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (the “FITE Regulations”), which
were amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February 2016.
According to the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not
allowed to hold more than 50% of the equity interests of a company
providing value-added telecommunications services, including
value-added telecommunication services. In addition, a foreign
investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications business
in the PRC must possess prior experience in operating value-added
telecommunications businesses and a proven track record of
business operations overseas (the “Qualification Requirements”).
Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
provided clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirements. Therefore, in order for the Company to be able to
carry on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into the
Contractual Arrangements to enable the Company to exercise
and maintain control over operations of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and to consolidate these companies’ financial results into
the Company’s results under HKFRS as if they are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. Despite the lack of clear guidance
or interpretation on the Qualification Requirements, we have taken
and plan to continue to take specific steps to comply with the
Qualification Requirements. After the Listing, the Company kept

implementing its expansion plan in target overseas markets.

Up to the date of this directors’ report, there is no further update in

relation to the Qualification Requirement.
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The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year

ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

1.

The voting rights proxy agreement dated 22 August 2018,
pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed WFOE or its designated person, as
his attorney-in-fact to exercise such shareholder’s rights
in Doumob Technology (the “Shareholders’ Rights Proxy
Agreement”).

The exclusive option agreement dated 22 August 2018,
pursuant to which Registered Shareholders jointly and
severally granted irrevocably to WFOE the rights to require
the Registered Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity
interests and/or assets in Doumob Technology to WFOE and/
or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any
time and from time to time, at a minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws and regulations (the “Exclusive

Option Agreement”).

The equity pledge agreement dated 22 August 2018, pursuant
to which each of the Registered Shareholders agreed to
pledge all of their respective equity interests in Doumob
Technology to WFOE as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment of
outstanding debts under the Contractual Arrangements (the

“‘Equity Pledge Agreement”).

the exclusive management and consultation agreement dated
22 August 2018, pursuant to which Doumob Technology
agreed to engage WFOE as its exclusive provider of provider
of technical support, consultation and other services and
Doumob Technology agreed to pay service fees to WFOE (the
“Exclusive Management Consultation Agreement”).

HZE2021F12A31B L FEE BN E LT HEW

T
1.

HEI R2018F8HA22A KR EREZ W
Rt BEELRRIARMEMEE
SIEBELEIEBEAL FRER
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HH 520188 A22H K BRIE B
BB B RERE R ER A
AN BECEREERN  SHA
BER R TR EREEREMIIEEE
¥R /SEETNE=F  ERBEER
RERATNREBEE2BRBHLE
FEENDERENTRS2IRER,
SEE((BRBEREBED -

HEHIA2018F8 A228 MR B M iR -
Bt SECLRRERAEZRAIEEERE
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The connected relationship of the parties to the Contractual BANTHI T OEERBZWMT -

66 DOUMOB

Arrangements are as follows:

Name of connected

persons Connected relationship Contractual arrangements involved
BEALHSE BB BEREF BRENTH
Mr. Yang Bin an executive Director, CEO, a substantial (1) Shareholders’ Rights Proxy Agreement;
shareholder of our Company and (2) Exclusive Option Agreement; and
one of the registered shareholders of (3) Equity Pledge Agreement
Doumob Technology
53 5t & RARHITES  THESR  TERE () RERENEFEGZE
WRIEMBNELRE 2 — (2) BREE#EDGE &
(3) B H=E
Blue Focus a substantial shareholder of Doumob Technology (1) Shareholders’ Rights Proxy Agreement;
(2) Exclusive Option Agreement; and
(8) Equity Pledge Agreement
EERE TEMBHETERRE (1) RN ZRERE
Q) BREERBE &
(3) kBB

Doumob Technology

BB

an associate of our Controlling Shareholder’

BRI R A BB A

TENMEAERAF

1) Shareholders’ Rights Proxy Agreement;
2
3

4) Exclusive Management Consultation

Exclusive Option Agreement;

M
2
(8) Equity Pledge Agreement; and
(4)

Agreement

(1) IRERERNEZ W

Q) BREBERBGE

(3) BB

(4) BREIEE ARG HZ
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Notes:

1. On the basis that Mr. Yang Bin, one of the Controlling Shareholders,
directly holds 41.04% equity interest in Doumob Technology, Doumob
Technology is an associate of Mr. Yang Bin.

No service fee was paid by Doumob Technology to WFOE pursuant
to the Exclusive Management and Consultation Agreement for the

year ended 31 December 2021.

The revenue and net loss of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
subject to the Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately
RMB6.0 million and RMB13.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, respectively. The total assets and total liabilities
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB154.2 million and

RMB35.3 million as at 31 December 2021, respectively.
Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please
see the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to our

Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for details.
Material change in relation to the Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances

under which they were adopted.
Unwinding the Contractual Arrangements

The Company will unwind the Contractual Arrangements as soon as
the laws allows the business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to be operated without the Contractual Arrangements. However,
for the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the Contractual
Arrangements had been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements had been

removed.

Mt -
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Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section “Connected

Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group has not entered into any connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed

pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” stated in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive Directors and
the Auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the

Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

a) the transactions carried out during the Reporting Period had
been entered into accordance with the relevant provisions of

the Contractual Arrangements;

b) no dividends or other distributions had been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or

transferred to the Group;

c) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/
or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated

Affiliated Entities during the Reporting Period; and

d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable in the

interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Auditor has reviewed and advised the Board in writing (with a
copy provided to the Stock Exchange) that the transactions carried
out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements during the Reporting
Period has nothing come to their attention that causes them to
believe (i) the transactions have not been approved by the Board;
(ii) the transactions had not been entered in accordance with the
relevant Contractual Arrangements, and (iii) that dividends or other
distributions had been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to the holders of the equity interests which were not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements contained herein.

None of the related party transactions constitutes a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all

disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of
this directors’ report, the Company has maintained the public float

as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the director’'s and officer’s
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the

Reporting Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code

as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
the relevant code provisions contained in the CG Code during the
Reporting Period.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance

Report on pages 33 to 49 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditors during the Reporting
Period. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 have been audited by BDO Limited, Certified
Public Accountants, who are proposed for reappointment at the
forthcoming 2022 AGM.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company is in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Bin
Chairman and CEO

Beijing, PRC, 31 March 2022
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IBDO

E5E 1 +852 2218 8288
85 : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25 Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF DOUMOB

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Doumob
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out
on pages 81 to 192, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in Note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in Note 5 and disclosure
of revenue and segment information in Note 6 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Revenue represents income from the provision of online advertising
services and others, which amounted to RMB90,921,000 and
RMB84,000 respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2021
in Mainland China. Revenue from online advertising services is
recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by
transferring the control of promised services to a customer in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects

to be entitled in exchange for that services.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the recognition

of revenue by management to meet specific targets or expectations.

OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to assess the recognition of revenue

included the following:

o Inspecting agreements with customers, on a sampling basis,
to understand the terms of service and assess whether
management recognised the related revenue in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies, with reference to the

requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;
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o Comparing sales records for a sample of sales transactions
recorded during the year with relevant underlying
documentation, which included sales invoices and monthly
customer statements with evidence of the customers’ receipt
of the service and the date of receipt of the service confirmed

by the customers;

. Comparing, on a sampling basis, specific revenue
transactions recorded before and after the financial year end
date with the underlying agreements with customers and
monthly customer statements to determine whether the related
revenue had been recognised in the appropriate financial
period;

o Scrutinising journals affecting revenue raised during the
reporting period and comparing details of a sample of these
journal, which met certain risk-based criteria, with relevant

underlying documentation.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON CONTRACT
ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in Note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in Note 5 and disclosure of
trade receivables in Note 19 and contract assets in Note 20 to the

consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB10,596,000 and net contract assets
amounting to approximately RMB5,185,000, after making loss
allowance of approximately RMB12,263,000 and RMB53,636,000
respectively. Trade receivables and contract assets represented
7.07% and 3.46% of the total assets of the Group and is considered

quantitatively significant to the Group.
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The Group’s loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL”) based on management’s
estimated loss rates for each ageing category of trade receivables
and contract assets. The estimated loss rates take into account the
credit history including default or delay in payments, settlement
records, subsequent settlements and ageing analysis of individual
customers. The directors of the Company evaluated the Group’s
ability to issue invoice and recoverability of the balances based on
the invoice issuance forecast prepared by the management, which
take into account of the advice from local tax authority regarding

the invoice issuance status of the Group.

We have identified impairment assessment on contract assets
and trade receivables as a key audit matter due to considerable
amount of judgement and estimates being required in conducting

impairment assessment as mentioned in the forgoing paragraph.

OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment

on contract assets and trade receivables included the following:

. Scrutinising the source documents throughout the year, on
a sampling basis to understand the invoice issuance and

settlement patterns by major customers;

o Testing the ageing analysis of the contract assets and trade

receivables, on a sampling basis, to the source documents;

o Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability of contract
assets and trade receivables with reference to the credit
history including default or delay in payments, settlement
records, subsequent settlements and ageing analysis of

individual customers; and

o Evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and

forward-looking information.
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IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS RELATED
TO SUBSCRIPTION ACCOUNTS AND SOFTWARE

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in Note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in Note 5 and disclosure
of intangible assets in Note 15 to the consolidated financial

statements.

We identified the impairment of intangible assets related to
subscription accounts and software as disclosed in Note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements as a key audit matter due to
significant management judgment and complex estimation involved
in estimating the recoverable amount of these assets. As disclosed
in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying
value of intangible assets related to subscription accounts and
software amounted to RMB4,938,000 and RMB15,729,000 as at 31

December 2021, respectively.

Determining whether these intangible assets are impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount which is the higher of
the fair value less costs of disposal, or value in use of the cash
generating units (“CGU”) to which the intangible assets have been
allocated. The value in use calculation relies on the management’s
assumptions and estimates of future operating performance of these
subscription accounts and the key data and assumptions applied

by the management in the impairment review are:
o Discount rates; and
o Expected revenue growth rate.

Further details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note 16

to the consolidated financial statements.
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OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to impairment of intangible assets related

to subscription accounts and software included the following:

76 DOUMOB

Understanding and evaluating management’s impairment

assessment on intangible assets;

Obtaining the valuation reports on the CGUs of these
subscription accounts and software prepared by
management’s valuers and evaluating the management’s

valuers’ competence and objectivity;

Discussing with the management’s valuers to understand and
evaluate the appropriateness of their valuation methodology to

determine the recoverable amount;

Checking the management’s data and challenging the
assumptions used in the valuation report by 1) comparing the
inputs with the financial budget approved by the management;
2) assessing the discount rates applied with the support from
external valuations specialists; and 3) comparing expected

revenue growth rate to the Group’s specific information;

Engaging external valuation specialists to assist us
in evaluating management’s impairment assessment
methodology, the key assumptions applied and calculations
contained with reference to the requirements of the prevailing

accounting standards;

Assessing the independent valuer’'s qualifications, experience
and expertise and considered their objectivity and

independence;

Comparing the compound annual growth rates and long term
growth rates adopted in the discounted cash flow forecasts

with historical performance;
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o Comparing the revenue and operating costs included in the
prior year’'s discounted cash flow forecasts with the current
year’'s performance to assess the historical accuracy of
management’s forecasting process and considering the nature

of any significant differences; and

o Performing sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions adopted
in the discounted cash flow forecasts and assessing the
impact of changes in the key assumptions on the conclusions
reached by management and whether there were any

indicators of management bias.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,

or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the

directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.
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obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
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wmRER M ERE R ILARENE
AHRE-AM REXFRABAAELES

s HESAMBHRRWEBRIHZIA &
BMAR (BRKE) AREEMBERR
EERFRREBIZMER -

e o BEEEANERIXBEIDHNUKE
MERGER EENETRE  UEEKE
EMBERREXRERL - EFAAE BEE
BEANIM EENMRT -FERE
ABRRAERMEE-

REMEER)N BEEEBEZZEQEBT AR

MEHBE  HERE EABHERS 2
R E SR P B O E A 0 I E AR

control that we identify during our audit. g o

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

ESENBELZZEERREN HBAEFCH
EEBMBIMMNERERERER  YERS
RARBAUEAEBKASEXETTELIEN
P AR AN B A SR IR A B (fif 5@ F3) AR BB A9 7 88

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. FE 0 o

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

2021 ANNUAL REPORT &£ 79



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B RS

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Wan Che Bun

Practising Certificate no. P05804

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEaREMGMEE KNSR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & Z=2021412A318 It F &

2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt AREFTT AR Fr
Revenue Iy = 6 91,005 90,254
Cost of services Bl 75 BX AN (78,672) (81,518)
Gross profit EF 12,333 8,736
Other income and other net gains/ HgARE gz~
(losses) (E18) 558 7 1,362 1,190
Change in fair value of: NTEEHNARBERE :
— Financial assets at fair value — BARBEFABENTBE
through profit or loss BE 7 (7,323) 1,487
Selling and distribution expenses SHERDHAX (12,567) (11,869)
Administrative expenses THBRAX (101,230) (75,810)
Finance costs AhE B A 8 (131) (53)
Loss before income tax MRETS BB AT 18 9 (107,556) (76,319)
Income tax (expense)/credit iR (AxX), % 10 (1,682) 1,541
Loss for the year FREE (109,238) (74,778)
Loss and total comprehensive DTFTATEEFEFRABAER
income for the year attributable 2HKEARE:
to:
Owners of the Company NABHER A (108,941) (73,753)
Non-controlling interests VTR HE (297) (1,025)
(109,238) (74,778)
Loss per share for the loss AAEHEBEABEEEN
attributable to the owners of the SREE :
Company:
Basic AR RMB(0.048) RMB(0.032)
12(a) ARM(0.048)7T | AR(0.032)T
Diluted s RMB(0.048) RMB(0.032)
12(b) AR #(0.048) T AR #(0.032)7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB AR R R

As at 31 December 2021 720214 12H31H

2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K&t AR¥TFT AR Fr
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE KRB 14 264 5,698
Intangible assets mEE 15 27,912 45,866
Financial assets at fair value BEARBEFABREN
through profit or loss Mg EE 16 16,464 23,828
Non-current other receivables FE 7t B E h FE R IE 21 361 -
Deferred tax assets EERIBE E 18 815 2,412
45,816 77,804
Current assets mEEE
Trade receivables B 5 WA 19 10,596 5,832
Contract assets BHEE 20 5,185 34,363
Deposits, prepayments and other Re - AR FRIE R A R U
receivables HIE 21 29,155 25,571
Amounts due from shareholders JE Uiz A% 3R 3R 0B 22 183 188
Time deposits with original maturity JREIER B A @31E A &Y £ &
over 3 months PEE 23 - 32,622
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEEEY 23 59,002 89,714
104,121 188,290
Current liabilities nEEE
Trade payables B 5 RIE 24 10,734 21,754
Contract liabilities EHEE 6 1,441 4,968
Accruals and other payables FESTE B & E i S 508 25 18,093 12,138
Lease liabilities — current HE&E - R 26 - 2,386
Income tax payable ERAEE 908 850
31,176 42,096
Net current assets REBEEFE 72,945 146,194
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI K

As at 31 December 2021 72021412 H31H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AREFT AR For
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities — non-current HEBE-FRD 26 - 2,440
- 2,440
Net assets BEEFE 118,761 221,558
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves BERK#E
Capital ZZN 27 1,967 1,967
Reserves fEfE 27 116,794 219,383
Equity attributable to owners of AAEEEAEGEES
the Company 118,761 221,350
Non-controlling interests FEEE R RE = - 208
Total equity ERBEE 118,761 221,558
On behalf of the directors RERESE
Yang Bin Fan Zijing
58 ®1E
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREZBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A31H IEFE

Share-
Employee based Non-
Share Capital ~Statutory share  payment  Retained controlling Total
Capital ~ premium*  reserve*  reserve* trusts'  reserve profits'  Sub-total interests equity
HERE
R -2 pid E2 EENAR RE FER 4]
&% RE i R RAER ity Bl it 4 48
RMBU00 RMB100 RMB100 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000
AREFT  ARETT ARETT AREFT  ARETT  AREFI ARETr  AEETL  ARETr  ARETT
(Note a) (Note b) (Note 27(a){vi)) (Note 27(a)vi)
(i) (hie) (Weonaiy) (Baonaln)
At1 January 2020 1202081 81R 1,967 47550 135,330 7,394 - - 106,871 299,112 1233 300,345
Loss and total comprehensive income ERERRAENRES
for the year : . . . . S omm B (0 ()

Contribution to employee share trusts EERRETER - - - - (5.072) - - (5.072) - (5072)

Grant of resticted share units to employees MBS ERARBHRAEL - - - - - 1063 - 1063 - 1,063

Vested shares for share award scheme. ROV B EINEEBRN - - - - 424 (424 - - - -

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 2020128318 R2021%131A 1967 47,550 135,330 1304 (4.648) 639 33,118 21,350 208 21,558

Loss and total comprehensive income EMERRAEMRES

for the year . . . . . S (e%)  (108%41) o (108239)

Contribution to employee share trusts EERMERER - - - - (981) - - (981) - (981)

Grant of restricted share units to employees  MEEEHAZBHRAE - - - - - 733 - 733 - 733

Vested shares for share award scheme. RV #EstSNE SRR - - - - 4578 (4578) - - - -

Disposal of a subsidiary ik - - - - - - - - 8 8

At 31 December 202 HateA 12831 199 a0 1M 78 (106 3% (R 118761 - Tiest

* The total of these amounts as at the reporting dates represents * RmEBH  ZEENLEERAVBM ALK
“Reserves” in the consolidated statements of financial position. Rl fREE] -

Notes: ks

(a)  Share premium account of the Company represents the excess of the (a) ARAHRMDEERESKAGRIBEBLARA
proceeds received over the nominal value of the Company’s share. BRODEENSE -

(b)  Statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit (o) EEREEBREBABFBZEZEFBEKZIMER
for the year of the subsidiaries established in the PRC (based on the AR F AT (ARERM B2 76 BUA E B 5 #HRR)
subsidiaries PRC statutory financial statements) in accordance with BHNSH HEEATREEINZEMNBE R RGFE
the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reach 50% of the fit & A H950% 5 1E © B IEFA R IKEH R AT B8 g
registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve cannot INEA - & BIT5HRE E e o
be reduced except either in setting off the accumulated losses or
increasing capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERTMRNER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z=2021F12A31H L FE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AR For
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMBRERE
Loss before income tax expense MATERFA S AIEE (107,556) (76,319)
Adjustments for: HATSEEL AR
Change in fair value of financial assets at BARBEF ABENUBEERN
fair value through profit or loss RREEE 7,323 (1,487)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 22,911 24,448
Depreciation of property, plant and Mz WERERHITE
equipment 1,882 963
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 5 EBRIB R EEE 3,644 7,240
Impairment loss on contract assets BHREEREEE 22,843 19,5639
Impairment loss on other receivables H th e WK TB R (E B 18 1,330 2,501
Impairment loss on amounts due from JE i B 122 AR 2 SR TE R (B S 18
non-controlling interests - 980
Written off on financial assets BE 7% & EE M8 11,350 =
Written off on property, plant and VI - BB Mk i EE
equipment 1 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BERZEHRZE
equipment (4) -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHBE QR MK (875) =
Loss on disposal of non-controlling interests  H & 3E 4% f% 1 25 80 /&5 18 89 —
Loss on disposal on right of use asset HEFREEENER 26 =
Interest expense FERZ 131 53
Interest income FEKA (934) (3,521)
Realised gain on structure deposit EBUETRE #E RS (160) —
Net foreign exchange loss M H B 18 5 58 952 2,866
Share-based payment expenses LARR 17 7% ZE 5 69 4~ 3R A Bl 32 7,333 1,063
Operating loss before working capital EEESEHAIKLEES
changes (29,714) (21,674)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FE W GRIE L AN (9,913) (298)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets BHEEEM) R (246) 6,335
Increase in deposits, prepayments and Be - TERAFRIE &H b FE YR IE
other receivables 30 (8,196) (7,686)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B S REMNFIE R D) /1800 (11,020) 10,011
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AHERBORD) /8 (3,527) 25
Increase in accruals and other payables FEET & R K B b FE < RRIR IS AN 5,985 2,060
Cash used in from operations KEFFMAES (56,631) (11,227)
Income tax paid EFTEH (33) (172)
Net cash used in operating activities KEFZEMAL S FHE (56,664) (11,399)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A31H IEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AR For
Cash flows from investing activities RETBRERERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment WEEW % - Bz K& &R #& (159) -
Purchases of intangible assets BEEETEE - (2,189)
Payment of development cost for S EREENRERA
intangible assets (4,957) (10,950)
Increase in financial assets at fair value EBEARBEFABENITEEE
through profit or loss 0 - (13,841)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME  BKE RFHEMEHIE
and equipment 1 -
Payment for time deposit in bank X THRTE BAfF R - (42,352)
Realised gain on structure deposit HEEUETERE R WS 160
Redemption of time deposit in bank & B $R17 € Bi1F K 32,299 53,944
Interest income received 2 WFLE WA 865 3,934
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing & &EBFFS, (FTFR)HE L F5E
activities 28,209 (11,454)
Cash flows from financing activities RETEMEEESRE
Payment for lease liabilities THEEEE (1,276) (1,276)
Purchase of shares for restricted share e B X R 1 AR (7 22 Eh &t &1 &9 AR 10
incentive scheme (981) (5,072)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEFZEARSES FE (2,257) (6,348)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRASEENRD FHE
equivalents (30,712) (29,201)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning SHBERBLEEY
of the year 89,714 118,915
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRESRESEEY
the year 59,002 89,714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A31H I FE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26
March 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies laws Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands.
The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 14 March 2019. The addresses of Company’s
registered office is located at the office of Walkers Corporate
Limited, 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman
KY1-9008, Cayman lIslands. The Company’s principal place
of business is located in the People Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
Company collectively refer to as the “Group”) are provision of

online advertising services and other sales services.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS

2.1 Adoption of new and revised standards — effective
on 1 June 2020

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
has issued a number of new or amended Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (the “HKFRSs”) and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (the “HKASs”) that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Covid-19- Related Rent

Concessions

The new or amended HKFRSs and HKASs that are
effective from 1 June 2020 did not have any significant

impact on the Group’s accounting policies.

—REH
RARM2018F3A26 B IREBEF S B S
PlE228E R ERHASHEEMAILA
EHRRBR NG - AR AN2019F3H 14
ARBEBAERZMAERAE £ - K
A A 8 7 i 3% = B2 A Walkers Corporate
Limited® ## A = » # 4F £190 Elgin
Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman
KY1-9008, Cayman Islands ° 2K A &] £
FTELSEMBURPEARLFE ([F
B]) -

ARAMEBEBEDH /REZEK - M
HB AR CERARARGEAIAEE])
MIBXBEHR/RERLESRE R
H A 35 & RT5 ©

ERAHTREEBIEEMBREE
2l

21 R RETEBUBREE
Bl — 520206 A1H AN

BREMASERMATRAS
EER et MR ERERNEER
BEVBREEN((BEMBRS
EH ) REBGFER((BEER
ER]) :

EBCT A FEI9  FIREEKRS

5% BAMB®RE - FoRER
XRIFEA5 - BAM
R ELRIETH -
& 7S B 1% 3R & 2E Rl
o5 R B M 75
X8 F165E A S
Gl

BEMB@MELRA  Covid-19418 7
E165RMIEE] iAW

H2020F6 A1 H B AWM ZFEE
ARSI RELENEAEENS
BRI EEMERTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A31H IEFE

2.2 New standards, interpretations and amendments not

22 CHEMEMKRERPTFT KB
BFREMKRELER

VATR i R AE 2 B 3 BN 72 B S R
RIEFRAFMTLER - BERERT
1 & S AT BE R B AN SR BUOR R B 75 8

adopted early in these financial statements, will or *®:

yet effective

The following new standards, interpretations and
amendments, which are not yet effective for the current

accounting period of the Group and have not been

may have an effect on the Group’s future financial

statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent ERBBREED  202156830H%EH

concessions beyond 30 F16HMEFT Covid-19{8 @A &
June 2021’ BEg'
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost ARG EREY BEESH-BERSE
of Fulfilling a Contract® SFHEE B AR
Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended BB e ERE16  RERTEARAMNAM
Use? HRER] (EF
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1 BRMBRELL  BIRAMEREE
HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle  First-time Adoption of 20185 22020  RIE1REREMN
Hong Kong Financial BHNEESE AR mEE
Reporting Standards, 8l BEMBRE
HKFRS 9 Financial EHEORERMT
Instruments, HKFRS 16 A FEHMBRE
Leases and HKAS 41 ERIE165EE R
Agriculture? 5B B AT R 41
REE
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the ERUBEREED  ERFLSHRED
Conceptual Framework?® EIRMEE]
HKFRS 17 and Amendments Insurance Contracts® ERMBMEEDN RRAL®
to HKFRS 17 FIRREEHR
BREERET
SREVERT
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities BRI ENEIN SBAGAREYIE
as Current or Non-current® R ET ik

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting ERQRIE1RE SHRERE

HKFRS Practice Statement  Policies® BB IEmEE
AIEBRENE
&l
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting EHEQHERNFLYE eH{nER’
Estimates® BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z=2021F12A31H L FE

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction®

HK Interpretation 5 (2021) Presentation of
Financial Statements
— Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand

Clause®
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution
and HKAS 28 of Assets between

an Investor and its
Associate or Joint

Venture*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2021 with earlier application permitted.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the
sale or contribution of assets occurring in annual periods
beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The Group is not yet in a position to state whether these
new pronouncements will result in substantial changes
to the Group’s accounting policies and financial

statements.

BAMBREEN REFEHBENT
& Z

40 B B B R B BT S A AT
& TS HOR £ B R R B
BELBEAS

BETEAFE12 RE-QFELENE
SEAER] ERAERENE

B

EARBESH BBRE 2518
(2021%) FABBERREL

EBRETZEHE
Rz niE

FI0RREEE RELRZHER
TR 2855 ) BELER TS

fE&]

MR2021F4 1B K2 BRI FE
BRI AR - BRI M o

R2022F 1 A1B 2 BB FE
HAR A R -
R2023F1A1A R Z B FHKRNFE
BRI A o

ERIARMERHERAREFERS
ERARCRARFEHREENE
EHEXER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A31H IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1

3.2

90 DOUMOB

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosure required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for film and
drama investments and unlisted equity investments,
which are stated at their fair values and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except
when otherwise indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and other factors,
actual results may ultimately different from those
estimates. The areas involving higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated

financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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3.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A31H I FE

3.3

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
incurred loss of RMB109,238,000 and the net cash used
in operating activities amounted to RMB56,664,000,
these conditions may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Nevertheless, these consolidated financial statements
were prepared based on the assumption that the Group
is able to operate as a going concern and the directors
of the Company are of the view that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and fulfil its financial obligations as and when they fall
due based on a cash flow Forecast covering a period
from the end of the reporting period to 30 June 2023
(“Cash Flow Forecast”). The Forecast was prepared
with the considerations of a series measures that aim
at improving profitability including such as relocation
of office for lower rental, implementation of other cost
control measures for cost efficiency and exploring new
business for better profit margin.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is same as the presentation currency of
the consolidated financial statements.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”). Inter-company transactions
and balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case

the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates
of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

3.3

REZE2021F12A31B ILFE * &
£ B 815 B 1B A R 109,238,000
L MEEFHMARSFEAA
R #56,664,0007T * Ith & 15 % 7] A&
BHHAEEBELENENESL
BARM A » AERE FERE
TR A S B A #H B E N BER MR
Bl ARBREZERAE ASEKE
TREBESIERBRHEEES I
ARAEYIEE T2 B T ARBIT
It 75 B 15 O% 2 $ S B K £20234F6
A30H B MR £ R TR ([ 7%
TER D) B - ZBAIREEE E &
—ZRIERERSAEFENNER
BREBRBRAZUREKREES B
H A B A4 48 e DA R i AR AN SR R
ARBRAFTEBARSFIEE -

EERZIEH
ARBNNEEERARKE (TAR
¥ BRAMBHRERNZIEE
IR e

4. EREFHEE

4.1

EBEHREHER

REMBHRREEARTRENE
RAE([REED NP BRE - £E
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R B R B 3R N R AR & B 7% i
REBBEE REREBEBRT TN
Hif BRFEXZBEERBTAEZR
MEELTRE EUHBERT B
BeaniBRPER -

FRACUBRHEMNBRARMNES
SHERBRESERHEELEAS
1 (RIBERAME) it AfRE 2 E MK S
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HAREEMKE RFMEAE—
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A31H IEFE

92 DOUMOB

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted
for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquire is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or
losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group
may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are

deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition
date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability are

recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or

liabilities were disposed of.
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4.2

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount
of those interests at initial recognition plus such
non-controlling interest’'s share of subsequent changes
in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed
to such non-controlling interests even if this results in

those non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of

control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the Company
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee without holding the majority of the
voting rights. In determining whether de-facto control
exists the Company considers all relevant facts and

circumstances, including:

. The size of the Company’s voting rights relative to
both the size and dispersion of other parties who
hold voting rights;

o Substantive potential voting rights held by the

Company and other parties who hold voting rights;
. Other contractual arrangements; and
. Historic patterns in voting attendance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend

received and receivable.
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4.3

94 DOUMOB

Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on

the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of
assets. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually, by
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount (see Note 4.14), and whenever there is an

indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of
the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount to each asset in the
unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will not
reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below
its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its
value in use (if determinable), whichever is the higher.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit

or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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4.4

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods, or
for administrative purposes as described below, other
than construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the

financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost or valuation net of expected residual
value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as

follows:

Right-of-use asset Over the unexpired term

of lease
Furniture, fixtures and 3 -5 years
office equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years
Computers 3 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s

estimated recoverable amount.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned

assets, or where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.
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The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in

profit or loss on disposal.
Leases
The Group as a lessee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over

the lease term.
Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate
of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group has leased a number of properties under
tenancy agreements. The right-of-use asset arising from
such properties under tenancy agreements are carried

at depreciated cost.
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Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s

incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date of the lease are considered
to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable: (ii) variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii)
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of
a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain
to exercise that option and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the

lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the

underlying asset.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at the
date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over

their useful lives as follows:

Software 3to 5 years

Subscription accounts 3 years
Film script license right Shorter of expected
pattern of consumption

and remaining useful life

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The
amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss and

included in administrative expenses.

Internally generated intangible assets (research and
development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is

capitalised if it can be demonstrated that:

o it is technically feasible to develop the product for
it to be sold;
° adequate resources are available to complete the

development;

o there is an intention to complete and sell the
product;

. the Group is able to sell the product;

o sale of the product will generate future economic

benefits; and expenditure on the project can be

measured reliably.
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Capitalised development costs are amortised over
the periods the Group expects to benefit from selling
the products developed. The amortisation expense
is recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of

sales.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above
criteria and expenditure on the research phase of
internal projects are recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.
Impairment

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that they may be
impaired. Intangible assets are tested for impairment by
comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable

amounts (see Note 4.14).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as revaluation decrease to the extent of its

revaluation surplus.
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Financial Instruments

()

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without
a significant financing component is initially

measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the

market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of

principal and interest.
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group

classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or

loss.
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Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”"):
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income,
as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or

significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

The Group has certain investments in film and
drama projects which entitle the Group to receive
a fixed and/or variable income based on the
Group’s investment amount and/or expected rate
of return as specified in the respective agreement
of film and drama investments. All film and drama
investments which give rise to cash flows that are
not solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding are stated at fair

value through profit or loss.
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(i)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment's fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value.
Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss
unless the dividend income clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments
are classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in
fair value, dividends and interest income are

recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables,
contract assets, financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either
of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these
are the ECLs that result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the reporting
date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument. The
maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over

which the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’

original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including

forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrate otherwise.
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(iii)

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criteria is more appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the

gross carrying amount.
Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised costs
are initially measured at fair value, net of directly

attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial

recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities

held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.
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Where a contract contains one or more embedded HMEeEdBE—ITEk% AR A
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may XPTET R B EHEST

be designated as a financial liability at fair BHAREEEBZALETA
BEamiBsaE ik AR
METAHRERELES
AR AEE IEHR AR
METESEBAKRMIBER A
BRAN o

Financial liabilities may be designated upon MEANUNTEE BB aE
ROFERBAHEERRR
AEFFAEZR  ()VEBEEHE
B 31 K B8 R R dk BR T R B %
FEAGEEERER NS

FEBERESEN T —BE
or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the BERL: (NVAEAR—MHEUMK
BEMNEKSES  MEMEE
&R 75 BT E 2 B B 38 5 R 1R
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance NABEETEENRFERR

(i BEERSAEBA

value through profit or loss, except where the
embedded derivative does not significantly modify
the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the

embedded derivative is prohibited.

initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss if the following criteria are met: (i) the
designation eliminates or significantly reduces the
inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise

from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains

liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities

which are managed and their performance

with a documented risk management strategy; or

(iii) the financial liability contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be separately

recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for the gains and losses
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are
presented in other comprehensive income with
no subsequent reclassification to the statement
of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial

liabilities.
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(iv)

(v)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables, borrowings, certain
preference shares and the debt element of
convertible loan note issued by the Group are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest

expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the amortisation process.
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a

shorter period.
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622,
came into operation on 3 March 2014. Under
the Ordinance shares of the Company do not
have a nominal value. Consideration received
or receivable for the issue of shares on or after
3 March 2014 is credited to share capital.
Commissions and expenses are allowed to be
deducted from share capital under s. 148 and
s. 149 of the Ordinance.
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(vi)

(vii)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because
a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the original or modified
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issue of the
financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the loss allowance, being the ECL provision
measured in accordance with principles of the
accounting policy set out in 4.7(ii); and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance
with the principles of HKFRS 15.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is

discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued
are the consideration paid and are recognised
initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof
is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to reflect the
fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or

loss for the year.
Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after

deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over

time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and

consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer

controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right

to payment for performance completed to date.
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If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For contracts where
the period between the payment and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of
a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(i)  Provision of online advertising services

The Group’s principal services are the provision
of online advertising services. The Group utilises
a combination of pricing models and revenue
is recognised when the related services are
delivered based on the specific terms of the

contract, which are commonly based on:

(a) Specified actions (i.e. cost per action
(“CPA”) and related campaign budgets,
depending on the advertisers’ preferences

and their campaigns launched), or

(b) Agreed rebates to be earned from certain

media publishers.
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The amount of revenue the Group recognises from
the provision of advertising services is affected
by the Group’s role under each particular contract
with customers. For contracts where the Group
acts as principal, the Group recognises revenue
on a gross basis while for contracts where the
Group acts as agent, the Group recognises
revenue on a net basis. For further details on
the Group’s revenue recognition policy in this
respect, see “Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements — Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies”. The combination of the
Group’s revenue from the provision of advertising
services measured by the portion of revenue
recognised on a gross basis and net basis, does
not impact the Group’s gross and net profit but
will affect the Group’s gross margin and net

margin.
Specified actions

The Group has determined that it acts as the
principal of these arrangements and therefore
recognised revenue earned and costs incurred
related to these transactions on a gross basis.
Revenue is recognised on a CPA basis once
agreed actions (download, activation, registration
and etc.) are performed. While none of the factors
individually are considered presumptive or
determinative, because the Group is the primary
obligor and are responsible for (1) identifying and
contracting with third-party advertisers which the
Group views as customers; (2) identifying media
publishers to provide online advertising spaces
where the Group views the media publishers as
suppliers; (3) establishing the selling prices of
CPA pricing model; (4) performing all billing and
collection activities, including retaining credit risk;
and (5) bearing sole responsibility for fulfillment
of the advertising. Under this arrangement, the
Group records the rebates earned from the
media publishers as a reduction of cost of sales.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time basis

when the customer obtains control of the services.
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(ii)

Agreed rebates to be earned from certain media
publishers

In the arrangement with certain media publishers,
the Group acts as an agent, rather than a
principal for these media publishers by having
marketing clients market with this publisher.
Media publishers grant to the Group rebates in
the form of cash based on contractually stipulated
amounts once certain spending thresholds are
achieved. The Group considers these particular
media publishers as customers and reports
revenue earned and cost incurred related to these
transactions as a net basis, and recognises the
amount of rebates granted by media publishers
as revenue. Rebates from these media publishers
are calculated on a quarterly or an annual basis
in accordance with the terms as agreed in
arrangements. Revenue is recognised at a point
in time basis when the customer obtains control of

the services.
Provision of online sales services

Revenue from online sales services is recognised
at a point in time basis upon delivery of goods
sold which is based on agreed commission with

customers.
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(iii) SaaS services offering

(iv)

(v)

The Group offers SaaS services (Software as
a Service) which is a cloud-based software
and related services to subscribed merchants
(i.e. customers). SaaS revenue includes fixed
subscription fees and additional cloud service
fees Fixed subscription fees are generally
recognised over time on a rateable basis over
the contract term beginning on the date that the
service is made available to customer. The Group
charges the customers variable cloud services
fees that is generally calculated based on number
of transactions processed through the SaaS

platform.

All subscribed merchants have signed contracts
with the Group and pay full subscription fees in
advance. The portion that underlying SaaS not
yet provided to subscribe merchants at end of
reporting period are recognised as “contract
liabilities”.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest

rate.
Other sales income from electrical appliances

Customers obtain control of the electrical
appliances when the electrical appliances are
accepted. Revenue from the other sales is thus
recognised at point in time basis upon when the
customers accept the electrical appliances. There
is generally only one performance obligation.
The Group recognises revenue from other sales
on net basis as its revenue for selling electrical
appliances where the Group acts as agent are
provided by other suppliers to the customers.

Invoices are usually payable within 30 days.
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Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are deducted in reporting the related expense or
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted the grant in calculating the
carrying amount of the asset that is recognised in profit
or loss over the life of a depreciable asset as a reduced
depreciation expense. An unconditional government
grant is recognised in profit or loss as other revenue

when the grant becomes receivable.
Income tax

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and

deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner
in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability
is realised or settled and that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or when they
relate to items recognised directly in equity in which

case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.
Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the Company/group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s) (the
“functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling
when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at
the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in

other comprehensive income.
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On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Renminbi) at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions
took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign
operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve (attributed to minority interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of
group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the foreign
exchange reserve relating to that operation up to the
date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part

of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are

recognised in the foreign exchange reserve.
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4.12 Employee benefits

116 DOUMOB

(a)

(b)

Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees

render the related service.
Defined contribution retirement plan

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the
PRC government, the Group participates in a
central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government (the “Scheme”), whereby
the subsidiary of the Company in the PRC is
required to contribute a certain percentage of the
basic salaries of its employees to the Scheme
to fund their retirement benefits. The local
municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of the subsidiary
of the Company. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the Scheme is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to
profit or loss as incurred. There are no provisions
under the Scheme whereby forfeited contributions

may be used to reduce future contributions.
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4.13

(c) Housing funds, medical insurances and other

social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled
to participate in various government- supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year. Contributions
to the housing funds, medical insurances and

other social insurances are expensed as incurred.
(d) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group provides share-based compensation benefits
to employees via its restricted share incentive schemes,
which are managed under a Trusts. Information relating

to the schemes is set out in Note 28.

The fair value of restricted shares granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share-based payment reserve within equity.
The fair value of restricted shares is measured at
grant date using the market price of the Company’s
shares. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the restricted shares, the total estimated fair value of
the restricted shares is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the restricted

shares will vest.
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At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of award shares that are
expected to vest. The impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised

estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of restricted
shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
share-based payment reserve within equity). The equity
amount related to restricted shares is recognised in
share-based payment reserve until the restricted shares
become vested and is settled against employee share

trusts.
Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists

or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment under cost model;
o intangible assets;

o goodwill; and

o investments in subsidiaries (except for those

classified as held for sale or included in a

disposal group that is classified as held for sale)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any

indication of impairment.
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If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a

revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a

revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit (see Note 4.3), discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating

unit.
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Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of

economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.
Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the

Group’s major product lines.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
directors assess segment profit or loss by gross profit

or loss as measured in HKFRSs financial statements.

For the purpose of presenting geographical location
of the Group’s revenue from external customers and
the Group’s non-current assets, country of domicile
is determined by reference to the country where the

majority of the Company’s subsidiaries operate.
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4.17 Related parties

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel

of the Group or the Company'’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the

other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the

Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or

of a parent of the entity).
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(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Company'’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity and include:

(i that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

(iiy  children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse

or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to

be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.
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(i)

(ii)

Principal versus agent considerations — revenue

from provision of online advertising services

In determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the provision of online
advertising services requires judgements and
considerations of all relevant facts and circumstances.
The Group is a principal in a transaction if the Group
obtains control of services provided before they are
transferred to customers. If control is unclear, when the
Group is primarily obligated in a transaction, and has
latitude in establishing prices and selecting publishers,
or has several but not all of these indicators, the Group
records revenues on a gross basis. Otherwise, the
Group records the net amount earned as commissions

from services provided.

Principal versus agent considerations — revenue

from provision of other sales of electrical appliances

During the year, the Group has commenced the
business of selling electrical appliances whereby
the Group enters into sale contracts with its
customers in the PRC and purchase contracts with
its suppliers in the PRC. The Group sources for and
sells electrical appliances that suit the customers’
specific requirements as stated in the sale contracts.
Management considers that the Group does not bear
price and inventory risks with regard to the electrical
appliances as the sale contract terms, including the
selling prices for the goods, are agreed upon after
taking into consideration the prevailing market prices
of the electrical appliances and the Group does not
obtain control of the goods before they are sold to the

customers.
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Management of the Group considers that the Group
is acting as an agent in these sale transaction with
the customers because it does not obtain control of
the electrical appliances before they are sold to the
customers and therefore, net amounts of the sales
and cost of sales of these indent trading transactions
were recorded as services income. In determining
whether the Group is acting as a principal or as an
agent, management is required to exercise significant
judgement and to consider all relevant facts and

circumstances of this trading business.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

()

(ii)

124 DOUMOB

Depreciation and amortisation

The Group depreciates the property, plant and
equipment and amortises intangible assets in
accordance with the accounting policies stated in Notes
4.4 and 4.6 respectively. The estimated useful lives
reflect the directors’ estimates of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from
the use of these assets. The management reassesses
the estimated useful lives at the end of each of the

reporting period.

Impairment of trade and other receivables and
contract assets

The impairment of trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected credit loss rates. The Group
adopts judgement in making these assumption and
selecting inputs for computing such impairment loss,
broadly based on the available customers’ historical
data, existing market conditions including forward

looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables and impairment
losses in the periods in which such estimate has been

changed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A31H I FE

(iii) Estimates of current tax and deferred tax

(iv)

Significant judgment is required in determining the
amount of the provision for tax and the timing of
payment of the related tax. Where the final tax outcomes
are different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such

determination is made.
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end
of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
of cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash

flows.

(iii) BUR %R R AF i % 7R 49 14 &1

(iv)

REEVAREN B RATIER
T IR O s P B 7R 1 R R IR - i
RERBEARENBCHENERE
PRt RERSEEELZETE
HAR WY P 1S 1 SR FE B TR B4 -

H R EERE

REREHRR  AEESFEME
FUVBEERTEEARBELR -
BB PR KA R MEEN E AR & 5
B RV BEESETRERM -
EEEYRRCELEUNKRE SR
BEE AW E S5 (BE QR ER
HEXRAREREEREFTNRS
B)R - AFERE - 2ABRDE
ERARBZEAFRAETEELD
RONBUEEHERHMENH
BRABEMSERRELERE
WIZERAMAE - E5TEEAE
B EEEAMGHBEHRRRE
BESRSELEMUNRSRE
R EZEEMMERERFEZER
EREMBE -
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(v) Fair value measurement

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss utilises
market observable inputs and data as far as possible.
Inputs used in determining fair value measurements
are categorised into different levels based on how
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique

utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’):

o Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for

identical items (unadjusted);

o Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other

than Level 1 inputs;

o Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised

in the period they occur.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by chief operating decision maker.
The chief operating decision maker, who has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company, is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the

operating segments.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of online
advertising services and other sales services in the PRC.
Management reviews the operating results of the business as
two operating segments to make decisions about resources to
be allocated. Therefore, the chief operating decision maker of
the Company regards that there are two segments which are

used to make strategic decisions.

The major operating entities of the Group are domiciled in the
PRC. Accordingly, all of the Group’s revenue were derived in
the PRC.

All of the non-current assets were located in the PRC.
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All the Group's revenue is derived from contracts with AREENMAERSHREEEFEINH
ER - -KaETERREREFELESRE
REMEERBOMERIE - REEEH
Z20214F %2020 12318 1k~ A 1%
FRIE SO RESITIT ¢

customers. Revenue mainly comprises of proceeds from online
advertising services and other sales services. An analysis of
the Group’s revenue by category for the six months ended 31

December 2021 and 2020 was as follows:

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WZERAD
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT
Reportable segment revenue from REEREFIIZHNEHNZ
contract with customers CE =k e
Online advertising services R EEE RS 90,921 89,048
Online sales services B EHE RS - 1,206
Other sales services H th 8 5 AR 15 84 =
91,005 90,254
Reportable segment loss A RE D EBE A
Online advertising services R EBEE R (10,662) (12,262)
Online sales services R EIHE RS - 939
Other sales services H th 8 B AR TS 84 -
(10,578) (11,323)
Reconciliation of reportable AmE D HEENE R
segment profit or loss
Reportable segment loss AIRE D EBEE (10,578) (11,323)
Other income and other net gains H At YA R H At o a5 0% BE (5,961) 2,677
Central administration costs AR SR 1T AR AN (90,886) (67,620)
Finance costs L= N (131) (58)
Consolidated loss before income tax KPS HAI4R A B8 (107,556) (76,319)
Timing of revenue recognition KSR
At a point in time A I {1E B 5] 26 87,208 90,224
Over time R—EBREEA 3,797 30
91,005 90,254
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The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes AEBHEEZTILNELE MR
three customers with whom transactions have exceeded B E2021F12A31B IEFE - H=
10% of the Group’s revenues for the year ended 31 HEF (2020%F : MB) MR 5 FEHE
December 2021 (2020: two). Revenues from these AARERRFENION - KEZER
customers are set out below. FPH AT o
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR For
Customer A BEA 23,090 N/AZ 3 F3
Customer B ZFB 22,178 N/AZ &
Customer C =FEC 11,872 14,533
Customer D ZFED N/AF & fA* 31,309
57,140 45,842
* represents that the amount of revenue from that customer & ERAZBRPFHKZRERNRZEE
is less than 10% of the total revenue of that year. WK AAEEA10% ©
(b) Assets recognised from incremental costs to obtain (b) BMEMEHNFEEEEREERN
a contract BE
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, #H £20214F Kk2020F12831H 1k
there was no significant incremental costs to obtain a FE BEAEDRAOMELAEK
contract. R o
(c) Details of contract liabilities (c) BRERBHE
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related AEBEREAUNTEHKSEBNS
contract liabilities: HEE :
2020
20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR Fr
Contract liabilities (Note) aRBERZ) 1,441 4,968
Note: The contract liabilities represented the aggregate amount Hlat -  AHBEEIBEEREHRKTK
of the transaction price allocated to the performance BHBEENRZGERERE AEH
obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the EHIRERATHKBHNEEINRS
reporting period. The Group expects the transaction price BIREBER—ERER A -

allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations will
be recognised as revenue in one year.
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()

Significant changes in contract liabilities () BHEEEALE
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from AEENASHNEBETIENRH
the advance payments made by customers while EEMIEANZIE - MAEER
the underlying services are yet to be provided. oA ZE8EEZE
Such liabilities increase as a result of the growth RNEBHEMEER ML -
of the Group’s business.
The following table shows how much of the TRBATRAREHRNERZHD
revenue recognised in the current reporting period WHREEEEANBENSE
carried-forward contract liabilities:
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AE#®For
Balance at 1 January ®1A1H M4 &k 4,968 4,943
Decrease in contract liabilities as  AFRNERT AFEHTE L
a result of recognising revenue B E MU 8 B
during the year that was included & X8 & 4
in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (4,213) (2,743)
Increase in contract liabilities as ~ FE B4R FEEES
a result of billing in advance of BHEREMBRH G L
online advertising activities B EE M 686 2,768
Balance at 31 December K12 A31H 8 4 & 1,441 4,968
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7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS/ 7. HtsiAREMKE (&HEB)F

(LOSSES) L

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥EFT AREFr

Interest income FE A 934 3,521

Realised gain on disposal of structure  HEAB T HHE &1 e

deposit 160 -
Fair value (loss)/gain on film investment | X EMN AL E (BE) Uz

(Note 17) (HiaE17) (5,700) 353
Fair value (loss)/gain on unlisted equity FFEMAEREN QAL E (E1B)

investment (Note 17) Wz (K1aE17) (617) 947
Fair value (loss)/gain on unlisted equity i #5528 1 00 3E - IR HEIR & &Y

investments with put options ARE(EE)

(Note 17)) (HtaE17) (1,006) 187
Government grants (Note i) BRI # B (K a£(i)) - 563
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary o E — W E A R /K as 875 -
Exchange (loss)/gain, net &5 (E518) W F 58 (952) (3,468)
Others HApth 345 574

(5,961) 2,677
Note (i) Government grants mainly represent tax subsidy on various Kit(): BEHBEEZEARTEZEEMNRIERN
tax paid and industry incentive in the PRC. TRIE 4 B R AT SR B2 o
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RBERA
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AR For
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGNFE 131 53
131 58]
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9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. KRAMEBMAXAERE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging the BETISHATE BRI A TSEEZSE
following:
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARBTFT
Auditors’ remuneration 1% AN B & 1,680 2,050
Amortisation of intangible assets ER A ERE (M)
(Note i) 22,911 24,448
Research and development R
expenditure 4,092 2,233
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEREEITE
equipment 1,882 963
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 5 EWGRIBREEE
(Note 19) (H1:#19) 3,644 7,240
Impairment loss on contract assets BREEMERBE
(Note 20) (HizE20) 22,843 19,539
Impairment loss on other receivables H b & W R IE R (B &5 18
(Note 21) (HtiE21) 1,330 2,501
Written off on financial assets B 75 & EE 8 11,350 =
Impairment loss on amounts due from  J& U JF 22 B % 25 20 0B R (B
non-controlling interests &8 - 980
Short term lease expense EHAERX 473 948
Staff costs (including directors’ BEIXRA(BEEEME) :
emoluments):
— Salaries, wages and other benefits -FHe ITERHEMEF 30,722 23,931
— Retirement scheme contribution — RIRETEI 3R 2,965 1,229
33,687 25,160

Note:

(i) Amortisation of intangible assets was included in “cost of sales”

and “administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated

statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Aet
(i)

BVEERHENGAaRA M EEKE
RAFTATHERA ] RITTHRRAX]
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10. INCOME TAX 10. Fi8#H

2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR Fr

Current tax B HA B 15
Tax for the current year AEERIE 85 29

Deferred tax B FE R IR
Charged/(credited) to loss for the year 1Bk, (5t A) FEREE 1,597 (1,570)
1,682 (1,541)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman

Islands.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the Group is

not subject to any income tax in the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Under the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “CIT Law”),
which became effective on 1 January 2008, the Group’s PRC
entities are subject to income tax at a rate of 25%, unless

otherwise specified.

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable tax
rate on the estimated assessable profits for the year, based
on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof. The general corporate income tax rate in PRC
is 25%. Two subsidiaries of the Group in PRC was approved
as High and New Technology Enterprise, and is subjected to

a preferential income tax rate of 15% in 2021 (2020: Two).

5 years tax free period has been granted by local tax authority

to certain subsidiaries in PRC since 2017.

132 DOUMOB E BRI AR T

RERESHEESNRAURZEZR ~AEEHH
ARMRERENEMMER -

BREEBRLBEESNREER K&
BB ARG LA S ERPTEH -

AR ANEBRE E2021F12A318 IEF
EEEBIEFAERT R A - B3 &
A B F ST IR B (20204 : #&) -

B AR 200851 A 18 4 B & B 1 ¥ P
SEE(REMEHED  BRSEEH
SN ANEE ) R B E BB IR B R25% M
METERL o

AN £ B 3 R B A b TS RTHIR MO FT 1S R B
BIHIRBIETAG  EHERERELH
FRNGFTERD AN IZERBEGTE -
REIR —REEMERER2E% - K&
M H)  FE P B B A B R Rl A = T
iy 46 28 - 720214 A] 2 18 B E15%
METB R (20204F : M) °

H2017F R ETHEMNBAREWH
TRISHERAHE Mo R FIHA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z=2021F12A31H L FE

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the

loss before income tax per the consolidated statements of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FAMBHAUESZABEEREME2EK
BRANBAEHAXABEEERNT

2021 2020

20214 20204F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FTT ARTFT

Loss before income tax BTSSR RIEE (107,556) (76,319)
Tax calculated at the rates applicable 1% B % 1% & 8 [& N 3%
to profits in the tax jurisdictions BANTEFENTIE

concerned (25,428) (17,406)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A 3154 B % 00 i 715 2 &

for tax purposes 22,205 17,765
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEARBTBANTEZE

tax purposes (244) (859)

Tax effect of temporary difference ERERATREENT BT E

recognised (1,597) (1,570)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7 #& A% T8 5 18 B Fi 75 52 22 1,577 =

Tax effect of PRC preferential tax rate ~ R EEBREFRNHGTE 5,084 -

PRC withholding tax on interest income 7| 5 Yg A &) A B8 78 40 %% 85 29

Income tax expense/(credit) FisBiM% (%) 1,682 (1,541)

11. DIVIDENDS

11.

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

RS

EETERRNHEIRE £2021F12A4
318 IFFEHRE (20204 : ) -
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12. LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

134 DOUMOB

Basic

The calculation of basic loss per share for 2021 is
based on the loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of RMB108,941,000 and the weighted average
of 2,279,880,000 ordinary shares in issue during the
year ended 31 December 2021, excluding the unvested
restricted shares of the Company under share award

scheme which comprise:

(i) 13,293,401 ordinary shares repurchased under
share award scheme throughout the year ended
31 December 2021.

(i) 40,618,691 ordinary shares vested during the year
for share award scheme.

The calculation of basic loss per share for 2020 is
based on the loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of RMB75,753,000 and the weighted average
of 2,291,196,000 ordinary shares in issue during the
year ended 31 December 2020, excluding the unvested
restricted shares of the Company under share award

scheme which comprise:

(i) 42,949,678 ordinary shares repurchased under
share award scheme throughout the year ended
31 December 2020; and

CBENMBRAERAF

12. BREE

(a)

2R

201EBREARABER DB R
RRARBEBAELEEBEEARE
108,941,0007T % LA & 2021412
A318 1IEFE2,279,880,000/% E %
TEBEROINEFLDEE 6
FIRBR D REFHEIE AR E A
FEXREIRD  EREE

(i) #ZE2021F12H31H |F & #
FEREBERMDEEEED
7913,293, 401 L@ &

(i) ERHREBFEMmREANS
B 140,618,691 % 3@ A% °

2020F BIRE AR E B IR EBEA A A
A AEGEE AR %75,753,000
TLBR A B Z=2020F 12 A318 IEF &
2,291,196,0000% 2 2 17 & i AR &Y 1N
EEHHFTE  TRERERG 2
BhET 211 T AR 8 /K 5B X R
f&fn - & EIE -
(i) & =2020912A318 1k # #
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z=2021F12A31H L FE

(b)

(i) 3,529,916 ordinary shares vested during the year

for share award scheme.

o

(i ERHREBEIMREANS
B 193,529,916/% & /@ i%

2021 2020
20215 20204
Loss attributable to RRARHEE AELEE
the owners of the Company (AR¥For)
(RMB’000) (108,941) (73,753)
Weighted average number B 17 E B AR Nt
of ordinary shares in issue EHE(FK)
(thousand shares) 2,279,880 2,291,196
Basic loss per share attributable N2 & #E A A B &
to the owners of the Company AEAREE
(RMB per share) (ZRAEKIT) (0.048) (0.032)
Diluted (b) #58

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential

ordinary shares.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Company had potential ordinary shares of unvested
restricted shares of the Company. The potential ordinary
shares were not included in the calculation of diluted
loss per share, as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020 is the same as basic loss

per share of the respective year.

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2020 is the same as the basic earnings per
share as there is no dilutive potential ordinary shares in

existence during the respective year.

SEREEBRTERAFBRITEIN
ERBRNINEFHEGE  UERR
BRMEEESE ST R

H 20214 k2020128318 &
FE ARABEEERFEB R
RDREEELRK - BHRFTATR
BB ARBENE BHRGE
BREEEBRRETETAEBEL R
f% - At - B Z=20214 K 2020F 12
A31H IEFE 8 & %858 &8t 48
AEENERERNEEMER -

RN A 2020612831 H IEFEL
mABTEHERENET AR HE
IS S5 2 1| AR R R ) B AR E R
B AFE[RE e
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 13. EERTETHAENMER AN
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEEHAL
INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEMS
Details of directors’ emoluments for the years ended H E20214F 20204 | F £ & = B
2021 and 2020 are as follows: SFBWOT ¢

Salaries,

allowance Retirement

and benefits-  Discretionary scheme

in-kind bonuses  contributions
F& BER
BENA G BMEREA  BRKGHEER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT

Year ended 31 December 2021 B 220215128310

LEE
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Yang Bin (Note (ii) I s (W) 812 1,126 100 % 2,128
Mr. Huang Kewang (Note (iii)) Bk (W) 74 480 60 67 681
Ms. Luo Yanhong (Note (iv)) BEALTL (W) 29 M - 22 162
Mr. Meng Dawei (Note (vi)) BRREE (W) 4 1,178 - 90 1,339
Ms. Fan Zijing (Note (vi) B EL L (i) 7 21 2% 50 407
Non-executive director FHITEE
Mr. Liu Ailun (Note (viii)) Bt 5ok (Mt vii) 20 - - - 20

Independent non-executive director BV #iTEE

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Note (ix)) WRAE X S A (it (ix)) 166 - - - 166
Mr. Liu Binghai (Note (x)) AmEREWHK) 165 - - - 165
Mr. Wang Yingzhe (Note (ix)) FERAKE (W it(ix) 166 - - - 166
Mr. Zhang Xuehuo (Note (xi)) REW L& (M) 2 - - - 2

1,576 3,156 185 319 5,236
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Salaries,
allowance Retirement
and benefits- Discretionary scheme
Fees in-kind bonuses contributions Total
54 2UR
ik ENFlE RERA  RKGHEIRE E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEFL ANEEFIL ANEEFL AREFIL ANEEFT
Year ended 31 December 2020  EZ2020512A31A
LLEE
Executive director HTEE
Mr. Yang Bin (Note (ii)) BRI (H20) 106 1116 99 34 1,355
Mr. Huang Kewang (Note (iii)) Bk (A1) 106 635 59 32 832
Ms. Luo Yanhong (Note (iv)) BRALTL (W) 80 339 - 19 438
Ms. Zhou Zoe (Note (v)) Zhou ZoeZ £ (fi#(v) 32 161 - - 193
Non-executive director FHTEF
Ms. Wang Ge (Note (vii)) TRLL (W vi) 1 = = = 1
Mr. Liu Ailun (Note (viii)) B tm S (H et (vii) 21 - = - 21
Independent non-executive director BV FHTEE
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Note (ix)) RAE X KA (A2 (ix)) 178 - - - 178
Mr. Liu Binghai (Note (x)) 2ImB L& (M) 178 - = - 178
Mr. Wang Yingzhe (Note (ix)) TRALE (Hit(y) 178 - - - 178
880 2,251 158 85 3,374
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Notes:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

GEE!

No directors received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office during the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). No directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Mr. Yang Bin was appointed as executive directors of the
Company on 26 March 2018.

Mr. Huang Kewang was appointed as executive director
of the Company on 12 September 2019 and resigned on
30 September 2021.

Ms. Luo Yanhong was appointed as executive director of
the Company on 17 April 2020 and resigned on 16 April
2021.

Ms. Zhou Zoe was appointed as executive director of
the Company on 12 September 2019 and resigned on 17
April 2020.

Mr. Meng Dawei and Ms. Fan Zijing were appointed as

executive directors of the Company on 16 April 2021.

Ms. Wang Ge was appointed as non-executive director
of the Company on 14 August 2018 and resigned on 10
January 2020.

Mr. Liu Ailun was appointed as non-executive director of
the Company on 10 January 2020.

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong and Mr. Wang Yingzhe were
appointed as the independent non-executive directors of
the Company on 20 February 2019.

Mr. Liu Binghai was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company on 20 February
2019 and resigned on 29 December 2021.

Mr. Zhang Xuehuo was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company on 29 December
2021.

BRBARANF

ma -

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)
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(b) The five highest paid individuals (b) BfUBREHEAL
The five highest paid individuals of the Group are AREBANSESHFALTHROTAT :
analysed as follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A& A&
Directors -t 3 2
Non-directors, the highest paid EmEEEEAL
individual 2 3
5 5
Details of the emoluments of the above non-directors, i GeHIEESTALTHMESFE
the highest paid individual are as follows: PN
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR For
Salaries and other emoluments ek ZMBe 1,095 1,736
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 80 155
Retirement scheme contribution RRETEIE K 72 73
1,247 1,964
The number of the highest paid non-directors fell within MENTUTHEN RS HIHES
the following emolument band: AT AZLT :
2021 2020
20214 20204
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A&
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 71,000,000/ 7T 2 8
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017% 7t &£ 1,500,000
BT - _
2 3
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mEMBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A31H IEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

140 DOUMOB

14. V¥ BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures
and office Motor  Right-of-use
equipment Computers vehicles asset Total
RE EEBR
BAZRE B RE  GRAREE CE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT
COST D%
At 1 January 2020 #2020F1A1H 91 105 430 3,556 4,182
Addition NE - - - 6,049 6,049
Disposal & - (3) = (3,556) (3,559)
At 31 December 2020 and RW2020F128318 &

1 January 2021 2021F1A1H 91 102 430 6,049 6,672
Addition NE 154 5 = - 159
Disposal HE (10) (18) = (6,049) (6,077)
At 31 December 2021 RW2021F12831H 235 89 430 - 754
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZR&HifE
At 1 January 2020 R20205181AH 77 59 163 3,271 3,570
Addition NE 13 20 82 848 963
Disposal e - (3) - (3,556) (3,559)
At 31 December 2020 and R2020F12831A &

1 January 2021 20211818 90 76 245 563 974
Depreciation nE 12 8 83 1,779 1,882
Disposal 2 & ) (16) - = (23)
Early termination of lease (Note (i) 2R & (ETE (#7:#(i) - - = (2,342) (2,342)
Written-off s - (1) = = 1)
At 31 December 2021 #2021F12831H 95 67 328 - 490
NET BOOK VALUE BREFE
At 31 December 2021 R2021%F12831H 140 22 102 - 264
At 31 December 2020 2020128310 1 26 185 5,486 5,698

The above items of property, plant and equipment are

depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful

lives and after taking into account of their estimate resided

residual values.

The right-of-use asset represented one leased property.

No property, plant and equipment was pledged at 31

December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Note:

(i) The Group has early terminated a 2 years lease of property

during the year.

CBENMBRAERAF

EiimE - BE R EE B R kA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z=2021F12A31H L FE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
Subscription Film script
Software accounts license right Total
LA AJREF  BREAWE CE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

COST RA
At 1 January 2020 M2020F1 818 25,667 46,806 7,245 79,718
Additions - internally developed A& - AEPF % 10,950 - - 10,950
Additions - externally acquired A E - BEINR 1,623 566 - 2,189
At 31 December 2020 and 2020128318 &

1 January 2021 2021F181AH 38,240 47,372 7,245 92,857
Additions - internally developed R E - R ERF73 4,957 - - 4,957
At 31 December 2021 ®2021512A31H 43,197 47,372 7,245 97,814

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Z7t# 84

At 1 January 2020 202051818 7,780 14,763 = 22,543
Charge for the year FRZ L 8,964 15,484 - 24,448
At 31 December 2020 and 202012831 &

1 January 2021 202151418 16,744 30,247 = 46,991
Charge for the year FAZH 10,724 12,187 - 22,911
At 31 December 2021 R20215124318 27,468 42,434 - 69,902
NET BOOK VALUE FEFE
At 31 December 2021 R2021512831R 15,729 4,938 7,245 27,912
At 31 December 2020 2020512 A31R 21,496 17,125 7,245 45,866
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Amortisation of the Group’s intangible assets has been

recognised as follows:

AEBENEENBHERDT

2021 2020
20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBT T

Cost of sales 55 AR 3,077 4,389
Administrative expenses TBFAX 19,834 20,059
22,911 24,448

Development cost that does not meet the criteria in Note
4.6 is recognised as an expense as incurred. Capitalised
development cost is recorded as intangible assets and
amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for
use. The self-developed software with development cost
occurred but not ready for use are recorded as development
cost and subject to impairment test at each year end. As
of 31 December 2021, development cost of approximately
RMB297,000 (2020: RMB4,910,000) was incurred and met
the criteria in Note 4.6, but not ready for use. Based on the
impairment assessment result, the directors of the Company
consider that no impairment charge was required as of 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil).

142 DOUMOB EERFE AR T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z=2021F12A31H L FE

16.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON
SUBSCRIPTION ACCOUNTS CGU AND ONLINE
ADVERTISING BUSINESS CGU

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts of
Subscription Accounts and Software set out in Note 15 have
been allocated to the Subscription Accounts CGU and Online

Advertising business CGU respectively.

Subscription Accounts of RMB4,938,000 are allocated to the
CGU of Subscription Accounts and System of RMB15,729,000
are allocated to the CGU of Online Advertising Business. The
recoverable amount of the CGU of Subscription Accounts has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management of the Group covering a
three-year period having an average annual growth rate of
-24% and pre-tax discount rate of 20.0% (2020: 19.8%) and
projection of terminal value using the perpetuity method at a
growth rate of 2.0% (2020: 3.0%). A key assumption for the
value in use calculation is the budgeted growth rate, which is
determined based on past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development in the PRC. No
impairment on this CGU is made for the year ended 31
December 2021 as the recoverable amount exceeded the
carrying amount. Management of the Group believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of the assumptions would
not cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the

recoverable amount of the CGU.

16.

ABMRFRAESELBEURBLES
EBREELEBEVHNRENMG

99028 5T % - B EE 1557 # 0 2T B AR
FREABEEEABAIEETHERS
BeELENRELREEBREEL
B -

AR #4,938,000t MBI AR P B H B
ZIHEFREELEEN  MARK
15,729,000t ARG E DR ER LES
EBReELBEN -FIHERFRSEL
BAUMAIKE B DIRFERAEETEE
E oA EFERUAEEEEE T
BME=ZFHEBEFHFEERER-24%
Ko B AT BE 3R R 520.0% (20204F : 19.8%)
BB 75 TR B A R M R OK AR IRIE R % 2.0%
(20204 : 3.0%) FTERMI R BETER A
EENBERERAN - FABEEFEN
FTERZAEERRER HRBAR
B REEE YR RS ERTER S
JE B E2021F12A31B EFE - BR
A E S EERREE - B &z
ReEABUETRE FAEEEEE
RA - A RE AT RS R e &
AT eERRSELEENNEREBS
ReELEBMNAAIKE S -
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17.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of Online Advertising
Business has been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management of the Group
covering a five-year period having an average annual growth
rate of 2.0% and pre-tax discount rate of 24.0%(2020: 20.7%)
and projection of terminal value using the perpetuity method
at a growth rate of 2.0%(2020:3%). A key assumption for the
value in use calculation is the budgeted growth rate, which is
determined based on past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development in the PRC. No
impairment on this CGU is made for the year ended 31
December 2021 as the recoverable amount exceeded the
carrying amount. Management of the Group believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of the assumptions would
not cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the

recoverable amount of the CGU.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

17.

BEESEBHSELEVRSELE
eI El &R EABETEEE ©
ZAEFRUAEBEEEMERE
TEHEAAEFHFEEERER2.0% KR
Al B 3R & 7324.0% (20204F : 20.7% ) )
B TEE L REA XA KR IERE2.0%
(2020%F : 3%) FIfEM SR BETEA A E
ENBEeREEN FHEAFENE
ERBAEEERE HNEBAXRR
REBEBUPEMSERNBAMETE
HRZASEEBEMNHIKESERLB
BREE WE E2021F12A318 L FE
WEHZESEEBMETRE A5
EEEEHEEEMBRRINEMNEIEREE
BHH TR R CELEMNNERR
ERBZACELEN KRB SHE -

BAREFABENMBEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR¥TFT
Non-current EMB

Film investments; BERE 7,745 13,445
Unlisted equity investment JE LTI ARERE 1,038 1,696

Unlisted equity investments with a Bt R R IE £ TR
put option IRIERE 7,681 8,687
16,464 23,828
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Unlisted equity investment and unlisted equity investments
with put options are issued by five (2020: five) private
entities. The business of these entities is provision of software
technologies, social media consultation and marketing
services. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group
designated unlisted equity investment and unlisted equity
investment with put options as financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss.

CBENMBRAERAF
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BRI E AR E R - 702021
F &2020%F 128318 - REHEEFE I £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z=2021F12A31H L FE

Details of the unlisted equity investment and unlisted equity FELETRERE RN SR LENIELET
investments with put options are as follows: MR EREBWT :

Proportion

of share
capital Unrealised gain/(loss) % of total assets of the
Name of investee owned Fair value Exchange loss for the year Group
FEERER EAREALE

REHZER BRERKLH ARE ERER Wz (F8) BAt

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
2021 2020% 2021 2020% 20215 2020% 20215 20205

RMB’000 | RMB'000 | RMB’000 | AMB'000 | RMB’000 | RMB000 | RMB’000 | RMB000
ARBFr NRETT (AB¥FT URETT ARETZ A\RKTT ARETZ ARETT

AT ERARRRERAR

(previously name:

AR :

ATERwHRERAF)

(Note i)(#13) 16.0% 2,450 2,962 - = (512) (38) 1.57% 1.11%
EHTNEERRRERAA

(Note ii) (&) 10.0% 2,302 2,989 - = (687) (11) 1.47% 1.12%
MNEENRERBRAA

(Note i) (#32i) 12.5% 1,533 1734 - = (201) 234 0.98% 0.65%
GRS BBERMERRAA

(Note iv)(#1 i) 16.0% 1,396 1,002 - = 394 2 0.89% 0.38%
Lahoo Information Development Ltd. 15.0% 1,038 1,696 (41) - (617) 947 0.66% 0.64%

8719 | 10,383 (41) - 162 1,134
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Notes:

(i)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

146 DOUMOB

Pursuant to the agreement entered into by the Group and
original shareholders of Shenzhen Yunyou Album Technology
Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen Yunyou”), the Group has an option to
require the original shareholders of Shenzhen Yunyou to acquire
all of the shares of Shenzhen Yunyou held by the Group at their
original cost in the event that Shenzhen Yunyou fails to fulfill
certain conditions and terms stipulated in the agreement.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into by the Group and
original shareholders of Wuxi Zhongwuyun Information
Technology Co., Ltd (“Wuxi Zhongwuyun”), the Group has an
option to require the original shareholders of Wuxi Zhongwuyun
to acquire all of the shares of Wuxi Zhongwuyun held by the
Group at their original cost in the event that Wuxi Zhongwuyun
fails to fulfill certain conditions and terms stipulated in the
agreement.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into by the Group and
original shareholders of Hangzhou Lechuan Technology Co., Ltd
(“Hangzhou Lechuan”), the Group has an option to require the
original shareholders of Hangzhou Lechuan to acquire all of the
shares of Hangzhou Lechuan held by the Group at their original
cost in the event that Hangzhou Lechuan fails to fulfill certain
conditions and terms stipulated in the agreement.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into by the Group and
original shareholders of beijing Jinri Zuijia Technology Co., Ltd
(“beijing Jinri Zuijia”), the Group has an option to require the
original shareholders of beijing Jinri Zuijia to acquire all of the
shares of beijing Jinri Zuijia held by the Group at their original
cost in the event that beijing Jinri Zuijia fails to fulfill certain
conditions and terms stipulated in the agreement.

CBENMBRAERAF

Wit -
(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

BEAEEERYHEREMBERERR
A (DRIIE N ]) R R AT LA 3% - iR
YT BORET 5 8 4R E A T IR 1 R f&
o AR E AR R ESORYIE R R’ R
BRERRNKEAEEHFAE OB RY

R -

RBEAEE RPN ERE BRI (EH) R
RE([EBHRYE]) RERFT LA HE -
fis £ 55 h ) B EOE BT A R E R E T 15
HRGR AEEANERERRESTYE
B RRRIZR KA KB AEBRIFAEN
B EHTNERD -

REAEEEMMNEENRBERARAA
(THRMN S5 1) FRAR R AT L0 1555 - fis A0 O
LB EIR BT s AR MY T 1R AR B AGR3K
REBAERERMMNEENRBRRRR
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Reconciliation of the financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss as follow:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z=2021F12A31H L FE

BAREMABSNPHEEENHIRAOT :

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR For
At 1 January #1818 23,828 8,500
Additions (Note ii) NE (B atii) 20,000 13,841
Disposal (Note ii) & (A i) (20,160) =
(Loss)/gain included in other income or &t A H 4th U 2§ 5 H th % U zs
other net gain/(loss) (B18) W (BER) s
— Unrealised (loss)/gain in fair value - FAREBRANE
for the year (B#8) W (7,323) 1,487
— Realised gain in fair value for the - FRNEEHEARE
year I & (160) -
Exchange loss for the year FNE R B8 (41) -
At 31 December W12H31H 16,464 23,828
Note: o
(i) During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and (i) FR o BEMRE 2 W ESE (2020

Level 2 (2020: nil), or transfers into or out of Level 3 (2020: nil).
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels

of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in

which they occur.

(i) Doumob. (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.,

a wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Subscription

Agreement with China Guangfa Bank on 12 May 2021, to
subscribe a gold price (XAU/USD) linked structured bank
deposits amounting to RMB20,000,000. Pursuant to the relevant

underlying agreements, the yield of the structured bank deposits

will be linked to the performance of the gold price (XAU/USD)

at the maturity date (12 August 2021) and the principal sums

are denominated in RMB. Expected annualised rate of return

FoE) NEGSAS-RAEFE=REH
(20204 : &) - A"EEMNBRE AN HIEAE
BOREBAARBERAAABERSRZHEN

M-

(ii) ARARMEENBAREHE (b R) BHRAR
B ERA R K R2021F5812H 8 & 2% 8
TRINRBEHZE  URBeE(FeHES
JT) B 68 4 A 4R 1T 17 ;A R #520,000,000
T BIBERBGE  SBMERTERNE
HRENEEE (202168 A12B) & (&
(HeBEXT) B8 MASSEUA
RMsHE - BHFELEHER1.30%K
3.25%35k3.5% ° & 18 1 7 ;7202148 A

is 1.30% or 3.25% or 3.5%. The structured deposit had been

redeemed on 12 August 2021 on maturity date.

128 2 HAE fE B »
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e B SRR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 X 2021 F 12 A31 BILFE

18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Details of the deferred tax assets recognised and movements

are as follows:

18. EEMREBEEE
ERANELEHRIBEEREBHHBEOT :

Allowance on

Allowance on doubtful debt

doubtful debt on trade

on contract and other
assets receivables Total

EHNEE HEIRHMENK
RERERE FIERREAE =1
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT ABRET T

At 1 January 2020 7#2020%181H 738 104 842
Credited to profit or loss FFAFEANIE =

for the year 1,206 364 1,570
At 31 December 2020 and 720205128318 &

1 January 2021 202141 A1H 1,944 468 2,412
Charged to profit or loss MR FANIB &=

for the year (1,550) (47) (1,597)
At 31 December 2021 A2021%F12831H 394 421 815

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect

of cumulative tax losses of approximately RMB10,614,000 as
at 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB10,614,000). As it is not
probable that the future taxable profits which can be utilised

will be available. The tax losses will expire from 2022 to 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i B Rk MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE 2021 F 12 A31 BIEFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. EZEWRE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR Fir
Trade receivables B 5 WA 22,859 14,608
Less: Loss allowance for trade Ji B 5GBS 18 B s
receivables (12,263) (8,776)
10,596 5,832

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of impairment

losses at the end of each reporting period based on invoice

date is as follows:

B RWFIR (BINBKRERR) RE R

FHREREZH BN

DT

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#FT AE#&Fr

0 - 30 days 0&30H 8,777 3,636
31 - 60 days 31£260H 21 116
61 — 90 days 61290H 181 =
91 - 180 days 91£F180H 864 830
181 — 365 days 181£365H 694 43
Over 365 days 365H LA £ 59 1,207
10,596 5,832

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group allows
credit periods ranging from 1 to 30 days (2020: 1 to 30 days)
to its customers. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group assesses the potential customer’'s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Credit limits attributed to
customers and credit term granted to customers are reviewed
regularly. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

H E2021F12A31H L FE - AEE M
EEFEHEEN F1E30R (2020%F : 12
R MEER AEBEEZEMNE
PR @M EBEEEPNEEEER I
REPIVFEERTE - ANEE TS EH
BERARPIUNEERERAEF &
THEEH AEEVEREE S ER
SRIB A5 68 5 75 A (] $K98 R ok L b 38 {5 45
i o B 5 REUGRIE A TE S o
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B B SRR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 X 2021 F 12 A31 BILFE

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade

receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set

RIBBEV B REER

| 5955k FT 1) 1O R 1L

FE HRESRYGKEERN ALY

out in HKFRS 9 as follow: EEBEEZEHNT :
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREFr
As at 1 January R1A1H 8,776 1,536

Provision for impairment loss on trade & 5 E W IB R EE 18

receivables B 3,644 7,240
Amounts written off as uncollectible i 88 A 4 R Uk 1B ) SR IE (157) -
As at 31 December M12A31H 12,263 8,776

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type or rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and

forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure

on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2021

AEERSHE R RRAEEREREET
WMESN UG ERPEERE - BB
XN AEFREUBERANZEAZTR S
MAR (MEFEFBEHLFE NBHRRHK
REE - FRAGTERRBEMESR -
EREERRBREANUSERBES
BRI ROR R E MR TB R A&
BEEBER -

IATHSIFRAEEREEZ A EAEH
B RWRIAME S ESRRNER

720215128311

Less than

Current 3 months
Ik SRS A

Expected credit loss rate BHEERER 2.62% 4.55%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) RELEANERTT) 9,013 208
Expected credit losses (RMB000) RACEBRURETT) 236 1

Past due
Bk
3to6 6o 12
months months
3Z6f8A 62128 A
7.14% 7.59% 99.51% 53.65%
925 751 11,962 22,859
66 57 11,908 12,263
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE 2021 F 12 A31 BIEFE

As at 31 December 2020 R2020%12H31H

Past due
B
Less than 3106 61012 Over

Current 3 months months months 1 year Total

ik HR3EA 3%6{2A 6Z12f A 1N E h

Expected credit loss rate BHEEFEX 2.98% 2.98% 7.64% 8.80% 94.09% 60.08%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BRGEALETT) 3,748 120 945 736 9,059 14,608
Expected credit losses (RMB000) BHEEBBRURETT) 112 4 7 65 8523 8776

20. CONTRACT ASSETS 20. EHNEE

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights EHNEEFTEEBAER RN RS A H
ERHEERARBHRR EESRE MR
FHERBERAORAFAAKREN RS
WHREBRERN - &K EENE W@ER
PR ERGRERERIKRRIE - Flt1F
MBERAEEMAZTS L AEREGELE -

to consideration for services provided but not billed at the
reporting date on revenue related to the provisions of online
advertising services and online sales services. The contract
assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become
unconditional. This usually occurs when the Group provides

the invoice to the customer.

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR FT AR Fr

Contract assets BHEE 58,821 69,767
Less: Loss allowance for contract B ERNEEBIBRE

assets (53,636) (85,404)

5,185 34,363
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 X 2021 F 12 A31 BILFE

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for
contract assets in accordance with the simplified approach
set out in HKFRS 9 as follow:

AEERBER BV RE LB
BIET ARG NEERANEHRBE
EBEEE2PHNT :

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFr

As at 1 January R1A1H 35,404 15,865
Provision for impairment loss on ERNEEREBEBERE

contract assets 22,843 19,539

Amount written-off as uncollectible i 88 A 4 R Uk 1B ) SR IE (4,611) -

As at 31 December R12A318 53,636 35,404

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected
credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of
the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade
receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade
receivables for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type or rating).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure

on the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:

Expected credit loss rate TEHE BB X
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) BREBE(AKETFT)
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) TEEEERE(ARYFor)

AEFEEREHmE A NRABEERME
TREIN  UFEFEREERIE -5
BENEENRBGEEEEMAREE
NZEEZREFEREE  TIEAH
BENESRUFEHREARTRE
#estBEEREA (R B KR B
ENZETREFPEMNME  ANEE
MBEETIAE S RKFAEME A &
REE - FHFERRBXNESLR
EREEARNGREEAISAEBAE
EF - BB IROR ROR A B R TR A R
BERBER -

UTEHINFARBERZIERAKHE
BREEMEHEERBRHOER

2020

20204
91.19% 50.75%
58,821 69,767
53,636 35,404
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21. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 21. ®BE BENFEREMEKRFIE
RECEIVABLES
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFr
Non-current assets FERBEE
Other receivables (Note) A & W KIB (B aE) 361 =
Less: Loss allowance for the other O HAb e kI &R
receivables e - =
361 -
Current assets REEE
Deposits & 1,331 561
Prepayments TEfT IR 13,453 16,480
Other receivables H & YR IB 18,128 11,031
Less: Loss allowance for the other O B AR RIA SR
receivables B (3,757) (2,501)
29,155 25,571
29,516 25,571
Note: The amount represented consideration receivable by instalments Wi ZemERlENBEATNERENERE
on disposal of a subsidiary, Horgos Xingcheng Huyu Culture R L EEAR AT D BEKGRE &
Communications Co., Ltd., and the last instalment will be 16— HA > HI 2R I8 Y5 702023465 B 31 B IR o

received on 31 May 2023.
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receivables in accordance with the general approach set out AE HEMmERZERERNTESHEZE
in HKFRS 9 as follow: EBEEHIT :
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFr
At 1 January R1A1H 2,501 =
Provision for impairment loss on other £ {th & U 3k 78 3 & /5 18 3 5
receivables 1,330 2,501
Amounts written off as uncollectible i 88 A 4 R Uk 1B ) FRIE (74) -
At 31 December Mm12A31H 3,757 2,501
22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SHAREHOLDERS/ 22. BWRR FERERNKE
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR Fr
Amounts due from shareholders JE YIS 3R R IE 183 188
Amounts due from non-controlling JE W SE 4 AR 2 SR TB
interests 980 980
Less: loss allowance for amounts due  J& © f& UK FE 25 A% #E 25 X IR
from non-controlling interests 5 B A (980) (980)
The amounts due from shareholders and non-controlling JE U AR 3R % JE PR AR 25 SR IE B IR
interests are unsecured, interest-fee, repayable on demand BB BEREREERIFESHNE -
and non-trade in nature.
SEREERLAA
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23. TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY 23. REHBEBIMERANEHEFERA
OVER 3 MONTHS AND CASH AND CASH REERESEEY
EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AR For
Cash and cash equivalents RekBSEEY
Cash at bank R{TE S 46,997 22,392
Time deposits with original maturity REH A A318 A AR
within 3 months E HF R 12,005 67,322
59,002 89,714
Time deposits with original JRE|EAH B AE3E A
maturity over 3 months BREBIFEH
but not exceeding 1 year EHER - 32,622

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposit with original maturity within
3 months carries interest at a rate of 1.18% per annum (2020:
2.03%). Time deposits with original maturity over 3 months but
no exceeding 1 years carries interest at a market rate is Nil
(2020: 2.60%) per annum.

Certain of the cash and bank balances denominated in RMB
placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible
to other currencies. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies
only through banks that are authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

BITRESBRIBRTTATRMNEIRZE
A EEREUAS - RE|H A A3ME A AR H
7 B 17 5K 1%1.18% (20204 : 2.03% ) Ky
FHEE - REHABBIMEA BT
@1 1) E HIF R E (20204 : 2.60%)
B G R EET R o

ETURARBFHENRERRITERT
MR EERT AREAR B H LR
P E R - 1R P BON E B R DI A
RiEE EERNEEEBRTE A5H
12 7 335 38 X M AE 17 SN IE R TG rO SR1T 15
ARBHLBEINE -
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24. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables

B 5 A R IA

24.

B2 ENAFIER

RMB’000
AR¥FIT

10,734

2020
20204

RMB’000
ARETT

21,754

The credit terms of trade payables vary according to the
terms agreed with different suppliers, normally range from 1
days to 60 days. Based on the receipt of services and goods,
which normally coincided with the invoice dates, the ageing
analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of each

of the reporting period is as follows:

BZRNRENEEHREFEIRHEE
74 19 5E B0 RS M A P AR - — R F1H
E60H - REZFWRBLEM AR (—K
HEZRAHAR)  AREE S EN KA
RERSHRNERRITAT :

2021 2020

20215 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FIT ARETF T

0 - 30 days 2,036 7,378
31 -90 days 5,659 10,736
91 - 180 days 1,559 241
181 — 365 days 496 786
Over 365 days 984 2,613
10,734 21,754

The trade payables are normally settled within one year or are
repayable on demand and hence the carrying values of the
Group’s trade payables are considered to be a reasonable

approximation of fair value.
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25. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. BEtERARHMENRE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBF T
Salaries payables e 1,986 2,165
Accruals fEETE A 2,113 1,490
Other tax payables H A fE B 1R 11,873 6,705
Other payables H fth & 15 5018 2,121 1,778
18,093 12,138
26. LEASES LIABILITIES 26. HE&RE
The Group leases properties to operate its business. These AEEHEYHEULCEHFER ZEM
leases are typically made for fixed terms of two years. Lease EBTEARHBOCFREE MR - HEK
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain RORERNELEEEME - 2= TR
different payments and conditions. These lease agreement do HIGEFEGEG ZEHERZEL TERK
not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used ERRY) - EHEBEENSREREER

as security for borrowing purpose.

The Group also leases properties with term of less than one AEBENNHEERBLOMFOME - ZF
year. These leases are short-term and the Group has elected HEARPHE AEEERETHZ
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for ZHERRGCAZEEELREEARE -

these leases.
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The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

FA HERENREERESHNT

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AR For
At 1 January M1 A1H 4,826 -
New lease FHEE - 6,049
Interest expenses FEREZ 131 53
Payments (E (1,276) (1,276)
Early termination of lease REKRIEAE (3,681) =
At 31 December W12H31H - 4,826
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MERMESOMET
— Current liabilities —nBAaRE - 2,386
— Non-current liabilities —ERBEE - 2,440
- 4,826
The amount recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases MAEREREROZBENT ¢
are as follows:
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR For
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 131 53
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEERS
assets 1,779 848
Operating lease rental in respect of RHEEKREHERS
short-term leases 473 (948)
Total amount recognised in profit RIB = R A 4258
or loss 2,383 1,849
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27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27. EXRfEE
(a) Capital (a) EX
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
20214124310 2020%12A318
No. of shares  Nominal value No. of shares Nominal value
RO EE EfE R & B [EED
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bz AREFT AREFT
Authorised: RIE -
Initial share capital upon AT A Bl S B A
incorporation Mg R A (i) 3,800,000 331 3,800,000 331
Subdivision of share capital A D ¥ (ii) 34,200,000 - 34,200,000 =
Increase in authorised share  J&JE AR IE
capital (i) 962,000,000 8,280 962,000,000 8,280
Subdivision of share capital A D (iv) 9,000,000,000 - | 9,000,000,000 =
10,000,000,000 8,611 | 10,000,000,000 8,611
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARETF T
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE :
2,300,000,000 2,300,000,000/%
(2020: 2,300,000,000) (20204 : 2,300,000,0004%)
ordinary shares of RMB0.001 FREEAREO0.0017TH
each 3 AR 1,967 1,967
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160 DOUMOB

Note:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 26 March
2018. Its initial authorised share capital was HK$380,000
divided into 3,800,000 shares with a par value of HK$0.1
per share.

On 3 May 2018, the Company resolved that each issued
and unissued share of the Company of HK$0.1 par value
be sub-divided into 10 shares, each with a par value
of HK$0.01. After such share split, the Company has
authorised share capital of HK$380,000 divided into
38,000,000 shares, each with a par value of HK$0.01.

On 20 February 2019, the Company resolved that
the authorised share capital of the Company be
increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each to HK$10,000,000 divided into
1,000,000,000 shares of nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

On 24 February 2019, the Company resolved that each
issued and unissued share of the Company of HK$0.01
par value be sub-divided into 10 shares, each with a par
value of HK$0.001. Accordingly, the authorised share
capital of the Company became HK$10,000,000 divided
into 10,000,000,000 shares and the issued share capital
of the Company became HK$223,682,310 divided into
223,682 shares.

CBENMBRAERAF

ma -

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

AR R R201853 726 H 7 7 £ Bf
BEMRIAEREBRAR " 1)
1605 FE B AR 3380,0008 7T » 9 A
3,800,000/ & i [ 50. 174 JT A9 A%

(N

R2018F5A3H « AR Al R A&
AR EREEABITHE BEITRE
BRI 2 A7 A108% B @ (50.01
BILHRG - R D% AAA
7)K% T IR A& 5380,000/8 T * 9 &
38,000,0004% & % H f2£0.01)% 7T 1)
B&1A ©

M201952A20H + KN Q 7 & R
N R & 60 FE AR 2R 5380,000%8 7T
(% #%38,000,000/% & iR E {E0.01/%5
TR AR ) 5 hh 210,000,000 7T
(% #£1,000,000,000A% & A% E fE0.01
BITHIARD) ©

MR2019F 28248 » KR A #H R
ANABEREEC.OIEITHE ZET
RARBETROSHFRIOREREE
0.001& A IR « Bt - AR RIH
7% TE B% A& %10,000,0005% 7t (5 &
10,000,000,0008% ik 13) + AR 2R A
#) B 2 17 Bk AN £223,682,3107% JC
(9 5223,6828 B 1) ©
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(b)

Reserves (b) fREfE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBFREER SRS F 1) i
balance of each component of the Group’s consolidated FREBOBESFNGEEESE
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of ® o RARAIR EREREKE DR F
changes in equity. Details of the changes in the NEFROEEFIFTEHINLOT :
Company'’s individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
Share-based
Share Capital Employee payment Accumulated
The Company Premium reserves share trusts reserve losses Total
KRG AERES
LN BB rER  EARGER WESEL: 2iTHE &t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
NEETE NEETE ANEETE NEETE ANEETE ANEETE
At 1 January 2020 R202051A18 47550 378 - - (3,767) 44,161
Loss and total comprehensive ~ £RBERZANZEE
income for the year - - - - (7,725) (7,725)
Contribution to employee share  EE R EE
trust - - (5,072) - - (5,072)
Grant of restricted share units to ~ HEE R HZR AR
employees Bfi - - - 552 - 552
Vested shares for sharcaward ~ ERHD%EHE5E
scherme &f - - 424 (424) - -
At 31 December 2020 RO020E128318 47550 378 (4.648) 128 (11.492) 31916
Loss and total comprenensive  FABRREANALE
income for the year = = = = (13,306) (13,306)
Contribution to employee share  EERMEFF LR
frust - - (981) - - (981)
Grant of restricted share units to ~ HEE R HZR AR
employees Bfy - - - 7333 - 7,333
Vested shares for share award BRI REE EEBRN
scheme - - 4,578 (4,578) - -
At 31 December 2021 Ro0215 127318 47,550 378 (1,051) 2,883 (24,798) 24,962
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28.

162 DOUMOB

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Restricted Share Unit Scheme

On 14 August 2018, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the establishment of the “Restricted Share
Unit Scheme” (2018 RSU Scheme”) with the purpose of
recognising the contributions of the management team and
employees of the Group and incentivising them to further
promote the development of the Group after the date of the
listing. The 2018 RSU Scheme is valid and effective for 10

years from the approval of the Board of Directors.

The founders of the Group, Mr. Yang, Ms. Chen Xiaona and
Mr. Zheng Shungi, through their respective offshore holding
companies, transferred some of their own shares on the
Company to ESOP Holdings, a company incorporated in the
BVI wholly owned by Mr. Yang, for the purpose of establishing
the 2018 RSU Scheme. Among those shares transferred to
ESOP Holdings, a total of 210,219,991 ordinary shares were
reserved for the vesting of RSUs granted under the 2018 RSU

Scheme.

A participant in the 2018 RSU Scheme (“RSU Participant”)
does not have any contingent interest in any RSUs granted
unless and until such RSUs are actually transferred to the RSU
Participant. Further, a RSU Participant may not exercise voting
rights in respect of the RSUs and, unless otherwise specified
by the Board of Directors in its entire discretion, nor do they
have any rights to any cash or non-cash income, dividends
or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and

non-scrip distributions from the RSUs.

Under the 2018 RSU Scheme, the aggregate fair value
of restricted shares granted amounted to approximately
RMB608,000. Share-based compensation of RMB511,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, with a corresponding credit to
the equity, for the year ended 31 December 2020.

CBENMBRAERAF

28.

BURR 47 5 B 7 A9 13 K
2[R 51 15 B 1 5t 8

R2018F8A 148 - "R Al E g it
B 3L [ 52 B8 il A% 13 BE AL a1 21 ) ([20184F =
ReEIRBDENTE]) URTZTEEEHR
B RAEE RS/ E B RS EEER
TR E—SPHHAEENER -
2018 XXMM BRTEBEESSH
HERRIOFAE R AR ©

ANEBAIR AL L E - BREET &+ K&
BB e £ B BH LS AMBEFEIERAD A
MESOP Holdings (—EREBEZHS
SR BEHBEEREREN AR E
EHXOBREZERANERRARG - A
X 37 20184F % R il AR 10 B L 5 & - A 5%

£ HWESOP HoldingsEEMRGHF - A%

210,219,9910% & B AR B (R B 1EIR #2018
F 28 I AR (5 B AL 5T &1 5% /) 2R 6 A%
MEBENFEBRE -

2018F LR AR M BT B EEZ
PRl AR 13 BE v S B2 & |) U A% (F ] T %
By 2 B8 i AR 10 B8 7 /O £F fr 2k SR ¥ 2% - BR
EREEZEXIRAEIRG BB E R
FTRBRAIRMDEMREE A IE - B
52 BRIl A% 1) B8 fiz 2 B2 & 71 Al 3t 2R
BHBUITERERE (RIFEFTS2ED
BREMBAEERA)  NEEMERH
B il A% 1) B8 1 1 15 (F W 3R & sk B3R & IR
H BEHDEE,KHEEFBESRIE
EY) D IR TS RIE o

RAR20184F X R &l Iz 7 B8 i 5+ &l - P #%
EHZRERO DA BERBHO/ARE
608,000 T ° & £2020F12H31H 1k F
B URMDAERNIES A R%511,000
TERGEER RAMEE R KER
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The Company and the granted employees unanimously

agreed to cancel the granted but unvested RSUs under the
2018 RSU Scheme through negotiation on 13 April 2021.

Movements in the number of restricted shares granted to the

Company’s employees under the 2018 RSU Scheme and the

respective weighted-average fair value are as follows:

M2021F4H138 * A AR EHEHE FE T
% 7 — B R = BUS E20184F 2[R 41 B 1
BRFETERTEHNAZBENZEH
B R BT o

R I%20184F X R il B 10 B Az 5T 8% F A
ARAIEENZRHEBHEE RSBEHM
EFH AR EESHOT ¢

Number of
Weighted Restricted
Average Shares
Fair Value Granted
(per share) (thousand)
EREZRF
In#EF g Lrgng 2 4=|
ARE(BR) (FR&)
RMB
AR
Outstanding as of 1 January 2021 R2021F1 A1 8 W ARITHE 0.01 92,246
Cancelled during the year FABEHE 0.01 92,246
Outstanding as of 31 December 2021 R2021F 128318 WA T1E = =
Outstanding as of 1 January 2020 R2020%F1 818 W ARITHE 0.01 133,401
Forfeited during the year FAERUK 0.01 (1,135)
Vested during the year FAEHB 0.01 (40,020)
Outstanding of 31 December 2020 202012 8318 W AR1TE 0.01 92,246
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Restricted Share Award Scheme

On 7 May 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company
resolved to adopt the “Restricted Share Award Scheme”
(“2020 RSAS”) to provide the selected participants (“Selected
Participants”) with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary
interest in the Company and to encourage and retain such
individuals to work with the Company, and to provide
additional incentive for them to achieve performance goals.
The 2020 RSAS is valid and effective for 10 years from
the date of adoption of the scheme. Pursuant to the 2020
RSAS, the Company may grant restricted shares to Selected
Participants, and subject to the fulfilment of certain service
conditions. No Selected Participants may exercise any voting
rights in respect of any restricted shares that have not been

vested.

Employee share trusts are established for the purposes
of awarding shares to Selected Participants (including a
director, officer and full-time employee of the Company
or its subsidiaries, who provide value-added services to
the Company or its subsidiaries) under the 2020 RSAS.
The employee share trusts are administered by a trustee
(“Trustee”) and are funded by the Group’s cash contributions
for buying the Company’s shares on the open market, which
were regarded as treasury shares and presented as a

deduction in equity as “Employee Share Trusts”.

Target shares purchased by the Trustee on the open
market are held in trusts for the Selected Participants until
such shares are vested with the Selected Participants in
accordance with the provisions of the 2020 RSAS. To the
extent permitted by applicable law and regulation, the Trustee
shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any shares
held by it under the trusts.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
granted certain restricted shares in respect of an aggregate
of 92,812,000 ordinary shares of the Company to certain
Selected Participants pursuant to the 2020 RSAS. The fair
value of the granted ordinary shares was RMB12,901,000
based on the quoted price of the Company’s shares on the

grant dates.

164 DOUMOB EERHHRR AT

ZRERGRETE

MR2020F5A7H - AR A EEF B ATE K
FA T3R5 =R &2l ] ([20205 2 R
HIRGEBTE])  UEREFLRHESE
([BE2RE|) REESAAREGR
mHRE HEMEEELEEARELA
AlEE WARMMEBRXEBZRERE
SN BB © 20204 X BR il A% 10 2 B 51 &l
BaT2IERM B BT 10FRB R AR °
BAR20205F Z R &I ik ) BB 5T &l - AR
Al AR T2 EE R DX R &5
MAZERE TRE GG - BIEEFE 2 M
& O] gk AE ] oK 57 B A 2 PR il AR 10 17 fF 1
CIESE=2 30

EBEMRMEFEEKIL  ARIE20205F X
BRI BB B MEEL2EE (BEA
AR EMBAR -—REE SRBE
ReBEE  ERARARENER A
RAEBRERY) BB D - BERMER
HEFEATZRADEE YHAEE
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B ERE )RR IR
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company

granted certain restricted shares in respect of an aggregate

of 15,949,000 ordinary shares of the Company to certain
Selected Participants pursuant to the 2020 RSAS, of which

9,365,000 granted shares were forfeited subsequently. The

fair value of the granted ordinary shares was RMB2,040,000

based on the quoted price of the Company’s shares on the

grant dates.

H E=2020F12A31H L FE * XA A
1B #£20204F 2 IR I A% {7 42 B 5t & 3t 7
A Al A& $£15,949,0000% & i@ i% M) &/ T %
E2EEBELDETXRHBKRMD & F
9,365,000/% B £ tH f 0 B R H &8 K -
BIEARRRRM AL B EEFIRER
B mR A ER A R2,040,000
=

Number of
Weighted Restricted
Average Shares
Fair Value Granted
(per share) (thousand)
EREZRA
IniEEY vl 4=
ARE(BR) (FR)

RMB

AR
Outstanding as of 1 January 2021 202161818 i K17 0.13 3,054
Granted during the year FAEEE 0.13 92,812
Forfeited during the year FRE LI 0.13 (14,375)
Vested during the year FAEHB 0.13 (40,619)
Outstanding as of 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H i& K17 0.13 40,872
Outstanding as of 1 January 2020 R2020%F1 81 H HARITE = =
Granted during the year FANERE 0.13 15,949
Forfeited during the year FAERIK 0.13 (9,365)
Vested during the year FAEHRB 0.13 (3,530)
Outstanding of 31 December 2020 R2020%F 12 318 M A 1T1E 0.13 3,054

Under the 2020 RSAS, share-based compensation of

RMB8,096,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, with a

corresponding credit to the equity, for the year ended 31

December 2021.

B Z=2021F12A318 (- FE @ £ #2020
FRBRH M ERE - ARG BER
BB & A R #8,096,0007T B R 4R A B2
FEMEEWERER LR ERSEE
ABR ©
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Under the 2020 RSAS, share-based compensation of

RMB552,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, with a

corresponding credit to the equity, for the year ended 31

December 2020.

As instructed by the Board, the Trustee is appointed to

acquire certain number of shares from the open market for
the 2020 RSAS, and the purchased shares will be held by the

Trustee until such shares are vested in accordance with the

provisions of the 2020 RSAS. Upon vesting, the Trustee will

transfer the shares to the Selected Participants.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Trustee

has acquired on-market in aggregate 13,293,000 of

the Company’s shares at a total cash consideration of
RMB1,282,000 under the 2020 RSAS, which was debited to

the equity of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Trustee

has acquired on-market in aggregate 42,950,000 of

the Company’s shares at a total cash consideration of
RMB5,072,000 under the 2020 RSAS, which was debited to

the equity of the Company.

Shares held by the Trustee under the 2020 RSAS are shown

below:

As at 31 December 2021

& £2020F12A31H IL F E + 1R 52020
FRBEIRMEBETE - ARG AER
BB E A R#552,000tE NGB E R
Hith 2R RER - WA EREEAR -

HWMEZERET XXTAEZER
20204 Rl B fn BB T BN R T 5
WEE TRROEE - MBS N S H
ERAFA  BEZERNRIE2020F
ERHEBODEEAINGXFERE - FE
% ZEABEREREN TRESHE

HZE2021F12A31HILEE » KFEAE
1R %2020 X [R il B% (0 22 E) &t 217X T 35
U B A #£13,293,0000 & A 7 A 15
#“IBERE A AR 2820007 £B
SFARRERERS -

H E2020F12A31H L FE ' FEAE
1B 1520204 5 BR il A% 7 52 @) 51 21 54 1 45
U BE A #£42,950,0000% &K A 7 B 15
®IR e RERARMS072000T F B
STARRABIRER o

S 5 AR 1202048 52 IR 1 A% {5 S B 31 8
ARG :

As at 31 December 2020

Shares held under 2020
RSAS

#2021F12A31H
Shares held

2020512 H31H

1R 1520204 = BR HI A 17

R BT D

Number
of shares
(thousand)

12,094

under
restricted
share

incentive

scheme

B 5&

3 R R 5
2% B =t &
FR i R 4D
RMB’000
AR¥FT

1,051

Shares held

under

restricted

Number share
of shares incentive
(thousand) scheme
RIE

= PR il A 9

i fn 2k B RE) T
(FA%) PR AR £
RMB’000

AE¥TFr

39,420 4,648
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29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 29. RMEEHEEANAEBEZHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in Group’s liabilities arising TREINBMEETHEEANAEEBERE
from financing activities. o= =

Lease Liabilities

HEASE

RMB’000

AR Fr

At 1 January 2020 ®20205F1H1H =

- Lease payment — HERK (1,276)
Non-cash flows: FEERE

— New leases - HE 6,049

— Finance costs — RhE AR 53

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 7A2020F12831H KX2021F1H81H 4,826

— Lease payment — HERFK (1,276)
Non-cash flows: FEEME :

— Early termination of lease — RERIEHEE (3,681)

— Finance costs — BEKA 131

At 31 December 2021 2021612831 H =
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 30. AAEEBEAMRRTE

COMPANY
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K &t AR¥ T AREFor
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EHERRNEE = =
Current assets REEE
Prepayment and other receivables 81 I8 & H fth & Uk 7K 18 1,956 740
Amounts due from shareholders Fﬂﬁlﬁﬁ??}\lﬁ 183 188
Amounts due from subsidiaries i3 DI ENGTE 1,816 37,036
Cash and cash equivalents B& &fﬁﬁﬁf’i% 29,349 629
33,304 38,593
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals HthENRIERESER 81 69
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAST T B8 A Bl 3R IB 6,294 4,641
6,375 4,710
Net current assets RBEEZE 26,929 33,883
Net assets EEZRE 26,929 33,883
EQUITY ExR
Share capital i @N 27 1,967 1,967
Reserves M 24,962 31,916
Total equity BReE 26,929 33,883
& The amount is less than RMB1,000. & & B LRARKHT,0007T
On behalf of the directors REES
Yang Bin Fan Zijing
5 %78
Note: As at 31 December 2021, reserves of the Company M - 722021912 4318 - AR 7§ i 1 8 15
included share premium of RMB47,550,000, capital reserve % 17 3% 18 A R #47 550, OOOE*QZME%%
of RMB378,000 employee share trusts of RMB1,051,000, A R #378,0007T * 1@,\Hﬂﬁ1ﬁﬁi\§”¥
share-based payment reserve of RMB2,883,000 and 1,051,0007T ~ AR 17 /5 25 B &) 1 5% 9 fek
accumulated losses of RMB24,798,000. Movements of the 1%/\&%2 883,0007L k Rt BEAARE
Company’s share capital and reserves are disclosed in note 27. 24,798,0007T * A 2 7 B A B B 18 ) % 8

BB EE07 P B 3R o
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31.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDARIES

Name of subsidiary

WEARAER

Doumob Inc. (“Doumob BVI”)
(Note (c) & (e))

Doumab Inc. ([Doumob bVI])
(Hizt(c)R(e)

Doumob HK Limited (“Doumob
HK') (EBEEBERRA)
(Note (d))

CEEBERAR([2EER])
(Hizt(a))

Beijing Doumab Information
Technology Co., Ltd (“WFOE")
(EREHESRBBRAR)
(Note (d) & (f))

EREHESRNBRAF

(AEBBELE]) (H(@)R(r)

Doumob. (Beijing) Technology
Co., Ltd.("Doumob
Technology”) (2 & (L ) B
RHBERAF) (Note (d))

BROER)MERHERAE (2
ER

B) (#za)

Date and place of
incorporation or
registration/operation
FEMR LR,
EXRMREH

Incorporated on 13
April 2018 in the
British Virgin Island
("BVI")

1201854 A13B £ &
BRLES (KEBR
TEEE |) s L

Incorporated on 18
May 2018 in Hong
Kong

M2018E5A 18R £
BB B L

Incorporated on 16
July 2018 in the
PRC

201847 A16 B 7
W B A AR 3L

Incorporated on 25
July 2013 in the
PRC

R2013%7B25H %
B A L

31.

Attributable equity interest

of the Group

AEEEGRE
2021

20214

100%

100%

100%

100%

2020
2020

100%

100%

100%

100%

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital
ERTRMRERE,/
T EE

US dollars (“US$") 1

(ESAE)

HK dollars (*HK$") 1

g (IAT])

US$1,000,000

1,000,000% 7

RMB20,270,280

AE%20,270,2807T
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Principal activities and
place of operations

TEERED

Investment holding

REZK

Investment holding

RAER

Provision of online
advertising services,
the PRC

RERLESRSE

Provision of online

advertising services,

the PRC
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Date and place of
incorporation or

Attributable equity interest

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

Principal activities and

Name of subsidiary registration/operation of the Group registered capital place of operations
FEMR LR, ERTRMRRE/
WEARERE EXRHRLE AEEELRE HREE TEXKED
2021 2020
202146 20204
Tianjin Doumob Advertisement Incorporated on 4 100% 100% RMB10,000,000 Provision of online
Co., Ltd (“Doumob December 2014 in advertising services,
Advertisement”) (K2 S BES the PRC the PRC
BR2RF) (Note (d) & (g))
RETHRBRERRAR R20145 124 & AK#%10,000,0000t  REZ FEERSE
(TEBEE]) (Hi(a)k(g) H B A A L
Beijing Yamei Yunhe Technology  Incorporated on 9 100% 100% RMB10,000,000 Provision of online
Co., Ltd. (“Yamei Yunhe") July 2014 in The advertising services and
(EREXENRRBERAA) PRC online sales services,
(Note (d) & (g)) the PRC
T REEEANHEERAA 1201457 R9B AR#10,0000007t  RREEREEERERE L
(TEXEM]) (Hrt(a) R (g) F AR 2 HERS
Horgos Doumob Internet Incorporated on 29 100% 100% RMB1,000,000 Provision of online

Technology Co., Ltd. (“Horgos
Doumob”) (BB R T2 B
iR A7) (Note (d) & (g))

December 2016 in
The PRC

advertising services and
online sales services,
the PRC

ERRGTBREBEMARLR  R2016F12829R AE#1,000,0007T RESKFEESRERS L
((EREHSB ) (H2(d)Rg) FEREZMRKL HE R

Horgos Xingcheng Huyu Culture  Incorporated on 23 - 51% RMB2,000,000 Provision of online
Communications Co., Ltd. May 2017 and (disposed on advertising services and
(“Horgos Xingcheng”) (E & £ disposed on 1 June | 1 June 2021) marketing services,
HERERXCEEBRAR) 2021 in the PRC the PRC
(Note (d) & (g))

ERRMERERULERE W2017E5A23B & - AR¥2,000000  REKLEERER
BERAA(EARMERK]) FR B A A S R (R2021% R EHE R
(H5t(0)R(9) 202156 1B HE 6A1RHE)
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Date and place of Issued and fully
incorporation or Attributable equity interest paid share capital/l  Principal activities and
Name of subsidiary registration/operation of the Group registered capital place of operations
HEMRLREMR ERTRMRERE,/
WEARER EXHHRLE AEEESLRE HEE TEXKED

2021 2020
2021% 20204

Beijing Doumeng Technology Co., Incorporated on 8 100% 100% RMB1,000,000 Dormant
Ltd. (“Beijing Doumeng”) April 2020 in the
(EREERBAERRA) PRC
(Note (d) & (g))

EREERMRERAT 1202064 A8 B 1E ARH1,000000C  BEEH

(TEREEZ]) (H(d)E(9) B AR 3L

Hainan Xiaodou Technology Co.,  Incorporated on 9 100% 100% RMB1,000,000 Dormant
Ltd. (“Hainan Xiaodou") (/8F/)N  September 2020 in
SREBRAF) (Note (d) & (g))  the PRC

BRI RERAT 1202059 A9B £ AR¥10000000  EEEH
(D8mINED (Hr(a) k() H B A A L

Mengxiaodou (Shangdong) Incorporated on 22 100% 100% RMB3,000,000 Provisional of other sales,
Technology Co., Ltd. November 2020 in the PRC
(“Mengxiaodou”) (85/NZ (IU%)  the PRC
R ERAT) (Note (d) & (g))

IR MRERAT 72020511 A22R 7 ARH3,000000C  BEEH
(T2 D) (Hrat(a)R(g)) F B AR
Tianjin Doumob Advertisement Incorporated on 14 - 100% N/A Leasing and business
Co., Ltd. Shanghai Branch September 2016 in | (deregistered services, the PRC
(“Shanghai Doumob”) the PRC on7
(REDEREERDA LES September
‘A 8)) (note (g)) 2021)
REDEEEERDAALES AR R201659A14FEH - @A HERBERS
(TEBZA)) (Hig) Cilsaiijpdva (20215
9A7H
EUHE )
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Note:

(a)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®

The English names of all subsidiaries established in the PRC are

translated for identification purpose only.

All companies now comprising the Group have adopted 31
December as their financial year end date.

The equity interest is directly held by the Company at the date
of this report.

The equity interests are indirectly held by the Company at the
date of this report.

As at the date of this report, no audited financial statements
have been prepared for Doumob BVI as it is not subject to
statutory audit requirements under the relevant rules and
regulations in the jurisdiction of incorporation.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of wholly

foreign-owned enterprise.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of domestic
limited liability company.

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES
TRANSACTIONS

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,

including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and

certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in Note

13, is as follows:

32.

it -
(a)

(e)

A AR B K 32 BT A BT BB 2 R A TR A 2 SR
EEHRSEZA -

RFEKANEBNERRBERMI12A31
AAHEMBELER -

RAREBHBREBARBEERS °

RAHE R HRERARRRERS -

RAFR L B E - B R Doumob bVIHE A& ST
FEM A Sz A REE AR AR R ROEFHRIE T A
EEBEZHTE MO R ERREEZY
BIHE o

EXBABLIRS

TEEEBEAEME

AEFTXTZEBASNMEBERER
AEERETHRSHFEEXNNEEE (I
BIEE1SPTINEE) @ BT

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR FT AR Fir

Short-term employee benefits EHEE R 4,917 3,289
Retirement scheme contribution RN Bk 319 85
5,236 3,374

172 DOUMOB
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33.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation

of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves

and retained profits, respectively.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis taking into account the loss of capital and
the risk associated with the capital. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new shares issue and share buy-back as well as the issue of

new debts or redemption of existing debt, if necessary.

Management regards total equity as capital. The amount of
capital as at 31 December 2021 amounted to approximately
RMB118,761,000 (2020: RMB221,558,000) and, which the
management considers as optimal having considered the
projected capital expenditures and the projected strategic

investment opportunities.

33. ESEHHRRERF

AEBEHESETERE UBRAEE
AN BERBIEELE RASEBTE
BEEKE SEBRGREDE -

AEENEAZEBERERFE 1K
RBehkAeFSEYMARAES ARG
EE(BREREBTRA RELKRER
) o

ARREEFZEREANBENEERNEH
MER HERNEAERE - NEEE
BIRMRE  FRETRBERRD A
NETHEXBRREER (WEFR)
FEBREERERE -

EHEERREBLBEARER - 1N2021
FI1I2A3IEHMNEARSHARARE
118,761,000 (20204 : AR ¥
221,558,0007T) ° 5t R BRI & RN Z H &k
FARKUERE#RE EBERRER
SHEEE -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

174 DOUMOB

Categories of financial instruments

34.

The following table shows the carrying amount of

financial assets and liabilities:

B TA
(a) BHMEIEEHR

TREFVBEENBBERREE

2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AR FT
Financial assets at fair value BRAREBETTABREN
through profit or loss: HBEE :
Film and drama investments BYREERE 7,745 13,445
Unlisted equity investment I EmRERE 1,038 1,696
Unlisted equity investments with put B #3258 #E /9 JE | AR 4
options ®E 7,681 8,687
Financial assets at amortised cost: Z#ER AT ENTKEE -
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H At Y IE 14,491 14,923
Contract assets BHEE 5,185 34,363
Amounts due from shareholders JE W2 A% 3R R IE 183 188
Time deposits with original maturity R 2| Hi B #2:8318 A &
over 3 months TE HiTF 3K - 32,622
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEEEY 59,002 89,714
95,325 195,638
Financial liabilities at amortised REBERAGTENTEEE:
cost:
Trade and other payables B 5 K E & < 58 16,954 26,507
Lease liabilities HEBE - 4,826
16,954 8l 3183
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include film
and drama investments, unlisted equity investment,
unlisted equity investments with options, trade and
other receivables, contract assets, amounts due
from non-controlling interests, amounts due from
shareholders, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk and
currency risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The directors of the Company
manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.
(i)  Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its trade and other receivables, contract assets,
amounts due from non-controlling interests,
amounts due from shareholders and cash and

cash equivalents.

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash and cash
equivalents since they are substantially deposited
at state-owned banks and other medium or
large-sized listed banks. Management does not
expect that there will be any significant losses

from non-performance by these counterparties.

The Group has large number of customers and
there was no concentration of credit risk. The
Group has monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability
of these receivables at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses

are made for irrecoverable amounts.

(b)

BEEREEE N REE

REENEFEHHEIABREEY R
BEIRE - EETMRERE W
ROLERIEEMRERE BHK
HihpmEusiiE AWEE - BUGE
ZAR R R IE - EAR R FRIE - R
e RReEEY BHREMEN
REURAEEE ZEMBIA
BB HBR A BN - ﬁ&#%
BILEEHENRREEEER
M@ﬁi@ﬂ‘h$%%@ﬂ
R - B B e R R 52 55 R B
BREREINAT - AAREZEER
ERZEAR WHERRBEEWE
He i E B e

() FEERE

AEBEAZXEBEZREAM
EBHIE -ANEE  BK
JE PR A ME 2R RRIE - B MOAR R
RENRRERBAEEEY
MIEERR

AEBEH ARETHES
FRERI D FHERFIF
fTREMAP KA FFRIT

Ritr EEARE LR E
BEWWEAEERR - EHE
BESMIAEaARNZEHOT
7R BE B 4 T 4 B (£ i E K&
8o

$Elﬁﬁ§§ﬁ'ﬁkﬁ
ShWEERR - AEHE
%E%%kﬁvuﬁ%ﬁL
1788 |8 B E R -tk o
AEERSHREDRRBEZ
FEWBIR R AT U B - B
BAERASTAWE NS BEEL
FRBEER -
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The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as the
date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking

information. Especially the following indicators are

incorporated:

. Internal credit rating

o External credit rating

o Actual or expected significant adverse

changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the debtor’s ability to

meet its obligations.

o Actual or expected significant changes in

the operating results of the debtor

o Significant increase in credit risk on the
other financial instruments of the same
debtor

o Significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the debtor,
including changes in the payment status
of debtor in the Group and changes in the

operating result of the debtor

CBENMBRAERAF

AEBEEEVRERRE
BEMWNA BN B hE
EREHREERBRELS S
KERZEN EFEEE
RREERERME  KE
BRHmE R AEERLE
%) e B ) 0 RE SR B A B
ERONRRETLE R
KHERAGAERENA
HEEH -BRZEE TN
TR

.« REBEEFR
.« SMEBEETR

s XK MBREEMRR
HWERXFFEHAEARTH
2F - AHEHEBA
BITEENRENEKE
AEE

e EBRAREXEMNER

s RA-EBAHMMBKET
A EERRAE LT
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MEAZE BEER
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Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and
the maximum exposure to credit risk based
on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31

December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying

amounts for financial assets.

At 31 December 2021

12-month ECLs

= AR B i O R F KA B
153

TRETAEBEEBRER
12A3TEMEEEE K&K
EERRBKRO ZHETS
ERBEaBER (RIEFH
fib #E TN B H A S
AIESHER) A RFERAE

HIPE B 48

N EBRRENBE
ENRAEAE -

720215F12H31H

128 A Lifetime ECLs
RAEERR 2HENEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 3 approach
E-K& EE CE:pS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKEFR AREFT ARKEFR AREFT AREFR
Amounts dug from FEURR A
shareholders 183 - - - 183
Amounts due from non- FEd R R e
controlling interests FE - - 980 - 980
Contract assets* AHEE - - - 58,821 58,821
Trade receivables* B SRl E" - - - 22,859 22,859
Financial assets included in & A& - BRH
deposits, prepayments and R E U
other receivables: BHIHBEAE
~ Normal** —EE™ 3,328 - - - 3,328
- Doubtful™* R - - 4,323 - 4,323
Cash and cash equivalents ~ E&REESED 59,002 - - - 59,002
62,513 - 5,303 81,680 149,496
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At 31 December 2020

12-month ECLs

R20205F12H31H

1205 A Lifetime ECLs
BHEERE ERBEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£-RR FRB F=BB Blen & &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFL AREFIL AREFL AREFL AREFL
Amounts due from EURRHE
shareholders 188 = = = 188
Amounts due from non- FEY R R S
controlling interests HE - - 980 - 980
Contract assets* aNEE - - - 69,767 69,767
Trade receivables® SRR - - - 14,608 14,608
Financial assets included in st A& %  BRH
deposits, prepayments and 1B R E fiy e U
other receivables: BRMBEE :
- Normal** -EE* 8,946 - - - 8,946
- Doubtful™ R = 10 2,636 - 2,646
Time deposits with original ~ REIHBRB=(E
maturity over three months AREBER 32,622 - - - 32,622
Cash and cash equivalents ~ B&REESED 89,714 - - - 89,714
131,470 10 3,616 84,375 219,471
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(ii)

* For trade receivables and contract assets to which
the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in notes 19 and 20 to the
financial statements, respectively.

> The credit quality of the financial assets included
in deposits, prepayments and other receivables
and other assets and the amounts due from related
parties is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are disclosed in Note 19 to the

financial statements.
Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk
management rests with the directors of the
Company, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term
funding and liquidity management requirements.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining

adequate reserves.

(i)

* AR EEBRE”LE A
MEZEKHREAMS 2R
BRI 1 & B IR B 75
RRMIE19K 207 HFE -

* et ARRS - HAFIAERE
it 18 UK R TR e At E DA %
FE Mg B8 ek 5 SRR B B TS B
I K s B B30 4 R R AR B
BEEBVREREEER
BEEN ZEMEEN
EEEERRIER] - &
B ZeRmEEMEEAER
BRIFE] -

BEAREEE ZE KA
ELANEERRINE-—FE
e B3 0 B1 7% 3 3R MY 5E 197
WEE -

REBELEE

mBECRBEENZKRE
THRARAEFAR - AR
AEZCEYEENRDE
TRBREEER UEEAR
SEMNETRMESRAD
E2EERBH ANEEHEBE
FIEFROEFER AEERD
Bz Rk -
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The following table details the Group’s remaining TERFAFIWANEBIETENTE
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial BENSB TAAHR 7K
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on 1R I5 7N & & 7] B8 7B 1 BA) fx
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities FHH RZBRYBEENR
based on the earliest date on which the Group B & mE 5 o

can be required to pay.

Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted oneyearor  butlessthan  but less than

amount cash flows on demand PACELS 5 years
RRARE 1£R/ BB1F BB

REE HEREAE FRER BARE BHR5E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETT ARETFT

As at 31 December 2021 #2021%12831A

Trade payables EHEMNTE 10,734 10,734 10,734 - -
Accruals and other payables Bt ER K

HipEHFE 6,220 6,220 6,220 - -

16,934 16,934 16,934 - -

As at 31 December 2020 #2020%12531A

Trade payables EFENTE 21,754 21,754 21,754 - -
Accruals and other payables  [E:tER &

Hi M 4753 4753 4,753 - -

Lease liabilities REAR 4,826 5,054 2,552 2,502 -

31,333 31,561 29,059 2,502 =
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(iii)  Equity price risk

The Group has equity securities which are
classified in the consolidated statement of
financial position as financial assets at FVTPL.
These are susceptible to equity price risk arising
from uncertainties about the future prices of the

instruments.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to
every 5% change in the fair values of the unlisted
equity securities, with all other variables held
constant, based on their carrying amounts at the
end of the reporting period.

(iii) REAEE L

AEERERAES B
BEEREAMBARARNERAS
BREAREFARSNY
BEE ZERBHFHIIXEAR
ERERAZE  Mm%EFR
2 TTREBITERRERZ
THEERRMESL

TRIURE I E TR AES
T ARBEE%E D 2 G
B OEREREE R E
EEE A R
BT -

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in loss before (decrease) in
in fair value taxation equity
A AE MR AT BB R
#in, i) #m, Gh2) ®m, CRd)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR¥FT ARMFT

Financial assets at FVTPL &2 A{EFAE

BN MBEE

2021 20214

Unlisted equity investment JEEMRERE 5 52 52
(5) (52) (52)

Unlisted equity investments [} % 52 h #E HY 3F
with put options kR E 5 384 384
(5) (384) (384)

2020 20204

Unlisted equity investment JEEMIRERE 5 47 47
(5) (47) (47)

Unlisted equity investments [} & 52k #E #9 3F
with put options kR E 5 9 9
(5) (9) (9)
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(iv) Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is
arising mainly from the cash and bank balances
and time deposits of the Group which are
denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant
group entities. Except for the cash and bank
balances, denominated in foreign currencies of
the relevant group entities, the group entities did
not have any other monetary assets or liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies as at the end of

the reporting period.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and
bank balances that are denominated in foreign
currency of group entities, representing US$ and
HK$, as at 31 December 2021 are approximately
RMB29,143,000 and RMB1,440,000, respectively.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy but the directors of the
Company monitor foreign exchange exposure
by closely monitoring the foreign exchange risk
profile and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

CBENMBRAERAF

(iv)

BxmEE

AEEEBENINERRER
KEASEANBEEER
SNEE DI ME 2 3R & RERTT AE R
RERER KREBEEE
BUINENEZRE RRTT
BRI RBEMRZEE
[ E B8 I A A ) H At A SN B
FIEMEREERARE -

M®2021F12H31H + & &%
BEULEEEEHIIE (BE
T REBET) FIEME S KR
TRHBZEEED O AEA
R #29,143,0007T F1 A & #
1,440,0007C °

AL B B A0 SN R
K BRARREEFTIEE
SN BEE R gz iR T BA Bs 22 S BE
R AW KEERBERTERY
HEARIMNER R o
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Sensitivity analysis

This sensitivity analysis details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% appreciation and depreciation
in each relevant foreign currencies US$ and
HK$ against functional currencies RMB. 5% is
the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currencies
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-tax
profit for the year and a negative number below
indicates a decrease in post-tax profit for the year
where the relevant foreign currencies fluctuate 5%
against RMB.

US$ impact EnFE

— US$ strengthens against RMB — ETHAREFES%
by 5%

— US$ weakens against RMB — ETHARKEEE5%
by 5%

HK$ impact BTHE

- HK$ strengthens against RMB — BLEAREFES%
by 5%

— HK$ weakens against RMB — BILRAARKERE5%
by 5%

HBE DT

NG E A F AR & B g
ERBENE (ZETRABET) K
NEEEBAREAEREE
5% BEEE ° 5% IMEBE
B A B A EE RN R B B
FifE A REL X KK
E 1R ¥ S BE AT RE B
MEREE 2T M  BWEE
DITEBIER TR 2 AN
FIEHMERRIER WRFK
125% 2 HNEE TE S B A B H
BE T EH#KE DR
BETREEBRIINELARER
B)5% 5 G A Bk B 1208 ) 18 0
KO BB R o

X

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARET T
1,457 1,884
(1,457) (1,884)

72 38

(72) (38)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent foreign exchange risk as the reporting
period end exposures do not reflect the exposure
during the year.

ARREEFRR ARKBE
HA R & [ B 3 S = BR 4R 1 B9
[\ B - B Ut SRR 2 AT DR
& E A H S E RS -
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(v)

(vi)

Financial instruments not measured at fair

value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
include cash and cash equivalents, time deposits
with original maturity over three months, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from shareholders, amounts due
from non-controlling interests, trade payables,

accruals and other payables and lease liabilities.

Due to their short term nature, the carrying value
of cash and cash equivalents, time deposits
with original maturity over three months, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from non-controlling interests,
amount due from shareholders, trade payables,
accruals and other payables, and lease liabilities

approximates fair value.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and trade on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to

quoted market prices.

The fair value of film and drama investment
are based on income approach and grouped
into Level 3. There was no change in valuation

techniques during the period.

The fair values of unlisted equity investments are
estimated based on the market approach. The
market approach is based on price multiples
determined with reference to comparable
public companies and includes appropriate risk

adjustments for lack of marketability.

CBENMBRAERAF

(v)

(vi)

WHERME BRI BT
A

WIEAREFENTBHT
ERRHAeRBEEEFEY -
[RE 5 B B3E A B E B F
R EHRUKIR  RERE
b EULTRIR - FE U A R R IR

FEWSEIR R NIR - B 5
B3R Bt ERAREM
FENREANREERE -

HRBESEEE  Be kB
S EEY  REH A BiB3ME
RBEBER - &5 - WK
B e KkHE M E W RIE

JE LT BE 458 PR 4R 2 20 1B - ﬁ%
BREFKIE - B 5NN RIE
FEET & A & E fib & 5 3R I8 BA
KHEEEEN AR EEER
EEEE °

BARETEHHBE LA

B A 2 18R R B fR A 2 0 OR
BRBEmSEENNBERE
RBEBNNAAEZ2EMS
WMEEEALME-

EXLBBERENAAER
WWA&#E WDERE

R HETIEH AL & E
) o

FLETERERENAAER
BMIHEERE - MHENRL
2ERAEUERET AR NRE
B Z 5 R B 1 T
B i e T B E 2 (B
RSB D ER -
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Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used

in the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities at the measurement date

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured

using significant unobservable inputs

N B

TREJIRBEPRKE
EE@Z’SE@Eﬁ%IﬁAﬁ{E
DREBBYBREERIZE13
WIAREFEIRERN=E
RAERER 2REEDE
RAGABENAIBREMER
EZUBAAEFEDI RN
NERE

b\

\ﬂ]

ﬁ/
=

o F—RHEE: REKASE
—RE AEE (AAEE
BEXBBENGEER
RIS BB 35 B R AL
ABRREB) G ENAR
(El

s Fo_AMBE:RKAF-
T AR (MATA
—ROABEH AR
B MmMAEBEKRD
ABRREG ABBETEN
AffE- TABREA
BEAYETISEIEN
AR

s FE=ZHfMHE:HRBEX
TABRGABIEFE
BARE
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TRHEIAEEFHBTAN

measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial NABEHEEL :

The following table illustrates the fair value

instruments:

At 31 December 2021
"2021F12831H

Level 2 Level 3
B E=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥FT AR¥FT ARETT ARETFT
Financial assets at RAREBETFAER
FVTPL MK EE
Film investments BEXRA - - 7,745 7,745
Unlisted equity EEMRERE
investment - - 1,038 1,038
Unlisted equity 7 SR RO JE
investments with a AR R &
put option - - 7,681 7,681
- - 16,464 16,464
At 31 December 2020
%2020 12H31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE— B B aH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIL ARETT AEETFT AR®FIT
Financial assets at RARETFAER
FVTPL WEBEE
Film and drama B REEIRE
investments - - 13,445 13,445
Unlisted equity JEETRERE
investment = = 1,696 1,696
Unlisted equity Bt 75 52 i 1 9 3 |
investments with put mRERE
options - - 8,687 8,687
- - 23,828 23,828

186 DOUMOB EERHHRR A T



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i B Rk MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE 2021 F 12 A31 BIEFE

Unlisted equity investments, unlisted equity LMK E - &R
investments with put options and film and drama ERIELEMEEREUALS
investments are stated at their fair value, which TREBBREEKERAERALET
are determined by reference to the valuation in IR D2BERLTRERESH
accordance with generally accepted valuation HEFENFAEHEEZT
methodologies. The valuation techniques and AR EE=ZRAANBEDNMR
inputs used in the fair value measurements within BRERBAEELT :

Level 3 is as follows:

Significant Relationship of
KOG 31 December  Fair value  Valuation unobservable unobservable inputs
Financial assets 2021 2020 hierarchy  techniques inputs Range to fair value
2021 % 20205 EXTURE FUBERAHE
EHEE 128318 12A318  RAEER fERE LN ¢ 88 EAAENEE
RMB’000 RWB’000
ARBTFR ARBTFR
Unlisted equity investment 1,038 1,696 Level3 Market approach  Price-to-sales 1.56  The higher the multiple,
 ETRERE =4 ik multiple the higher the fair
[iF=Ed value
fFEdR ArEEE
Marketability 20.60%  The higher the
discount discount, the lower the
[kt e fair value
HREHE  MRE
W
Unlisted equity 7,681 8,687  Level3 Market approach  Price-to-earnings 14.31- The higher the
investments with £=8 ik multiples 18.83  multiples, the higher
put options mREEH the fair value
IR L iRE fF8dE ArEES
R&
Price-to-sales 2.68-  The higher the
multiples 480  multiples, the higher
MHEES the fair value
[&5in ArEES
Marketability 20.60%  The higher the
discount discount, the lower the
BnBEERE fair value
YRR DRE
iy
Binominal pricing  Risk-free interest 2.17%- The higher the interest
model rate 2.26%  rate, the lower the fair
TEAEERY  REARFE value
fE=gR - ALEGE
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KINVCTE T 31 December  Fair value
Financial assets 2021 2020 hierarchy
20215 20205
SHEE 128318 128318
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEFR AEEFR
Film and drama 7,145 13445  Level 3
investments/film £=8
investment
EYREERE BRE

The sensitivity analysis on changes in fair value of

the unlisted equity investments are as follows:

A 5% increase/decrease in price-to-sales multiple
while all other variables keep constant, would
increase/decrease the carrying amount as at 31
December 2021 by RMB51,000/RMB45,000 (2020:
RMB85,000).

A 0.5% increase/decrease in marketability
discount while all other variables keep constant,
would decrease/increase the carrying amount as
at 31 December 2021 by RMB3,000/RMB10,000
(2020: RMB Nil/RMB7,000).

The sensitivity analysis on changes in fair value
of the unlisted equity investments with put options

are as follows:

A 5% increase/decrease in price-to-earnings
multiple while all other variables keep constant,
would increase/decrease the carrying amount
as at 31 December 2021 by RMB102,000/
RMB100,000(2020: RMB100,000).

CBENMBRAERAF

Valuation
techniques

MAEER  fiER%

Discounted cash
flow
ERRens

Significant Relationship of

unobservable unobservable inputs

inputs Range to fair value

EXTUBE AURERAHE

BARE E EDENEE

Volatilty 31.00-  The higher the

e 5200%  volatilty, the higher
the fair value
RBEE A4E

Discount rate 20%  The higher the

Rz discount rate, the lower
the fair value
HREHR ARE
A1

BFLTREREAA AR
DOBBES T :

fird T §H = 5 g R
5% FT A £ fb & SR 77 T
% Bl R2021412H318 &
EEEREM B ARE
51,0007/ A R #45,0007C
(2020%F : AR ¥85,0007T) °

iR T 35 7 R 1 BR 3R =38 i~
B 20.5%1M AT A £ fh & # R
HAE - B R20218F12 A3
BB BRMEE SR D 5 mA
R 3,000t/ A R #10,000
JL (2020 : ARBZIL /A
R#7,0007T) °

B BT 75 3R H B A I £ Th AR
RERARBEINRERE D
AR -

fig T 2 2R 5 83 R
5% FT A £ f & BUR =T T
% B R2021412H318 &
EREEZEMN R ARE
102,000t A & #100,000
7t (20204 : A IR #100,000

JC) °
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A 1% increase/decrease in price-to-sales
multiple while all other variables keep constant,
would increase/decrease the carrying amount
as at 31 December 2021 by RMB2,000 (2020:
RMB100,000/RMB10,000).

A 0.5% increase/decrease in marketability
discount while all other variables keep constant,
would decrease/increase the carrying amount
as at 31 December 2021 by RMB10,000(2020:
RMB10,000/RMB90,000).

A 5% increase/decrease in risk-free interest rate
while all other variables keep constant, would
decrease/increase the carrying amount as at 31
December 2021 by RMB4,000/RMB5,000 (2020:
RMB1,000/RMB Nil).

A 5% increase/decrease in volatility while all other
variables keep constant, would increase/decrease
the carrying amount as at 31 December 2021
by RMB31,000/RMB30,000 (2020: RMB85,000/
RMB76,000).

The sensitivity analysis on changes in fair value of

the film and drama investments are as follows:

A 1% increase/decrease in the discount rate while
all other variables keep constant, would decrease/
increase the carrying amount as at 31 December
2021 by RMB241,000/RMB251,000. (2020:
RMB110,000).

A 0.5% increase/decrease in profit margin
attributable to the Group while all other variables
keep constant, would increase/decrease the
carrying amount as at 31 December 2021 by
RMB40,000/RMB30,000. (2020: RMB66,000)

fir 711 85 = S UL N 1%
i FT A5 £ fth B HR B T &
Al 202112318 W E®E
BEREm "> AR2,000
7t (20204 : A KX #100,000
7T/ AR#10,0007T) °

iR TH 3% 7 38 M BR 3R R n
& 20.5%1f BT A £ fth B B4R
A& B R2021F12 831
BRBEEEZRD EINAR
#:10,0007T (20204 : A R #&
10,0007t A R#90,0007T) °

vl 42 R 2 1) R 38 B0 IR 5%
MmATAEH & RFRE
B R2021512A31HE M ERE®E
BE#m L 15mA R %4,000
7T,/ AR5, 0007T (20204 :
AR¥1,0000t /AREE
JT) °

fisd Y52 B 14 38 hn IR A5 % 1M BT
BEHEMSERZTTE AR
202112 A31H M R BB #&
# o A A R #31,0000T
/AR #30,0007T (20204 :
AR #85 0007/ AR
76,0007T) °

REYRBAREALES
BHHBE SO

s B 35 238 Nk > 1% B
EEMEBHERFTE - AR
202112 A31H MR EE #
w8 A R #241,000
5T,/ AR #251,0007T (2020
F: AR¥110,0007T) °

fir) 7N £ B FE {6 A B =38 pn
B 20.5%0m BT A H & &
REFDE - BIR20215F12
AS1A W BRE E ¥ & R
b AR #40,0007T A R
30,0007T (2020%F : AR
66,0007T) °
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The movements in fair value measurements within

Level 3 during the period/year are as follows:

B FRNEZRD R ER
EEBHMT

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREFr
At 1 January M1 A1H 23,828 8,500
Additions (Note ii) NE (H i) 20,000 13,841
Disposal (Note ii) & (A i) (20,160) -
(Loss)/gain included in a1 A E i Y A 3k B A
other income or other net Wz, (B518) B
gain/(loss) (&) M=
— Unrealised (loss)/gain in fair —FRNRAEHRER
value for the year (BB/) M= (7,323) 1,487
— Realised gain in fair value —FRNAAENEER
for the year & 160 =
Exchange loss for the year FRIE H EE (41) =
At 31 December ®12A31H 16,464 23,828
Note: ez -
(i) During the year, there were no transfers between (i) FR - F—H/RE_HFZ2HE

(if)

Level 1 and Level 2 (2020: nil), or transfers into
or out of Level 3 (2020: nil). The Group’s policy is
to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

Doumob. (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a Subscription Agreement with China
Guangfa Bank on 12 May 2021, to subscribe a
gold price (XAU/USD) linked structured bank
deposits amounting to RMB20,000,000. Pursuant
to the relevant underlying agreements, the yield
of the structured bank deposits will be linked to
the performance of the gold price (XAU/USD)
at the maturity date (12 August 2021) and the
principal sums are denominated in RMB. Expected
annualised rate of return is 1.30% or 3.25% or
3.5%. The structured deposit had been redeemed
on 12 August 2021 on maturity date.

CBENMBRAERAF

16 48 88 8 (20204F : &) -« J%
BEEAF=NAEFE=RE
i (2020%F : &) - NEE K
BUR AR R BB RS D
AERAARBEBRERZHE
H B o

(i) AARMEERBRARZ
B BEROMERA
Al i R2021F5A 128 H &
BRITAT L REWHZE - AR
BeE (BEeRExT)H
MEBERTERARE
20,000,0007T ° 4R #% 48 @ 1%
& BB RITE KA B R
=N E|H B (2021F8H12
BB (EeREXT)
B MASSBEAARE
SHE-EHFE/LABRER
1.30%8(3.25%53.5% ° &
M fF R E R202168A12
AERISAEE -
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35.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year, the Group entered into an agreement with

the minority shareholder of Horgos Xingcheng Huyu Culture

Communications Co., Ltd. (“Horgos Xincheng”) to dispose

the entire equity interest in Horgo Xincheng at a cash

consideration of RMB800,000. Horgos Xincheng principally

engaged in advertising and promotion services. The

transaction was completed on 1 June 2021. The net assets of

the subsidiary at the date of completion of disposal and net

gain on disposal of the subsidiary recognised during the year

were as follows:

35. HE—BHWELQF

RER AEBHEERREHEXTRX
tEEERAR(EREHMEK]) 9D
BRETUHE ARREREBARE
800,000t L EERRIMEK A = PR
B-ERRHENTENERERERE
BR7 - BERR ZHER2021F6 A1HEM °
ZHBARIRNEETKBHAMNEEFE
KPS ERNER S M E L R 8 s F
BT :

Notes RMB’000
HteF ARMFr
Property, plant and equipment L E S 3
Trade receivables & 5 EWRIE (Note) 382
(HiaE)
Contract assets EHEE (Note) 632
(HaE)
Prepayments and other receivables TE A SR TR Ko H A FE I SR IR 400
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEED 38
Trade payables B S ENFRE (771)
Other payables and accruals H b BT R IE R FERH B A (831)
Net liabilities disposed of EHENAEFE (147)
Gain on disposal: S s
Consideration receivable by instalments % B I 9K (B 800
Net liabilities disposed of BEHENAEFHE 147
Non-controlling interest AR (72)
875

Note: The gross amount of the trade receivables and contract assets
disposed are RMB497,000 and RMB734,000, and the allowance
for impairment are RMB115,000 and RMB 102,000 respectively.

Mt EHENBEIRBRBRAERANEELES
Al A AR #497,0007T & A R #734,000
7T MR EEE D B/ AR 1150007 &
AR #102,0007T °

2021 ANNUAL REPORT &£ 191



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B SRR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 X 2021 F 12 A31 BILFE

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of subsidiary during the Current Year

were as follows:

Cash and bank balances disposed of

BEHENIRES MIRITAEER

RAFELHEMNBARNRERRESE
EMRHEFROMMT

i

RMB’000
ARETFT

(38)

36. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING
PERIOD AND EFFET OF COVID-19

As of the approval date on these financial statements, the
Group had no significant events after reporting period which

need to be disclosed.

The directors of the Company are continuing to assess
the implications of COVID-19 pandemic to the business in
which the Group operates. Depending on the duration of
the COVID-19 pandemic and continued negative impact
on economic activity, the Group might experience further
negative results, and liquidity restraints and incur additional
impairments on its assets in the thereafter. However, the exact

impact in the thereafter cannot be predicted.

37. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2022.

192 DOUMOB EBERHHR AT

e HAE =1 R COVID-19/ &2 &

RZEVBRIUERS  AEBERRE
HRYTEATRENERSER -

RATIEFEBRT(HCOVID-19% 15 ¥ A
SEMAETENTE - BURNRCOVID-19
RENFEREAREKELDHNFER
HEE AEEXSKEL-—FPHNEER
XELRBERBIIERELBINEE
WAE - AT ARRREEAERNE
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